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SMITH, JUSTICE, FOR THE COURT:

1. On August 5,1991, Donald Leroy Evans was arrested in Tangipahoa Parish, Louisiana, for the
kidnapping of ten-year old Beatrice L ouise Routh. Evans was subsequently transferred to Mississippi
where he confessed to murdering Beatrice. On October 15, 1991, Evans was indicted for capital
murder with the underlying felony of kidnapping and two counts of sexua battery. Due to extensive
pretrial publicity, venue was changed to Adams County for the limited purpose of jury selection. The
jury was returned to Harrison County and trial was held September 13-18, 1993. Evans was found



guilty of capital murder and two counts of sexual battery and received a death sentence. Evans now
appeals his conviction to this Court, citing thirty-one assignments of error.

12. In reviewing Evans assignments of error, we note that several of the issues were not presented to
the trial court and are therefore procedurally barred and error, if any, iswaived. Thisruleis not
diminished in a capital case. Cole v. State, 525 So. 2d 365, 369 (Miss.1987), cert. denied, 488 U.S.
934 (1988); Irving v. State, 498 So. 2d 305 (Miss.1986), cert. denied, 481 U.S. 1042 (1987);
Johnson v. State, 477 So. 2d 196 (Miss.1985), cert. denied, 476 U.S. 1109 (1986); In re Hill, 460
So. 2d 792 (Miss.1984); Hill v. State, 432 So. 2d 427 (Miss.1983), cert. denied, 464 U.S. 977
(1983); Chase v. State, 645 So. 2d 829, 845 (Miss.1994), cert. denied, 115 S.Ct. 2279 (1995), reh'g
denied, 116 S.Ct. 20 (1995); Foster v. State, 639 So. 1263, 1270 (Miss.1994), cert. denied, 115
S.Ct. 1365 (1995), reh'g denied, 115 S.Ct. 1992 (1995). However, alternatively, this Court looks to
the merits of the underlying claim knowing that any subsequent review will stand on the bar aone.
Chase v. State, 645 So. 2d 829, 845 (Miss.1994),cert. denied, 115 S.Ct. 2279 (1995), reh'g denied,
116 S.Ct. 20 (1995); Foster v. State, 639 So. 1263, 1270 (Miss.1994), cert. denied, 115 S.Ct. 1365
(1995), reh'g denied, 115 S.Ct. 1992 (1995).

113. The issues not properly raised in the trial court are procedurally barred from consideration by this
Court. The remainder have been carefully considered and found to be without merit. This Court
affirms Evans convictions and sentences.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

4. On July 28, 1991, Tammy Giles and her two children, Beatrice and Melissa, along with Sherry
Lynn Vincent and her two children and Vincent's mother and sister began their journey to the
Mississippi Gulf Coast in search of employment and housing. The familiesinitially stayed in motels
and shelters and thereafter lived in the van in which they were traveling.

5. On August 1, the group parked the van in Jones Park in Gulfport to alow the children to play. At
approximately two o'clock that afternoon, Tammy Giles sent Beatrice to obtain cigarettes from a man
who was making atelephone call at the Harbor Shop. Unfortunately, the individual approached by
Beatrice was a Texas parole violator named Donald Leroy Evans. Evans gave Beatrice a pack of
cigarettes for her mother and followed the child to the van. Evans befriended the group and led them
to believe that he was aformer Navy Seal who had taught school in Texas.

6. After visiting for awhile, Evans offered to purchase groceries and requested that Beatrice
accompany him to the store. Giles gave Beatrice permission to go with Evans and the two returned
approximately twenty minutes later with bottled water, orange juice and ice. Evans and Bestrice | eft
the park for a second time and traveled to a nearby convenience store to purchase diapers and snacks
for the children.

7. After returning to Jones Park, Evans suggested they have a barbeque. Evans again requested that
Beatrice accompany him to the store to purchase groceries for the barbeque. Evans led Giles to
believe that the trip would take approximately one hour because he needed to call a friend who could
help the group find an apartment.

{8. Prior to leaving the park area athird time, Beatrice asked Sherry Lynn Vincent (& to come aong



because Beatrice did not like riding alone with Evans. Evans, however, refused to alow Vincent to
ride along. Vincent told Giles about Beatrice's apprehension, but Giles allowed her daughter to leave
with Evans. Evans and Beatrice |eft the park at approximately 7:00 p.m. Contrary to his
representations to Giles, Evans did not go to the store, but rather continued west on Highway 90 to
Pass Christian, eventually arriving in Covington, Louisiana. In his confession to police, Evans stated
that Beatrice became worried when they did not stop for groceries. However, Evans stated that he
"deluded her into thinking and believing” that they were just taking alonger route. Prior to reaching
Louisiana, Evans stopped near Bay St. Louis and purchased ice cream for Beatrice. Evans also
purchased gray duct tape.

9. Evanstraveled to St. Tammany Parish, Louisiana, where he eventually stopped in a secluded
wooded area. Evans remained in the jeep with Beatrice and ordered her to take off her clothes.
Although Beatrice began crying and begged Evans to take her back to her mother, Evans responded
that "there was no one there to help her and that she was alone with him." Beatrice asked to be taken
to a bathroom because she could not control her bowels, but defecated in the vehicle after Evans
refused. Evans cleaned the child with towels, wrapped duct tape around her head and mouth several
times, and removed her clothing. Evans then sexually assaulted Beatrice vaginally and anally and
strangled her to death with a white cotton rope.

110. Evans traveled back to Mississippi with Beatrice's body concealed in the backseat and later
dumped the child's body in awooded areain Pearl River County and disposed of her clothing nearby.
Evans attempted to disguise the stolen Suzuki Samurai jeep in which he was traveling by removing
the top. Evans traveled across Mississippi and Louisiana for four days, cashing checks at small
country stores to survive.

111. When Evans did not return with Beatrice in one hour, Sherry Lynn Vincent contacted the
Gulfport Police Department. Vincent described Evans, Beatrice, and the jeep in which they were
riding. Vincent had memorized the license plate number on the jeep because she felt uncomfortable
about Beatrice leaving the park with Evans.

112. Detective Whitney Carvin and Officer Tapper with the Gulfport Police Department met with
Tammy Giles at Jones Park. After receiving the information regarding the jeep, Detective Carvin
determined that the jeep belonged to Joseph Whitted and was in the possession of Donald Leroy
Evans. On the following day, Detective Carvin signed an affidavit and warrant for kidnapping. After
receiving information that Evans might be traveling to either Louisiana or Florida, Detective Carvin
contacted Agent George Holder with the Federal Bureau of Investigation (hereinafter "FBI").

1113. A phone monitoring device was placed on the telephone of Gail Stewart, Evans girlfriend in
Galveston, Texas, to aid the FBI in locating Evans. Law enforcement was also able to trace Evans
through checks cashed by Evans. Evans was tracked by law enforcement from August 1, 1991 until
August 5, 1991, when he was arrested by a sheriff's deputy from Tangipahoa Parish, Louisiana.

114. On August 19, 1991, Evans pled guilty to federal kidnapping charges and was sentenced to life
in prison on October 24, 1991. On October 15, 1991, Evans was indicted by the Harrison County
Grand Jury for capital murder with the underlying felony of kidnapping and two counts of sexual
battery. Following atrial on September 13-18, 1993, Evans was found guilty on all counts and
sentenced to death.



A.GUILT PHASE

|. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO SUPPRESS EVANS
STATEMENTS.

115. In Chase v. State, 645 So. 2d 829 (Miss.1994), cert. denied, 115 S.Ct. 2279 (1995),reh'g
denied, 116 S.Ct. 20 (1995), this Court held that "[t]he general ruleisthat for a confession to be
admissible it must have been given voluntarily and not given as aresult of promises, threats or
inducements.” 1d. at 838-39 (citing Layne v. State, 542 So. 2d 237, 240 (Miss.1989)). The burden is
on the prosecution to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the confession was voluntary. I d. (citing
Haymer v. State, 613 So. 2d 837, 839 (Miss.1993); Kirkland v. State, 559 So. 2d 1046 (Miss.1990)
). The "burden is met and a prima facie case made out by testimony of an officer, or other persons
having knowledge of the facts, that the confession was voluntarily made without any threats,
coercion, or offer of reward." Id.(citing Cox v. State, 586, So. 2d 761, 763 (Miss.1991)).

116. In Hunt v. State, 687 So.2d 1154 (Miss.1996), this Court reiterated the standard of review
when determining the admissibility of confessions. In Hunt, this Court held:

Once the trid judge has determined at a preliminary hearing, that a confession is admissible, the
defendant/appellant has a heavy burden in attempting to reverse that decision on appeal. Sillsv.
State, 634 So. 2d 124, 126 (Miss.1994) (quoting Frost v. State, 483 So. 2d 1345, 1350
(Miss.1986)). Such findings are treated as findings of fact made by atrial judge sitting without a
jury asin any other context. Foster v. State, 639 So. 2d 1263, 1281 (Miss.1994)(citations
omitted). The tria judge's decision will not be reversed on appea unlessit is manifestly in error,
or is contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence. | d. Where the evidence is
contradictory, this Court "generally must affirm." Lesley v. State, 606 So. 2d 1084, 1091
(Miss.1992)(citations omitted).

ld. at 1160.

917. Evans argues that his statements should have been suppressed by the trial court on four bases:
(1) Evans was subjected to coercion and harassment by law enforcement; (2) Evans confessions were
the product of plea negotiations with the federal government; (3) Evans was not advised either by
law enforcement or his attorney that the conditions placed in the waiver of rights form were
ineffective; (4) and Evans was not promptly taken before a state magistrate.

1118. The testimony and evidence presented at the hearing on the Motion to Suppress detailed the
sequence of events preceding Evans confessions. Following his arrest, Evans invoked his right to
remain silent and did not give a statement. Later that day, Evans was transported to New Orleans,
Louisiana, and formally charged with the federa offense of kidnapping. Counsel was appointed and
Evans waived extradition proceedings. Evans was returned to Mississippi on August 7, 1991.

1119. On August 8, 1991, Evans made an appearance in federal court before United States Magistrate
Judge Roper. Judge Roper appointed Fred Lusk to represent Evans on federa kidnapping charges.
Later that day, Lusk met with Evans and made arrangements for Gail Stewart, Evans girlfriend, to
come to Gulfport.



120. Lusk testified that at the time he began meeting with Evans, Gulfport authorities were in the
process of trying to locate Beatrice Louise Routh. Assistant United States Attorney (hereinafter
"AUSA") Jay Golden informed Lusk "if this guy ever wants anything out of us he better tell us where
the child isif the childisaive." Lusk and Stewart met with Evans severa times over the next two
days. Evans was emotional and upset at times, however, Lusk indicated that "a great deal of his
turmoil or agreat deal of histrying (sic) on both Thursday and Friday was brought about by Ms.
Stewart discussing his and her religious philosophy and belief in God and what that should bring
about and what that should - - what the end result of that belief as to particular circumstances should
be." Lusk testified that Stewart was pushing Evans to make "full, complete disclosure, drop all
screens, tell everything, do it, let's get on with it."

921. On August 10, 1991, at approximately 9:00 am., AUSA Golden requested a meeting with
Evansin order to locate Beatrice. Lusk agreed to speak with Evans and arrived at the Harrison
County Detention Center at approximately 12:00 p.m. Evans was meeting privately with Ms. Stewart
at that time, however, federal and state law enforcement officers were also present.

922. Following several hours of discussions among Lusk, Evans, Stewart, and Golden, Evans agreed
to reveal the location of Beatrice's body if certain conditions were met. Golden testified that he never
spoke directly with Evans, but rather all communication was through Evans' attorney. Golden wrote
Evans requests on a sheet of paper: (1) to plead guilty to federa kidnapping; (2) to be maintained by
federal authorities until fifteen days prior to state murder tria; (3) to be returned to federal authorities
ten days after state trial for murder; (4) to remain in federal custody until fifteen days prior to an
execution; (5) to be returned to federal custody if a stay of execution is granted.

923. Lusk took the sheet of paper to Evans who made several changes and returned the paper to
Golden. Evansinserted "in afederal facility” to request number (2) and inserted the word "capital”
before murder on number (2). Evans also inserted language stating that he would be maintained in a
federal facility fifteen days prior to an execution date no matter how many stays were implemented.
Golden testified that he told Evans' attorney that he was in no position to make promises, but agreed
to prosecute Evans on federal kidnapping chargesif there was a factual basis for the crime. Golden
initialed the document after writing that he "would use whatever influence he had to insure that these
desires will be carried out."

924. Despite the discussions between Golden, Lusk, and Evans, no agreements were reached. Golden
terminated the discussions and |l eft the jail after Evans indicated he wanted to take a shower and
failed to sign a document, drafted by Golden, to reflect that Evans had been advised of hisright to
remain silent. Prior to leaving, Golden instructed law enforcement not to proceed unless Evans was
SO advised.

125. Prior to making a statement, Evans drafted a document, using portions of the language in the
document drafted by Golden, wherein he acknowledged that he had been advised by his attorney and
U.S. Magistrate Judge Roper against making any statements. That document provides the following:

|, Donald Leroy Evans, having been advised by my attorney Fred Lusk that | have the right to
remain silent, and also having been advised by Judge Roper that | don't have to say anything,
and having been advised by various law enforcement agents that | have the right to remain silent
do hereby decide that | want to make contingent statement regarding the kidnapping of Beatrice



Routh, to be used exclusively by my attorney Fred Lusk and the federal authorities to solely
establish that afedera offense has been committed and, that the state of Mississippi in no way,
shape, form, or usage. . . aswell asthe State of Louisiana. . . shall have no power to use this
statement for any investigative or crimina applications whatsoever.

This statement is being made solely for the usage and protection of my attorney Fred Lusk. And
asis undersigned by Attorney Fred Lusk he assures me, Donald Leroy Evans that no copies of
this declaration will not be given in any copied form to any federal agency to be used against
me.

Thisisonly to establish protection of Fred Lusk and myself, Donald Leroy Evans, and to
establish afederal crime has been committed and that |, Donald Leroy Evanswill remainin
federal custody throughout this whole criminal endeavor.

26. Evans and his attorney signed the document and their signatures were witnessed by Mg or
Wayne Payne of the Gulfport Police Department and FBI Agent Holder. This document was later
brought to the attention of Judge Gex at the federal guilty plea hearing on August 19, 1991, and
placed under seal due to the ongoing criminal investigation. AUSA Golden testified that the first time
he became aware of the existence of this document was at the guilty plea hearing.

127. Maor Payne testified that Chief Payne of the Gulfport Police Department asked that he witness
the signatures of Lusk and Evans. Mgjor Payne testified that he did not read the document, nor was
he aware of the contents of the document. After the document was witnessed, Evans' attorney folded
it and placed it in his pocket. Payne testified that no copies of the document were given to him nor
did he see any other law enforcement officer receive copies of the document. Payne confirmed that
no agreements were made with Evans or his attorney by law enforcement prior to Evans statement.

1128. Detective Whitney Carvin testified that Evans was advised of his rights and asked to sign a FBI
form styled "Interrogation, Advice of Rights' prior to making the statement. Detective Carvin, Agent
Holder, and Evans testified that Evans indicated that he understood his rights, but declined to sign
the form. Holder and Carvin testified that Evans refused to sign the waiver due to the language in the
last paragraph of the form which stated that "no promises or threats have been made to me and no
pressure or coercion of any kind has been used against me." Evans indicated that he would not sign
because promises about housing in afedera facility and visitation with Ms. Stewart had been made.

129. Despite Evans refusal to sign the waiver, Detective Carvin, Agent Holder, Lusk and Evans
testified that Evans was advised of hisrights prior to the interview. Evans' attorney also advised him
of the impact of an incriminating statement on state charges.

1130. At 8:14 p.m., the advice of rights form was signed by Agent Holder, Detective Carvin, and Lusk
and Evans. Evans then proceeded to give hisfirst statement wherein he described the events of
August 1, 1991. Evans did not confess to the murder or sexual assault of Beatrice at this time, but
did describe the kidnapping. Evans stopped the interview at approximately 8:28 p.m and indicated
that he would lead investigators to the body. Evans was accompanied by his attorney and girlfriend
during the ride to Pearl River County where the body was eventually located.

1131. At approximately 2:56 a.m., Evans was returned to the Harrison County Detention Center,



advised of hisrights, and interviewed by Agent Holder. Evans again refused to sign the waiver of
rights form. In his second statement, Evans confessed to kidnapping and murdering Beatrice.

1132. Evans later agreed to give a videotaped confession on August 14, 1991. The statement was
taken at approximately 4:31 p.m. at the Harrison County Detention Center and a videotape and
transcript of the statement was introduced into evidence at the hearing on the Motion to Suppress.
Present during that statement were Agent Holder, Detective Carvin, and Fred Lusk. Evans was
advised of hisrights and declined to sign awaiver of rights form. The waiver, however, was
witnessed by Evans attorney. Evans and his attorney stated that agreements had been made regarding
Evans housing and visitation. Evans, however, agreed that no other promises had been made. The
contents of this statement is consistent with the two prior statements. However, for the first time,
Evans described the sexual assault of Besatrice.

A. COERCION BY LAW ENFORCEMENT.

1133. Evans argues that his confession was involuntary because he was coerced and harassed by law
enforcement. During the Motion to Suppress, Evans was guestioned about coercion and/or
intimidation by law enforcement. Evans described being "threatened” by Sergeant Steve Barnes of the
Gulfport Police Department while he was in custody in Louisiana. Evanstestified that Barnes stated
that things would go worse on Evansiif he did not cooperate. Evans also claims that Sergeant Barnes
told him that "the mgjor's on hisway over here and it's not going to be real nice when he gets here."
Evans, however, testified that he remained silent.

1134. After being booked into the Harrison County Detention Center, Evans testified that he was not
given amattress or hygiene items, was not alowed to bathe, and was kicked by an officer. Evans
testified that he was prevented from sleeping due to harassment by jail personnel throughout the night
and was denied food.

1135. In determining the voluntariness of a confession, atrial court must examine the "totality of the
circumstances' surrounding the statement. Chase v. State, 645 So. 2d 829, 841 (Miss.1994), cert.
denied, 115 S.Ct. 2279 (1995), reh'g denied, 116 S.Ct. 20 (quoting Davis v. State, 551 So.2d 165,
169 (Miss.1989), cert. denied, 494 U.S. 1074(1990), reh'g denied, 495 U.S. 953 (1990)). In
addition, "the resolution of conflicting testimony regarding voluntariness is a question of fact to be
resolved by the trial judge at the suppression hearing.” 1 d. (quoting Smith v. State, 465 So. 2d 999,
1002 (Miss.1985)).

1136. The tria court was presented with conflicting evidence about Evans harassment allegations.
Evans attorney testified that Evans did not complain about harassment by jail officials during August
7-10, 1991. Lusk also testified that Evans complained that a guard had been obnoxious to him, but
clarified that this alleged incident occurred after Evans' statements.

1137. Lusk testified that although Evans did not like the food he was given, he was not denied food by
law enforcement. In fact, Lusk testified that he purchased food for Evans from the snack bar and
brought Evans food from home. Lusk also testified that Evans had a steady supply of coffee and
snacks.

1138. Lusk testified that "[law enforcement] were doing everything possible to make us as - - to be as



helpful and to make us as comfortable as possible so that if there was a problem it was taken care of
immediately by the sheriff himself or by Lieutenant Carver." Detective Carvin and Agent Holder
testified that Evans was not in any way threatened or coerced into making his statement to law
enforcement.

1139. Despite Evans allegations of harassment, the testimony at the hearing on the Motion to
Suppress reveal s that Evans was not coerced into making a statement. While Evans may have had
complaints about his accommodations, there is nothing to suggest that he endured treatment which
would render his confession involuntary. Moreover, at al times prior to and during his statements,
Evans was represented by counsel. The testimony is uncontradicted that prior to each statement
Evans was advised of hisrights by Agent Holder and his attorney. Evans was so familiar with his
rights and the consequences of awaiver that he drafted a document wherein he agreed to make a
contingent statement. Evans familiarity is also evidenced by the fact that he refused to sign the
waiver of rights form.

140. Somewhat problematic, however, is the presence of Gail Stewart. At Evans request, Stewart
was flown to Gulfport by U.S. Customs. Prior to traveling to Gulfport, Stewart allowed FBI agents
to place atelephone recording device in her home in order to track Evans whereabouts. Stewart was
allowed to meet with Evans during the three-day period leading up to the confession during which
she counseled counseled Evans about their religious beliefs and encouraged him to confess. Evans
attorney testified that Ms. Stewart was the most important person in Evans life.

741. The presence of Gail Stewart is somewhat similar to the situation in Abram v. State, 606 So.2d
1015, 1033 (Miss.1992), wherein this Court held that the confession was involuntary due to "various
statements conveyed to Abram [which] proximately caused him to confess. ... " In Abram, after
severa unsuccessful attempts to secure a statement from the defendant, the Sheriff "solicited the
intervention of Reverend Jones on the belief that he would put Abram at ease.” 1d. at 1022. Reverend
Jones had been one of Abram'’s school teachers and counselors. As instructed by the Sheriff,
Reverend Jones encouraged Abram to confess and advised Abram that it might be easier on him if he
cooperated with law enforcement.

142. Here, however, this Court is faced with a situation which may be distinguished from Abram.
Gall Stewart was not acting on behalf of law enforcement. Rather, Evans requested her presence.
Specifically, Evans stated that he would consider speaking with law enforcement if he could visit with
Stewart.

143. Additionaly, there is no indication that Stewart advised Evans that " cooperation might be of
some benefit." Abram, 606 So. 2d at 1031. In Abram, the confession was held to be involuntary
partially due to the fact that various individuas conveyed to the defendant the impression that his
cooperation/confession might have been beneficial. These circumstances are not present in the case
sub judice.

144. Moreover, there is no indication that Stewart's advice induced Evans to confess. Lusk testified
that Evansindicated if the authorities would bring Stewart over then Evans would tell authorities
where the body was located. While her presence seems undoubtedly to have contributed to Evans
urge to confess, there is nothing in this record which compels the conclusion that Stewart induced
Evansto confess.



145. In Colorado v. Connelly, 479 U.S. 157,170 (1986), the United States Supreme Court,
addressing the issue of the voluntariness of awaiver under the Fourteenth Amendment clearly held:

The "sole concern of the Fifth Amendment, on which Miranda was based is governmental
coercion. See United States v. Washington, 431 U.S. 181, 187 [52] L.Ed.2d 238, 97 S.Ct.
1814 [1818] (1977); Miranda, supra, [384 U.S. at 460, 16 L.Ed. 2d 694, 86 S.Ct. 1602 [1620]
10 Ohio Misc 9, 36 Ohio Ops 2d 237, 10 ALR 3d 974. Indeed, the Fifth Amendment privilege
is not concerned "with moral and psychologica pressures to confess emanating from sources
other than official coercion." Oregon v. Elstad, 470 U.S. 298, 305, 84 L.Ed.2d 222, 105 S.Ct.
1285 [1290] (1985). The voluntariness of awaiver of this privilege has always depended on the
absence of police overreaching, not on "free choice" in any broader sense of the word.

146. In light of the testimony, the trial judge was well within his discretion in holding that Evans
confessions were voluntary. Moreover, here, asin Thorson v. State, 653 So. 2d 876, 887
(Miss.1994), "[w]e are not confined in this case to a written record, but have the videotaped
confession of [Evans]." The videotape does not suggest any coercion, and in it Evansindicated that
he understood his rights and wished to make a statement. Based on the totality of the circumstances,
there is nothing to suggest that the trial judge's findings were manifestly wrong or against the
overwhelming weight of the evidence.

B. WHETHER EVANS CONFESSION WAS MADE DURING PLEA
NEGOTIATIONS.

147. Evans next challenges the admissibility of his confessions on the basis that they were
"precipitated by plea negotiations' and were therefore inadmissible under M.R.E. 410. Specifically,
Evans argues that his confessions were made in conjunction with plea negotiations wherein Evans
agreed to lead investigators to the body if he was alowed to plead guilty to federal kidnapping
charges.

148. A review of Evans Motions to Suppress and the argument presented before the trial court
reveals that Evans did not assert this specific ground in arguing his confessions were inadmissible at
trial. Although Evans argued during the hearing on the Motion to Suppress that his previous pro se
offers to plead guilty to capital murder were inadmissible under M.R.E. 410 and Miss.Crim. R. Cir.
Ct. Prac. 4.03, Evans did not argue that his confessions were inadmissible for these same reasons. On
numerous occasions, this Court, has held that an objection on one ground waives remaining grounds
for purposes of appeal and that the failure to raise an issue in the trial court requires this Court to
impose a procedural bar on appeal. Notwithstanding Evans failure to raise this specific ground before
the trial court, this Court may, alternatively, consider the merits of the argument. Chase v. State, 645
So. 2d 829, 845 (Miss.1994), cert. denied, 115 S.Ct. 2279 (1995), reh'g denied, 116 S.Ct. 20 (1995)
; Foster v. State, 639 So. 1263, 1270 (Miss.1994), cert. denied, 115 S.Ct. 1365 (1995), reh'g
denied, 115 S.Ct. 1992 (1995).

149. M.R.E. 410 provides (in pertinent part):

Except as otherwise provided in this rule, evidence of the following is not, in any civil or
criminal proceeding, admissible against the defendant who made the plea or was a participant in



the plea discussions:
(1) A pleaof guilty which was later withdrawn;
(2) A pleaof nolo contendere;

(3) Any statement made in the course of any proceedings under Mississippi statutory or rule of
court provisions regarding either of the foregoing pleas; or

(4) Any statement made in the course of plea discussions with an attorney for the prosecuting
authority which does not result in a plea of guilty or which resultsin aplea of guilty later
withdrawn.

150. Theinitia issue before this Court is whether Evans confessions fall within the ambit of M.R.E.
410. That rule specifically provides that inadmissible discussions are those "with an attorney for the
prosecuting authority which does not result in a plea of guilty or which resultsin a plea of guilty later
withdrawn." We, however, are not faced with a situation wherein the discussions sought to be
admitted were between Evans and a prosecuting attorney. The record clearly reflects that Evans
statements were made to Detective Whitney Carvin and FBI Agent Holder. Moreover, the record
reflects that AUSA Golden discontinued his discussions with Evans' prior to any statements.

151. A review of M.R.E. 410 and URCCC 8.04 clearly reveas that the only governmenta officer
with authority to enter into plea negotiations is the prosecuting attorney. Thisview is entirely
consistent with federal interpretation of the language contained in Fed. R. Evid. 410 and Fed. R.
Crim. Prac, 11(e)(6) which mirror M.R.E. 410.

152. In United States v. Keith, 764 F.2d 263, 265 (5th Cir. 1985), the Fifth Circuit held that Fed. R.
Crim. P. 11(e)(6) makes clear that the sort of plea bargain discussions that are inadmissible under it
are only those had with a government attorney. "Discussions with alaw enforcement agency in the
spirit of cooperation and with hope for leniency, are not inadmissible under 11(e)(6)(D)." 1d. (citing
United States v. Jiminez-Diaz, 659 F.2d 562, 568 (5th Cir.1981)). See also United Statesv. Jones,
32 F.3d 1512, 1517 (111" Cir.1994) (FBI agent is without authority to enter into negotiations
regarding charges or sentence); United States v. Davidson, 768 F.2d 1266, 1270 (11th Cir.1985)
("[T]he automatic exclusion rule of Rule 11(e)(6) 'does not extend to statements made to law
enforcement agents, as distinguished from government counsel'."). Applying this reasoning to the
case sub judice compels the conclusion that Evans was not engaged in the type of discussions
contemplated by M.R.E. 410.

953. In United States v. Kettering, 861 F.2d 675 (11% Cir. 1988), the defendant, like Evans, sought
to enforce a plea agreement made by a law enforcement officer. There, the court conducted the
following two-pronged inquiry to determine whether the plea agreement was enforceable:

[T]he general rule requiring governmental adherence to promises made during plea negotiations
is subject to two conditions. First, the agent making the promise must be authorized to do so,
and second, the defendant must detrimentally rely on the promise. If either condition is lacking,
then the agreement is unenforceable and the government may withdraw its offer.

Id. at 677 (quoting Johnson v. Lumpkin, 769 F.2d 630, 633 (9" Cir. 1985)).



154. Asindicated earlier, Agent Holder and Detective Carvin were not authorized to conduct plea
negotiations with criminal defendants. Moreover, prior to Evans first statement, AUSA Golden, the
only government officer with authority to conduct plea negotiations, left the jail and terminated al
discussions with Evans. Golden testified that the only directive given to Agent Holder and Detective
Carvin was the admonition not to proceed with a statement unless Evans was advised of hisrights.
There is simply no evidence in this record to support the conclusion that Holder and Carvin were
authorized to conduct any type of plea negotiations with Evans.

155. Moreover, areview of the testimony presented at the Motion to Suppress clearly reveas that
Evans was not involved in "plea negotiations." Prior to making hisinitial statement to law
enforcement, Evans' primary concerns were to be housed in afederal facility and to have visitation
privileges with Gail Stewart. Evans objective, therefore, was to cooperate with federal authorities
and provide enough information to establish federal jurisdiction. Specifically, Evans had to establish
that he transported Beatrice across state lines.

156. Evans relies on Hutto v. Ross, 429 U.S. 28 (1976), where the United States Supreme Court
held that a confession is not per seinadmissiblein acriminal trial because it was made subsequent to
an agreed upon plea bargain that did not call for such a confession. However, in Hutto, the Court
clearly stated that the issue in that case was not "the admissibility in crimina trials of statements made
during the plea negotiation process." 1d. at 30, n.3.

157. Evans also relies on United States v. Herman, 544 F.2d 791 (5th Cir. 1977), and United States
v. Robertson, 582 F.2d 1356 (5th Cir. 1978), wherein the Fifth Circuit addressed whether statements
made by defendants were inadmissible at a subsequent criminal tria pursuant to Fed.R. Crim. P.11

(e)(6) and Fed. R. Evid. 410. Fed. R. Evid. 410 and Fed. R. Crim. Prac. 11(e)(6) mirror M.R.E.. 410.

158. The analysis set forth in Robertson is instructive. There, the Court, en banc, held:

Plea negotiations are inadmissible, but surely not every discussion between and accused and
agents for the government is a plea negotiation. Suppressing evidence of such negotiations
serves the policy of insuring a free dialogue only when the accused and the government actually
engage in plea negotiations: "discussions in advance of the time for pleading with aview to an
agreement whereby the defendant will enter a pleain the hope of receiving certain charge or
sentence concessions.”

(citations omitted). Id. at 1365. In Robertson, the court directed that trial courts should carefully
consider the totality of the circumstances to determine whether a discussion should be characterized
as aplea negotiation. 1d. at 1366. Recognizing the vulnerability of confessionsiif the accused's
subsequent account were the sole determinative factor, the Robertson court directed trial courtsto
"apply atwo tiered analysis and determine, first, whether the accused exhibited an actua subjective
expectation to negotiate a plea at the time of the discussion, and, second, whether the accused's
expectation was reasonable given the totality of the objective circumstances." 1d. The Robertson
court held that the distinction within this analysisis between "offers to do something in furtherance of
anegotiated plea, which are inadmissible, and independent admissions of fact, which may be
admitted." 1d. at 1367 (citations omitted). The Robertson court, citing Hutto v. Ross, 429 U.S. 28,
30 (1976), held that confessions or admissions which are either made in the absence of plea



negotiations or which are wholly independent from any plea negotiations are still admissible. I d.
Continuing, the court stated:

Generally, a person who has been fully advised of his rights may make afull or partial admission
to the arresting officers. Such a statement, if otherwise admissible under the general law of
confessions, till is admissible despite the fact that the accused makes some request of those in
charge. Such arequest, without more, does not transform a confession into a plea negotiation.

Id.

159. Applying the Robertson analysis to the present case reveals that Evans' statements were not
made during plea negotiations. Foremost is the fact that AUSA Golden repeatedly testified that he
was not engaged in "plea negotiations’ with Evans. Golden testified that while "negotiations' had
taken place, these were not tied to a"plea’. Moreover, as reflected in the record, Evans' attorney
agreed with Golden during the federal guilty plea hearing that while "some agreements’ had been
made, they were not "necessarily tied to this plea." As stated earlier, a frustrated Golden |eft the
Detention Center and terminated any discussions.

160. At the time Golden left the courthouse, no plea bargain been established. Prior to Golden's
departure, a sheet of paper with Evans "desires’ had been passed between Evans and Golden, but as
testified to by Golden, no plea negotiations had taken place nor had Golden expressly agreed to the
conditions written on the paper. Golden repeatedly testified that he instructed Evans that he could
not agree to allow Evansto plead guilty to federa kidnapping charges because he was not sure that
federal authorities had jurisdiction. Following Golden's departure, Evans gave a statement.

161. From the record, it appears that Evans was negotiating with the federal authorities with regard
to Evans placement in afederal facility as well as with regard to Evans desire to plead guilty to
federa kidnapping charges. However, after several hours and no basisin fact to establish that a
federal crime had occurred, the AUSA left the jail. Therefore, any "plea negotiations' clearly
terminated. Moreover, Evans and his attorney were advised that Golden had left and from this point
forward it was a state investigation. Evans decision to make a statement was clearly motivated by his
desire to be housed in afederal facility. A necessary prerequisite to federal housing is of course that
Evans be prosecuted for afedera offense. Evans first inculpatory statement was made after Golden's
departure. Therefore, if any plea negotiations had in fact occurred, these had terminated and Evans
was now cooperating in order to establish federal jurisdiction.

162. Whatever Evans' subjective impressions may have been at the point at which he made his August
10, 1991 statements, this expectation was not reasonable given the totality of the objective
circumstances. See United States v. Robertson, 582 F.2d 1356, 1366 (5th Cir.1978). Moreover, the
case sub judice clearly demonstrates the distinction set forth in Robertson where that court held,
"distinction will be drawn between offers to do something in furtherance of a negotiated plea, which
are inadmissible, and independent admissions of fact which may be admitted.” 1d. Evans' statements
were independent admissions of fact and were therefore admissible. There is no merit to thisissue.

C.WHETHER THE FAILURE OF LAW ENFORCEMENT TO ADVISE THE
DEFENDANT THAT THE LIMITATION PLACED IN HISWAIVER OF RIGHTS
WASINEFFECTUAL VIOLATED EVANS FIFTH AND FOURTEENTH



AMENDMENT RIGHTS.

163. Evans argues that he was not advised by law enforcement that the limitation placed in the
waiver of rights form was ineffectual and therefore he did not make a knowing and intelligent waiver
of his Fifth Amendment right to remain silent. On August 10, 1991, Evans refused to sign a
document drafted by AUSA Golden wherein Evans would attest to the fact that he had been advised
of his constitutional right to remain silent by his attorney and U.S. Magistrate Judge Roper. After
Evans refused to sign this document, Golden terminated his discussions with Evans and |eft the
detention center.

164. Golden testified that the next time he saw the "document” that he had drafted on August 10,
1991, was at the federal guilty plea hearing. However, Evans, using portions of Golden's language
from the original document, drafted his own statement wherein he indicated he wished to make a
"contingent statement regarding the kidnapping of Beatrice Routh." Unlike the document drafted by
Golden, Evansincluded additional language which purported to limit the use of the statement.
Specifically, the document stated . . . to be used exclusively by my attorney Fred Lusk and the
federal authorities to solely establish that afedera offense has been committed and, that the State of
Mississippi in no way, shape, form, or usage. . . aswell asthe State of Louisiana.. . . shall have no
power to use this statement for any investigative or criminal applications whatsoever."

165. Evans testified that he prepared the document which Lusk took to Golden. Evans testified that
Detective Carvin took the unsigned document, made copies and returned the document to Lusk.
Carvin testified that he did not remember taking the document to be photocopied. However, Carvin
testified that to his knowledge the document was "aform brought - - brainstorm of attorney Fred
Lusk to cover him because Donald kept wanting to do this and wanting to do this and wanting to do
this and Fred kept advising him not to do this, not to do this, not to do this, and | think that was
some kind of - - | thought it was aform where it was just an agreement between Donald and Fred
that Donad would not come back and get Fred for being a bad attorney at a different time."

166. Evans testified that no one explained to him that the limiting language was ineffectual and thus
he was under the impression that neither Louisiana or Mississippi would be able to use the
statements. After the document was returned to Evans, Lusk and Evans signed the document. Agent
Holder and Wayne Payne of the Gulfport Police Department witnessed the signatures of Evans and
Lusk. Major Payne testified that Chief Payne told him to sign the document in order to witness the
signatures of Lusk and Evans. Payne testified, however, that he did not read the document. Following
the signatures, Payne testified that Lusk took control of the origina document and that no law
enforcement officers received a copy.

167. Gulfport Police Chief George Payne testified that law enforcement was not aware of the
contents of the document, but that he understood that L usk indicated that "he had some concerns. . .
in reference to protecting himself and how he defended his clients and that he was - - he, as|
remember it, prepared a document between him and his client and asked that after it was signed that
there be awitness, and | directed the chief of detectives at the time to witness the signing of the
document.”

168. Agent Holder testified that he also witnessed the signatures of Lusk and Evans, but did not
understand the contents of the document. Holder testified that Golden was not present when this



document was signed. Holder testified that he made no promisesin relation to pending state charges
in either Louisiana or Mississippi nor did he have the capacity to do so. Holder testified that Evans
later sent him a copy of the document. When asked what he believed the purpose of the document to
be, Agent Holder testified:

A. Your Honor, I'm not certain, but | believe it was to show that Mr. Lusk had advised Mr.
Evans of his congtitutional rights or that Mr. Evans was well aware of his constitutiona rights.
But, | might be in error on that. It wasn't of any concern to me because al | was doing was
witnessing it.

169. Evans attorney testified that he was in possession of the original document. Lusk testified that
he handed the document to Chief Payne who in turn gave the document to Major Payne to witness.
However, Lusk testified that Golden was not present and had |eft after becoming "tired of playing
Donad Evans games and, you know, it was wearing out everybody."

170. Lusk testified that he did not advise Evans that limiting language in the document was
ineffective. Specificaly, Lusk testified:

Q. Hedidn't ask you could he limit that statement?

A. No, sir. | never discussed it with him at al. He gave it to me, | looked at it, handed it to the
police officers and smiled.

171, Lusk testified that after the document was signed he advised Evans about the ramifications of
making a statement. Lusk testified that before every statement he and Agent Holder advised Evans
that the statements could be used against him. When specifically asked what the purpose of this
document was, Lusk testified:

A. As Jay Golden said - - and the purpose of the agreement was two-fold; so that Mr. Evans
would acknowledge that he had been advised of his rights and aso that Fred Lusk had advised
him of hisrights to remain silent and that he was, you know, that he fully understood what he
did when he made the statement if he made a statement.

Q. There was never any purpose in this agreement that was signed by you and Evans and
witnessed by Wayne Payne and George Holder that the State of Mississippi or the State of
Louisiana would not pursue charges against him or would not use statements against him, were
there?

A. That was not discussed between Mr. Evans and I.
Q. Was that discussed between you and any police?
A. No, Sir.

972. Furthermore, Lusk testified that the original document drafted by Golden did not contain any
language limiting the use of the information provided in Evans statements. Lusk's testimony
corroborates that by Evans and Lusk during the federal guilty plea hearing. Moreover, during the
guilty plea hearing, Evans stated to the court that this document was not an agreement, but was "just



basically an attestation to the fact that Fred Lusk has advised me of my right to remain silent and so
on...."

173. This record clearly demonstrates that no agreement was reached either with the State of
Mississippi or the State of Louisiana. Rather, the sole purpose of this document was to protect Lusk
from future claims of ineffective assistance of counsel. The record amply supports the conclusions of
the trial judge: that Evans unilaterally inserted limiting language into a document. There is no
indication that this language was discussed with law enforcement or with the AUSA. Moreover, there
isno indication that law enforcement was aware of any language which purported to limit the use of
the information provided by Evans.

174. Evans was repeatedly advised by his attorney and Agent Holder that he was not required to
make a statement. Evans was advised prior to each statement that the information given in the
statement could and would be used against him. Evans, however, accompanied by counsdl, chose
instead to make a statement. The document drafted and executed by Evans was a private agreement
between an attorney and his client, not a "waiver" of rights. There was simply nothing that the State
of Mississippi was obligated to honor. There is no merit to thisissue.

D. WHETHER THE STATE FAILED TO TAKE EVANSBEFORE A COMMITTING
MAGISTRATE IN VIOLATION OF HISFIFTH, SIXTH, AND FOURTEENTH
AMENDMENT RIGHTS.

175. Evans next argues that the failure of the State to take him before ajudicia officer in atimely
manner undermines the voluntariness of his confessions. Evans argues that at the time he made his
statements to law enforcement he was unaware that he would be facing state murder charges.

176. Evans was arrested on August 5, 1991, in Louisiana on federal kidnapping charges. At that
point, authorities were not aware that Beatrice had been murdered. Five hours after his arrest, Evans
was taken before a United States Magistrate in New Orleans, advised of his rights and formally
charged with kidnapping. Counsel was appointed and Evans waived extradition proceedings after
which he was transported to Harrison County on August 7, 1991.

177. On August 8, 1991, Evans was given an initial appearance before U. S. Magistrate Judge Roper
in Biloxi. Judge Roper advised Evans of his rights and appointed attorney Fred Lusk to represent
Evans on the federal kidnapping charge. Evans, represented by counsel, later confessed to the
kidnapping and murder of Beatrice.

178. At the time of Evans confessions, he had been arrested on federal kidnapping charges. On
August 2, 1991, a warrant was issued against Evans on state kidnapping charges. However, at the
time of Evans' statements, he had not been arrested on state kidnapping charges. An arrest warrant
for capital murder was not issued until August 20, 1991. Evans was arrested for capital murder at
10:30 am. on August 20, 1991, at the Harrison County Jail and was soon given an initial appearance.

{79. At the time of Evans arrest, Unif. Crim. R. Cir. C. P. 1.04) governed initial appearances and
required that every arrested person be taken before a judicia officer without unnecessary delay. Here,
however, Evans had not been arrested on any state charges at the time of his statements. Rather,
Evans had only been charged with federa kidnapping charges for which he did receive an initial



appearance.

180. In Abram v. State, 606 So. 2d 1015 (Miss.1992), this Court held that "[t]he importance of this
first appearance is that the accused is advised of hisright to remain silent, his right to appointment of
counsel, his right to communicate with counsel and family, hisright to preliminary hearing, and the
conditions under which he may obtain release, if at all. 1d. at 1029. In Abram, this Court held that
"[b]ecause the 'major purpose’ of the initial appearance 'is to secure to the accused prompt . . . advice
of hisright to counsel by ajudicial officer . . . who [presumably] has no professiona duty nor
personal inclination to try to exact awaiver of that right,' it isimperative that the initial appearance be
given 'without unnecessary delay" as the rule commands." 1d. (quoting Nicholson v. State, 523 So.

2d 68 (Miss.1988)). "'Without unnecessary delay' means as soon as ‘custody, booking, administrative
and security needs have been met." | d.

181. Abram was arrested without awarrant on August 12, 1982. Questioning began and Abram
eventually gave afull confession. Despite the fact that ajudge was available at adl times, Abram was
not given an initial appearance until August 15, 1982, immediately after his uncounseled confession
was obtained by law enforcement. This Court held:

The failure to provide Abram with an initial appearance sooner had devastating consequences
for the defense, clearly derogating hisright to afair trial. Common sense suggests that law
enforcement authorities would never have obtained an uncounseled confession from Abram had
he been given an initial appearance, and consequently, access to counsel, without unnecessary
delay. See cf., Nicholson, 523 So. 2d at 77. We hold the failure to provide the initial
appearance reversible since, as a consequence, Abram gave afull confession in the absence of,
and in violation of, hisright to counsel. Such an error could hardly be deemed harmless since
the conviction of Abram for capital murder was based entirely on his confession.

ld. at 1029.

1182. The factsin the case sub judice are clearly distinguishable from those present in Abram. The
most glaring distinction is that Evans did not make an uncounseled confession. Rather, Evans, in
spite of advice from his attorney and U.S. Magistrate Judge Roper, made three separate statements.
Prior to each statement, Evans was counseled and warned by his attorney against making any
statements. Moreover, Evans memorialized his acknowledgment that he had been advised of his right
to remain silent by Judge Roper and his attorney. Also unlike Abram, the conviction in the case sub
judice was not based entirely on his confession.

183. In Neal v. State, 451 So. 2d 743, 757 (Miss.1984), cert. denied, 469 U.S. 1098 (1984), this
Court held that "[r]epeated Miranda warnings coupled with the passage of enough time to allow an
accused to become acclimated to his surroundings followed thereafter by a voluntary waiver are
generally more than sufficient to remove from a subsequent confession the taint, if any, of delay in
taking the accused before a committing magistrate.”" Evans had been in custody for four days prior to
making hisfirst statement. Moreover, Evans was repeatedly advised by his attorney, Detective
Carvin, and Agent Holder of hisright to remain silent.

184. Evans, however, argues that he did not understand that his statements could be used in a
subsequent state murder prosecution. Evans attorney testified that he advised Evans that his



statements could be used against him in both state and federal court. Lusk testified that he instructed
Evans not to give a statement because there was no body. Specifically, Lusk advised Evans that "I
did not believe there was enough evidence unless he incriminated himself to bring about any state
charges."

1185. Perhaps the most conclusive evidence which demonstrates that Evans was fully aware that state
capital murder charges would be pursued is Defense Ex. 12 to the Motion to Suppress wherein
Evans housing and visitation requests were listed. These requests focus solely on his desire to be
housed in afedera facility despite a state capital murder conviction. Evans awareness is illustrated by
the fact that at one point, Evans inserted into the document the word "capital” before murder.
Moreover, Evans, in this document, contemplates the fact that his execution may take place.

1186. Evans was aware of the possibility and the probability of state murder chargesif he made
incriminating statements. However, acting in direct conflict to the advice given by his counsel, Evans
chose to confess. There is simply no indication that the appointment of state counsel, who would
have presumably counseled Evans as did Lusk, would have deterred Evans from confessing.

187. In Wright v. State, 512 So. 2d 679, 681 (Miss.1987), this Court held:

Under our law Wright was entitled to counsel without unnecessary delay following his arrest,
and nothing turns on whether that law be labeled constitutional or procedural or both. Denia of
that entitlement will result in reversal of a subsequent conviction, however, only whereit is
shown that the accused experienced some untoward consequences flowing directly from denial
of counssl.

1188. At al times during and prior to making statements, Evans was represented by an attorney. He
was advised by his attorney and a federal judge not to make incriminating statements. Evans was
aware that federal kidnapping charges were pending. Moreover, Evans was advised by his attorney
that if abody was discovered, state murder charges would follow. Evans chose not to follow this
advice. There is simply nothing in this record which demonstrates that the tria judge erred in finding
that Evans confessions were voluntary and admissible. Thisissue is without merit.

E. WHETHER THE STATE VIOLATED AGEE V. STATE.

1189. Evans argues that the State failed to satisfy Agee v. State, 185 So. 2d 671 (Miss.1966).
Specifically, Evans argues that the State failed to call Deputy Lee to rebut Evans harassment
allegations and Sheriff Joe Price to respond to Evans alegation that Sheriff Price made promises
regarding his treatment in the jail.

190. In Ageeg, this Court held "Lee v. State, supra, is also authority for the proposition that when,
after the State has made out a primafaci e case as to the voluntariness of the confession, the accused
offers testimony that violence, threats of violence, or offers of reward induced the confession, then
the State must offer all the officers who were present when the accused was questioned and when the
confession was signed, or give an adequate reason for the absence of any witness." 185 So.2d at 673.

191. In Morgan v. State, 681 So. 2d 82 (Miss.1996), the defendant alleged that a detective
threatened to hit him with his blackjack. This Court held that "[t]he prosecution was charged under



Agee with putting all of the detectives on the stand who were present when Detective Hall alegedly
threatened Morgan." I d. at 89.

192. Here, the State called each law enforcement officer who was present when Evans was
guestioned and when the statements were made. Specifically, the State called Detective Whitney
Carvin and FBI Special Agent George Holder and Mg or Wayne Payne of the Gulfport Police
Department. In rebuttal, the State recalled Detective Carvin and called Assistant U.S. Attorney
Golden and Gulfport Police Chief George Payne.

1193. Sheriff Price was not called, nor does the State offer any reason why he was not. However, the
trial court heard testimony concerning the assurances by Sheriff Price to Evans that his complaints
would be remedied. Moreover, there was no dispute that Sheriff Price spoke with Evans on August
10, 1991, and made such assurances. Given that little conflict existed about Sheriff Price's presence
or his assurances, his testimony was not required.

194. Evans also argues that Deputy L ee should have been called as awitness by the State. This Court
has held that "[o]nly those persons who are claimed to have induced a confession through some
means of coercion are required to be offered by the State under Agee." Abram v. State, 606 So. 2d
1015, 1030 (Miss.1992)(citing Reid v. State, 266 So. 2d 21, 26 (Miss.1972)). Evans, however, did
not testify that Deputy Lee made any threats or offers of reward which induced his confession. In
Thorson v. State, 653 So. 2d 876 (Miss.1994), this Court held that the Agee Rule was satisfied
despite the fact that the State did not call officers who allegedly were abusive and yelled at the
defendant two days prior to his confession. There, this Court held:

The principle enunciated in Agee remains sound, but its importance to an accused has receded
in view of the strong affirmative mandates of Miranda. In Abram v. State, 606 So. 2d 1015,
1030 (Miss.1992), we held "Only those persons who are claimed to have induced a confession
through some means of coercion are required to be offered by the State under Agee. We hold
that any alleged statement made by Cook and some unidentified person on March 7 at which
time Thorson revealed nothing had no bearing on Thorson's confession on the Monday
following. Indeed, he never claimed that they did. Here, Thorson informed the officers on
Monday, March 9, that he had read and understood his rights, and there is nothing, as above
noted, about any of this videotape suggesting coercion or mistreatment of any kind. Mettetal v.
State, 602 So. 2d 864, 868 (Miss.1992).

Id. at 888. Asin Thorson, there is no indication that alleged actions by Deputy L ee contributed or
induced Evans confession. As such, the State was not required to call him as a witness under the
Agee Rule. Thisissue is without merit.

II.WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN TRANSFERRING VENUE TO
ADAMS COUNTY.

1195. On August 25, 1993, the trial court transferred venue to Adams County for the limited purpose
of jury selection. To say that extensive publicity surrounded Donald Leroy Evans would be an
understatement. Immediately surrounding the offense and the arrest of Evans, Mississippi was
inundated with widespread and extensive media coverage. For example, in excess of 100 articlesran
in the Sun Herald, which serves the Mississippi Gulf Coast area, and approximately 87 articles were



published in the Clarion-Ledger, which serves the Jackson area. Following Evans subsequent
confessions to multiple murders across the country, media coverage was rampant on local, state and
nationa levels.

1196. Jury selection began on September 7, 1993, in Adams County. During voir dire, Evans made a
motion ore tenus to renew the Motion for Change of Venue. Evans renewed his motion, citing
adverse pre-trial publicity, and arguing that members of the venire had been prejudiced by newspaper
articles which appeared in the Clarion-Ledger and the Natchez Democrat on the day of trial. Evans
argued that the articles published by the Clarion-Ledger and the Natchez Democrat caused such news
saturation in the community that there was a presumption that he could not receive afair trial. Evans
also argued that the Natchez Democrat article discussed high-level security measures taken by local
authorities in preparation for the trial. Counsel argued that "under the circumstancesit is clear that
the indication that the State has been given from Adams County that it is a very, very dangerous man
that we have here." Evans argued that the article in the Clarion-Ledger was even more prejudicial
because it contained a conversation with Tammy Giles, the mother of Beatrice Louise Routh. The
trial court questioned the venire panel extensively about their knowledge of the case and the
newspaper articles. Those individuals who indicated that they had read the article in the Clarion-
Ledger were placed on the fina panel. The trial court overruled Evans renewed motion.

197. Defense counsel renewed the change of venue motion again after a media representative was
observed taking pictures of the venire panel. The trial court conceded that panel members were
photographed but overruled the motion.

198. Asin Carr v. State, 655 So. 2d 824, 840 (Miss.1995), cert. denied, 116 S.Ct. 782 (1996), the
issuein this case "is not whether a change of venue should have been granted, asit was indeed
granted; but whether a second change of venue should have been granted. . . . " There, this Court
held:

It is well-established in Mississippi that [t]he granting of a change in venue is a matter so largely
in [the] discretion of the trial court that a judgment of conviction will not be reversed on appeal
on the ground that a change of venue was refused, unless it clearly appears that trial court
abused its discretion. Billiot v. State, 454 So. 2d 445, 454 (Miss.1984)(quoting Parksv. State,
267 So. 2d 302, 304 (Miss.1972)). However, Fisher v. State, 481 So. 2d 203, 215 (Miss.1985)
, admonishes that the decision to change venue, although left to the sound discretion of the trial
judge, is not one involving unfettered discretion.

Id.

1199. Upon proper application for a change of venue, a presumption arises that an impartial jury can
not be obtained. Pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 99-15-35 (1972), proper application requires a
written motion supported by affidavits of two or more witnesses showing that the defendant cannot
have afar and impartia trial in the particular county because of prejudgment of the case or grudge or
il will to the defendant in the public mind. Porter v. State, 616 So. 2d 899, 906 (Miss.1993).(3)

11100. However, the presumption that impartial jury can not be obtained may at times be irrebuttable.
Elements which should serve to indicate an irrebuttable presumption



are:
(1) Capital cases based on consideration of a heightened standard of review;
(2) Crowds threatening violence toward the accused,;
(3) Aninordinate amount of media coverage, particularly in cases of
(8) serious crimes against influential families;
(b) serious crimes against public officials,
(c) serid crimes;
(d) crimes committed by a black defendant upon a white victim;
(e) where there is inexperienced trial counsdl.
White v. State, 495 So. 2d 1346, 1349 (Miss.1986).

11101. "When reviewing whether the trial judge has so abused his discretion this Court will look to the
completed trial including the voir dire examination of the jurors to ascertain if the defendants have
received afair and impartial trial." Billiot v. State, 454 So. 2d 445, 455 (Miss.1984), cert. denied,
469 U.S. 1230 (1985)(quoting Franklin v. State, 189 Miss. 142, 158-59, 196 So. 787, 789 (1940);
Stevenson v. State, 325 So. 2d 113, 118 (Miss.1975)).

1102. Despite Evans contentions, the trial judge did not abuse his discretion when selecting Adams
County as the venue for purposes of jury selection. From August 1, 1991, the date on which Beatrice
was abducted from Gulfport, until February 21, 1993, only twelve articles were published in the
Natchez Democrat regarding the case. All of these articles were published on or before October 3,
1991.

1103. Moreover, media coverage in Adams County was much less extensive than in other areas of the
State. For example, the Sun Herald, which serves the Gulf Coast, published approximately one
hundred and twenty articles and the Clarion Ledger published in excess of eighty articles. From
August 1, 1991, to February 2, 1993, twenty-four articles appeared in the Enterprise Journal which
serves areas surrounding and including McComb. Twenty-eight articles ran in The Picayune Item and
twenty articles were published in The Daily Leader. The Hattiesburg American published
approximately 49 articles.

11104. Evans, conceding that no region of the State was immune from pre-trial publicity, argues that
the situs of jury selection should have been transferred north of Highway 82 or to the northeastern
portion of the state. The Delta-Democrat Times, which serves Greenville and surrounding areas,
contained no articles about the Evans matter. However, as with other areas of the State, thisareais
reached by the Clarion-Ledger as well.

1105. Moreover, the northeastern portion of the state was comparatively similar to Adams County in
the amount of media exposure. The Oxford Eagle published fourteen articles. The Daily Sentinel-
Star, serving Grenada and surrounding areas, published approximately thirteen articles and the



Starkville Daily News published approximately ten articles. The Commercia Dispatch, serving the
Columbus area, published approximately twelve articles. The trial court did not abuse his discretion
in transferring venue to Adams County.

1106. Evans a so argues that venue should have been transferred following publication of articles on
the first day of tria by the Clarion-Ledger and Natchez Democrat. The article published in the
Natchez Democrat contained commentary by the tria judge as to why Adams County had been
chosen as the site for jury selection. Additional comments from the Sheriff of Adams County
discussed security measures taken in preparation for the trial.

1107. The Clarion-Ledger article contained a detailed conversation with Tammy Giles, Bestrice's
mother, wherein Giles expressed her sorrow and indicated that a plastic box with Beatrice's ashes was
all that she had left of her daughter. Giles described Evans as someone she believed she could trust.
The article also detailed the chronology of events of the Evans case beginning with Evans arrest on
August 5, 1991. The article stated that Evans led law enforcement to the body; pled guilty to a
federa kidnapping charges; escaped from the Harrison County Jail; and confessed to multiple
murders.

11108. During voir dire, the tria judge allowed individua sequestered voir dire to question jurors
about their knowledge of the case. Jurors were specifically questioned as to whether they had read
these articles. Those jurors who had read the Clarion-Ledger were placed on the final venire panel.
As noted by the State, there was less information about the case in the Natchez Democrat article than
the jury will have "as soon as the Court reads them the indictment."

11109. Of the twelve jurors eventually impaneled to hear this matter, only three indicated they had
read the Natchez Democrat article. Two of those jurors indicated that they read only a portion of the
article. Each of these jurorsindicated that they could set aside what they had read and rely only on
the evidence presented at trial. None of the jurors which were actually impaneled read the article
which appeared in the Clarion-Ledger.

1110. A presumption of prejudice may be rebutted by the State's demonstration that an impartial jury
was actually impaneled. Morgan v. State, 681 So. 2d 82, 92 (Miss.1996). Based on voir dire
proceedings it appears that an impartia jury was actualy impaneled. The abduction and murder of
Beatrice Louise Routh and Evans' subsequent claims to have murdered in excess of sixty people
generated a tremendous amount of publicity throughout Mississippi and the United States. Asin
Simon v. State, 688 So.2d 791, 804 (Miss.1997), "[i]t is unlikely that a change of venue to other
area of this State would have resulted in a venire comprised of members who had not heard about the
case in some form or fashion." There, this Court held that "[t]he linchpin is whether the venire
members stated that they could be fair and impartial jurorsif chosen." I d. (citations omitted). Here,
each juror indicated that they could be fair and impartial.

1111. Moreover, asin Porter, "[v]iewing the verdict rendered in light of the evidence presented, it
does not seem that the State needed the benefit of a prejudiced jury for [Evans] conviction." Porter,
616 So. 2d at 906. After thorough review, we cannot conclude that the trial judge abused his
discretion in refusing to grant an additional change of venue.

1. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO THE ADMONISH



THE JURY TO DISREGARD COMMENTS MADE DURING VOIR DIRE.

11112. Evans next argues that the trial court erred in refusing to grant amistrial after prospective
juror Tedder made certain statements during voir dire. Evans aso argues the trial court erred by
failing to admonish the venire to disregard these comments. Following questions by the district
attorney, prospective juror Tedder indicated that she would be uncomfortable and unable to serve as
ajuror because she found "it very difficult to be in the same room with [Evansg). . . . " Following the
remark, the district attorney questioned the venire as to "whether the fact that someone in your
community makes an expression like that affect your ability to be fair to the State of Mississippi or to
this defendant?' The record reflects that al jurors indicated that it would not.

1113. Evans later requested the trial court to quash the venire panel and moved for amistrial. Evans
argued that the comments made by juror Tedder were highly prejudicial. In response, the trial court
noted the negative response by the veniremen when questioned about the effect of the remarks and
held that Evans motion was not well taken.

1114. In Brent v. State, 632 So. 2d 936, 941 (Miss.1994), this Court held:

The decision to declare amistrial is within the sound discretion of thetrial judge. See Arizona
v. Washington, 434 U.S. 497, 512, 98 S.Ct. 824, 834, 54 L.Ed.2d 717 (1978); Grandberry v.
Bonner, 653 F.2d 1010 (5th Cir. 1981). To find error from atrial judge's failure to declare a
mistrial, there must have been an abuse of discretion. Jonesv. State, 398 So. 2d 1312, 1318
(Miss.1981); Schwarzauer v. State, 339 So. 2d 980, 982 (Miss.1976).

9115. Tria judgesin this state are further guided by Uniform Criminal Rules of Circuit Court Practice
5.15(4):

The court shall declare a mistrial upon the defendant's motion if there occurs during the trial an
error or legal defect in the proceeding, or conduct inside or outside the courtroom, resulting in
substantial and irreparable prejudice to the defendant's case.

1116. In Hopson v. State, 625 So. 2d 395 (Miss.1993), this Court held the tria court did not err in
refusing to grant amistrial after improper comments by two potentia jurors. This Court stated:

Benson clearly appliesto this case. In both cases there were improper comments from a
potential juror, and in both cases, the follow-up questions revealed that there was nothing to
indicate that the venire panel had been biased, prejudiced or would be less than fair in
discharging its duty by what had occurred. See West v. State, 463 So. 2d 1048, 1054
(Miss.1985). Further, once the trial judge is satisfied that the potential jurors are without
prejudice that would prevent them from being fair and impartial jurors, it iswithin the discretion
of the court to make the final determination as to whether the panel should be quashed.
Robinson, 253 So. 2d at 400.

Hopson, 625 So. 2d at 403.

1117. The refusal of the trial court to grant a mistrial was not an abuse of discretion. Although the
trial court did not admonish the jury to disregard the comment, the prosecutor immediately
guestioned the jury as to whether the comment would influence their ability to serve. All jurors gave



a negative response. The follow-up question by Mr. Caranna clearly disclosed that "no juror felt or
believed that the statement made . . . would prejudice him or prevent him from being afair and
impartial juror." 1d. (quoting Robinson v. State, 253 So. 2d 398, 400 (Miss.1971)).

IV.WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROHIBITED EVANS FROM QUESTIONING
THE VENIRE PANEL ABOUT THEIR ABILITY TO FOLLOW THE LAW
GOVERNING THE DEATH PENALTY.

1118. Evans argues that defense counsel was denied the opportunity to question jurors about their
ability to follow the law governing the imposition of the death penalty. Voir dire was conducted
pursuant to Rule 5.02 of the Unif.Crim.R.Cir.Ct. P.(1993), which provides:

In the voir dire examination of jurors, the attorney shall direct to the entire venire questions
only on matters not inquired into by the court. Individual jurors may be examined only when
proper to inquire as to answers given or for other good cause allowed by the court. No
hypothetical questions requiring any juror to pledge a particular verdict will be asked.

1119. In Davis v. State, 684 So. 2d 643, 651-52 (Miss.1996), this Court set forth the following
guidelines when reviewing challenges to voir dire proceedings.

[T]he trial court has broad discretion in passing on the extent and propriety of questions that
are addressed to the venire. Jones v. State, 381 So. 2d 983 (Miss.), cert. denied, 449 U.S.
1003, 101 S.Ct. 543, 66 L.Ed.2d 300 (1980). Abuse of discretion will only be found where
Davis shows clear prejudice resulting from undue lack of constraint on the prosecution or
undue constraint on the defense. 1d. See also, Williams v. State, 544 So. 2d 782, 784
(Miss.1987)("[T]his court will take note of abuse on appea where prejudice to the accused is
present."); Leverett v. State, 112 Miss. 394, 73 So. 273, 274 (1916)(reversing where whole
trend of voir dire intended to impress jury with idea that their duty was to convict.)

1120. Evans first argues he was prohibited from asking jurors whether they would consider mitigating
circumstances such as child abuse, substance abuse, and mental illness. The record below belies this
argument. Evans refers to several instances in the record wherein the trial judge alegedly "prevented
guestioning about mitigating factors." When the entire record is examined it is clear that thetria
judge was concerned that defense counsel was attempting to use hypothetical questions in order to
secure a commitment from the jurors that they would render a particular verdict.

1121. In West v. State, 553 So. 2d 8, 22 (Miss.1989), this Court stated:

Our law alows an attorney for either side to probe the prejudices of the prospective jurors to
the end that all will understand the jurors thoughts on matters directly related to be tried. What
isimpermissibleis for an attorney to attempt to secure from the juror a pledge that, if a certain
set of facts occur or are presented, the juror will vote a certain way. We take this view because
there may well be other facts which would require a conscientious juror to do otherwise even
though the assumed hypothetical fact comes to pass. Furthermore, in the course of deliberation
ajuror should be encumbered by her oath, the evidence and the instructions from the trial court-
and nothing more.



11122. Once defense counsel agreed to rephrase his questions, the trial court allowed this line of
inquiry. Far from preventing defense counsal from questioning the venire about mitigating factors, the
record revedls that the trial judge assured defense counsel that he had no problem with the questions
as rephrased. Defense counsel then explained to the venire that the function of mitigating
circumstances is to mitigate punishment, not to excuse the crime. Counsel discussed both statutory
and non-statutory mitigating factors. For example, counsel inquired whether jurors would consider
mitigating circumstances such as child abuse, mental illness, substance abuse, and the influence of
alcohol during the commission of the crime. Counsel aso inquired whether the venire would weigh
mitigating circumstances against aggravating circumstances in order to determine the appropriate
sentence. Evans was clearly afforded the opportunity to fully explore whether jurors would consider
mitigating circumstances.

11123. Evans next argues that defense counsel was prohibited from questioning venire members as to
whether they would automatically vote for the death penalty. In Morgan v. Illinois, 504 U.S. 719
(1992), the United States Supreme Court held that atrial court may not refuse inquiry into whether a
potential juror would automatically impose the death penalty upon conviction of the defendant. In
Morgan, the Court held:

[T]he belief that death should be imposed ipso facto upon conviction of a capital offense
reflects directly on that individual's inability to follow the law. Any juror who would impose
death regardless of the facts and circumstances of conviction cannot follow the dictates of the
law. It may be that ajuror could, in good conscience, swear to uphold the law and yet be
unaware that maintaining such dogmatic beliefs about the death penalty would prevent him or
her from doing so. A defendant on trial for hislife must be permitted on voir direto ascertain
whether his prospective jurors function under such misconception.

Morgan, 504 U.S. at 735-36. (internal citations omitted). The Supreme Court noted that a juror who
would automatically impose the death penalty "obviously deem[s] mitigating evidence to be irrelevant
to their decision to impose the death penalty: They not only refuse to give such evidence any weight
but are dso plainly saying that mitigating evidence is not worth their consideration and that they will
not consider it." 1d.

71124. Contrary to Evans assertions, defense counsel questioned the jury as to whether they would
automatically impose the death penalty. Moreover, jurors were asked whether they would
automatically vote for the death penalty where the victim was a child. Jurors who answered
affirmatively were questioned further by defense counsel.

1125. However, when counsel attempted to question jurors regarding their verdict given the specific
facts of this case, the tria court, relying on Rule 5.02, did not allow the questions. For example, the
trial court would not allow defense counsel to ask whether jurors would vote for the death penalty
when a person, previously convicted of felony, is convicted of capital murder with an underlying
felony of kidnapping or sexual battery. Thetrial judge stated, "when you asked them what penalty
would be appropriate under the hypothetical set of facts that you asked, you're asking for their
decision asto the verdict at the sentencing phase" and noted that "the questions as propounded did
not incorporate all the elements concerning the issue which would be submitted to the jury.”

1126. Unlike Morgan, this venire was questioned about the automatic imposition of the death penalty



and the consideration of mitigating circumstances. The trial court correctly refused to allow defense
counsel to ask hypothetical questions and inquire as to the juror's conclusions or the verdict they
would reach and simply directed that the questions asked by defense counsel accurately set forth the
law. Unif. R. Crim. Ct. Prac. 5.02; Simon v. State, 688 So.2d 791 (Miss.1997); Williams v. State,
544 So. 2d 782, 785 (Miss.1987); West v. State, 553 So. 2d 8 (Miss.1989). Morgan v. Illinois, 504
U.S. 719 (1992) does not require otherwise.

11127. Here, the venire was questioned as to whether they would listen to the evidence and require the
State to prove its case beyond a reasonable doubt. Moreover, during voir dire, jurors were
guestioned as to whether they would listen the evidence about aggravating and mitigating
circumstances, weigh this evidence and then make a decision regarding punishment.

11128. This Court has stated that "[t]rial courts have aresponsibility to control voir dire but in doing
so they must take care not to hinder afull exploration of ajuror's predispositions, by hypothetical or
otherwise." Mack v. State, 650 So. 2d 1289, 1305 (Miss.1994), cert. denied, 116 S.Ct. 214 (1995)
(citing Dennisv. United States, 339 U.S. 162, 171-72 (1950)). However, "[t]he line between a
proper and improper question is not always easily drawn; it is manifestly a process in which the tria
judge must be given a considerable discretion.” Simon v. State, 688 So.2d at 799. Finding no abuse
of discretion by the trial court, this issue is without merit.

V.WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING SEVERAL DEFENSE
CHALLENGESFOR CAUSE.

1129. Evans next argues that the trial court erred in denying eight defense challenges for cause. Each
challenge is reviewed below with accompanying discussion. However, prior to addressing each
challenge, it is necessary to revisit Chase v. State, 645 So. 2d 829, 845 (Miss.1994), cert. denied,
115 S.Ct. 2279 (1995), reh'g denied, 116 S.Ct. 20 (1995), wherein this Court stated:

[T]his Court has held on more than one occasion that when atrial court fails to sustain a
challenge for cause by the defense, it must be shown that the defense had exhausted all of its
peremptory challenges before the tria court's refusal to allow the challenge for cause. Chisolm
v. State, 529 So.2d 635, 639 (Miss.1988); Johnson v. State, 512 So. 2d 1246, 1255
(Miss.1987).

The rationale behind this rule was set out in Hansen v. State, 592 So. 2d at 129-130:

[T]he appellant has the power to cure substantially any error so long as he has remaining
unused peremptory challenges. We would put the integrity of the trial process at risk were we
to dlow alitigant to refrain from using his peremptory challenges and, suffering an adverse
verdict at trial, secure reversal on appeal on grounds that the Circuit Court did not do what
appellant wholly had the power to do.

Chase, 645 So. 2d at 845-46.

91130. In Berry v. State, 575 So. 2d 1, 9 (Miss.1990), cert. denied, 500 U.S. 928 (1991), this Court
held:

Denial of achallenge for cause is not error where it is not shown that the defense has exhausted



peremptory challenges and is thus forced to accept the juror. Rush v. State, 278 So. 2d 456,
458 (Miss.1973). This threshold test is applicable in a capital murder case.

11131. Evans did not exhaust his peremptory challenges until the State tendered the twelfth juror.
Therefore, any assignment of error prior to the exhaustion of peremptory challengesis barred.
Alternatively, however, we address the merits of each challenge.

A. Juror Merideth.

11132. Evans argues that the trial court should have granted the defense challenge for cause on the
basis that Meredith had extensive knowledge about the case and indicated that she believed Evans
was guilty. Juror Meredith did sit on the jury.

11133. Juror Meredith had extensive knowledge about the case, including Evans escape from jail and
the fact that Beatrice's body was maintained in storage for two years. Moreover, Meredith indicated
that she believed Evans was guilty. Meredith stated that this opinion was confirmed after the defense
attorneys stated that they expected that Evans would be proven guilty. However, Meredith indicated
that she had reached no opinion as to Evans punishment. Upon further questioning by the trial judge,
Meredith stated that she could set her knowledge of the case aside.

11134. Evans challenge for cause was overruled by the trial court. Evans later renewed the challenge
for cause and his motion for additional peremptory challenges summarizing as follows:

The problem is that there are others down the list that we know we're going to get to that we
feel are more worthy of our peremptory challenges than perhaps Ms. Merideth. | mean, we
basically are caught in a catch 22 in this matter. That in order to preserve our objection to Ms.
Merideth we've got to strike her peremptorily. The problem is if we do there are some down the
list that we know we absolutely do not want.

Thetria court overruled Evans motion and urged counsel to file the motion again "at such time as
any are exhausted, all 12 are exhausted and there's a compelling reason otherwise. . . . " Defense
counsel then accepted Merideth.

11135. At the time Evans challenged Meredith for cause, he had six remaining peremptory challenges.
Evans, however, made a strategic decision to retain Merideth and not exercise a peremptory
challenge which may have been better utilized on another juror. Any preudice which may have
occurred from Merideth's presence on the jury is obviated by the fact that defense counsel, during
voir dire, repeatedly conceded that the State of Mississippi could prove Evans guilt beyond a
reasonable doubt. Although Merideth had firm opinions about Evans' guilt which were confirmed by
statements by defense counsel, she repeatedly indicated that she had no opinions about Evans
punishment.

11136. The trial court cannot now be put in error for Evans' strategic decisions. This issue is without
merit.

B. Juror Harris

91137. Like Juror Merideth, Evans had not exhausted his peremptory challenges at the time his



challenge for cause was denied. As such, this assignment of error was not properly preserved and is
therefore barred from consideration on appeal. See Chase v. State, 645 So. 2d 829, 845 (Miss.1994),
cert. denied, 115 S.Ct. 2279 (1995), reh'g denied, 116 S.Ct. 20 (1995); Berry v. State, 575 So. 2d 1,
9 (Miss.1990). However, without waiving the bar, we alternatively address the merits of this
argument.

11138. Juror Harris did in fact serve on the petit jury and indicated during individual sequestered voir
dire that she knew about the facts on the case from due to television coverage. Harris also indicated
that she knew about Evans' escape from jail.

1139. In Billiot v. State, 454 So. 2d 445, 457 (Miss.1984), cert. denied, 469 U.S. 1230 (1985),reh'g
denied, 470 U.S. 1089 (1985), this Court held "a juror who may be removed on a challenge for cause
is one against whom a cause for challenge exists that would likely effect his competency or his
impartiality at trial." In Billiot, this Court relied on Armstrong v. State, 214 So. 2d 589, 593
(Miss.1968), cert. denied, 395 U.S. 965 (1969), wherein this Court held that "[t]hose [jurors] who
say that they could follow the evidence and the instructions of the court should be retained, and those
who cannot follow the instructions of the court should be released.”

11140. Harris repeatedly indicated that she could be impartial and follow the instructions of the court.
Harris stated that she would consider mitigating circumstances and would make the State prove
aggravating circumstances beyond a reasonable doubt. Moreover, Harris stated that she had not
formed an opinion about Evans' guilt or innocence or what punishment he should receive. Evans
chose not to utilize a peremptory challenge to strike Harris. As such, the record does not reveal that
the trial judge abused his discretion in refusing to strike Juror Harris for cause.

C. Juror Thornburg

9141. Norman Thornburg did not sit on the petit jury. During individual sequestered voir dire
Thornburg indicated that he could set aside what he had heard about the case. Thornburg admitted
that he believed "if Evans was found guilty that the death penalty would be appropriate.”" Thornburg,
stated that this belief was not based on the media coverage, but rather based on the "nature of the
crimeitself." Later, however, Thornburg stated that he could set his opinion aside and decide the case
based on the evidence and the law.

1142. Evans challenged Thornburg for cause due to his knowledge of Evans escape. Thetrial court
overruled the chalenge and Evans peremptorily struck Thornburg. Based on Thornburg's ability to
listen to the evidence and follow the law, it was not error for the trial court to refuse Evans challenge
for cause. Moreover, Evans use of a peremptory challenge to remove Juror Thornburg cured any
error which may have been present. See Chase v. State, 645 So. 2d 829, 845 (Miss.1994), cert.
denied, 115 S.Ct. 2279 (1995), reh’'g denied, 116 S.Ct. 20 (1995).

1143. Like Thornburg, the remaining jurors challenged by Evans indicated that despite their
knowledge of the case, they could disregard what they had seen or heard and listen to the evidence
presented at trial. Based on these responses, the trial judge did not err in refusing to excuse these
jurors for cause. Moreover, each of the remaining jurors were peremptorily struck by Evans and did
not serve on the petit jury. Any error which may have occurred was cured by Evans' peremptory
strikes. Chase, 645 So.2d at 845.



VI.WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO GRANT EVANS
ADDITIONAL PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES.

11144. Evans next argues that he was denied atrial by afair and impartia jury when the trial court
erred in refusing to grant additional peremptory challenges when 124 of 127 potential jurors had
knowledge of the facts of the case. Evans repeatedly requested additional peremptory challenges.
However, prior to the exhaustion of Evans' twelve challenges, the trial court ruled that the motion
was premature. Evans exhausted his twelfth peremptory challenge on Juror Cavin and the State
struck the next juror. Juror Stevens was accepted by the State becoming the twelfth juror and Evans
again reurged his motion for additional peremptory challenges. The trial judge questioned Evans
about the basis for the motion:

The basis, Your Honor, that we stated previously in all of our motions. We've been forced to
exhaust al 12 of ours and accept people that we might not have otherwise accepted, strike
people that would have otherwise been acceptable had not it been for the publicity regarding the
matters | stated.

11145. Jurors Harris, Jones, and Merideth indicated that they had knowledge of the case including
Evans escape. Jones was excused by the trial court for personal reasons. Harris and Merideth were
challenged for cause by Evans on the basis that they had extensive knowledge about the facts of the
case. However, each of these jurorsindicated they could set aside matters they had seen or heard and
consider only the evidence produced at trial. Evans did not peremptorily strike Harris or Merideth
from the jury.

11146. In the preceding assignment of error, Evans complained about the presence of Juror Stevens,
the jury foreman. Steven was the twelfth juror chosen after the exhaustion of Evans peremptory
challenges. Evans did not challenge Stevens for cause. However, it is precisely at this point, when
faced with ajuror with knowledge of the facts of the case and without further peremptory challenges,
that Evans should have challenged Stevens for cause. Chase v. State, 645 So.2d 829, 845
(Miss.1994), cert. denied, 115 S.Ct. 2279 (1995), reh'g denied, 116 S.Ct. 20 (1995); Chisolm v.
State, 529 So. 2d 635, 639 (Miss.1988); Johnson v. State, 512 So. 2d 1246, 1255 (Miss.1987), cert.
denied, 484 U.S. 968 (1987). Having not made such a challenge, Evans cannot now assign Stevens
presence on the jury as error. Notwithstanding the lack of a challenge, Stevens indicated that he
could be impartial and fair and would restrict his consideration to the evidence presented at trial.

1147. In Mettetal v. State, 615 So. 2d 600, 615 (Miss.1993), this Court held that the "loss of a
peremptory challenge does not constitute a violation of the constitutional right to an impartial jury."
There, this Court held that "[s]o long as the jury that sitsis impartial, the fact that the defendant had
to use a peremptory challenge to achieve that result does not mean that the defendant was denied his
consgtitutional rights." 1d. (quoting Ross v. Oklahoma, 487 U.S. 81, 88 (1988)).

11148. Evans, however, argues that this case is similar to that before this Court in Mhoon v. State,
464 So. 2d 77 (Miss.1985), where twelve of the thirty-nine veniremen who were not excused for
cause were either police officers or related by blood or marriage to current or former police officers.
Of the twelve jurors selected, a uniformed police officer served as foreman and five other jurors were
related to law enforcement officers. There, we held that the "sheer number of law enforcement-



connected persons in the jury pool, as well as persons selected as jurors, has worked a great hardship
on Mhoon." 1d. at 81. This Court stated:

Given the statistical aberration in the jury pool, the judge could have done several things to
ameliorate its prgjudicia effect: (1) he could have afforded counsel additional peremptory
challenges; (2) he could have increased the size of the available venire as well as affording
additional challenges, or (3) he could have sustained at least some of the challenges for cause.
A.B.A. Sandards Relating to Juror Use and Management (1983); Standard 9(b) & (g) at 83,
85-86....

Id. Noting the opportunity for undue influence over the opinions of other jurors, we held that "under
this novel situation the coercive inference on the jury precludes this Court from saying that this
appellant was afforded his congtitutional right of atrial by an impartial jury secured by Art. 3, § 26 of
our Constitution." | d. at 82.

11149. Evans now argues that the extensive number of personsin the jury pool with knowledge about
the case warranted additional peremptory challenges. One hundred and sixteen veniremen were
present during voir dire. Of the 101 veniremen actually considered, six indicated that they had no
knowledge about the case. Those jurors who indicated that they knew about the facts of the case
were extensively questioned during individual sequestered voir dire.

11150. Of those jurors actually impaneled, eleven jurors and one alternate possessed some knowledge
about the case. However, each of these jurors indicated that they could consider only the evidence
presented in court.

1151. In Mhoon, supra, this Court noted that because of the novel situation Mhoon's counsel would
have had to use every single one of his peremptory challenges just to exclude persons connected with
the police force. Evans counsel was faced with a similar dilemma. However, the issue before this
Court, and the primary concern of the Mhoon Court, is whether the sheer presence of a mgjority of
veniremen who had some knowledge of this highly publicized case warrants the conclusion that
Evanswas not tried by afair and impartial jury.

1152. In Shell v. State, 554 So. 2d 887 (Miss.1989), rev'd on other grounds, 498 U.S. 1 (1990), on
remand, 595 So. 2d 1323 (Miss.1992), this Court was again confronted by the "statistical aberration”
argument. There, this Court distinguished Mhoon on several bases. First, this Court noted that unlike
Mhoon, defense counsel in Shell had two remaining peremptory challenges at the conclusion of voir
dire and could have challenged two jurors who served on the jury who had relatives that had been
murdered. Moreover, this Court held:

In the case sub judice, the trial court questioned each member of the venire about their ability to
be impartial, and defense counsel asked each member of the venire if those relationships would
prevent them from being "fair and impartial” toward the defendant, Robert Shell. Neither juror
Sherrod, whose uncle had been killed, nor juror Goss, whose brother had been killed, indicated
they would find it difficult to fulfill their obligationsin afair and impartial manner. Neither juror
was peremptorily challenged or challenged for cause.

Id. at 890. Asin Shell, each juror indicated they could be fair and impartial. From the record before



us, we cannot now conclude that Evans did not receive afair and impartial trial.

VII. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING CHALLENGESFOR
CAUSE EXERCISED BY THE STATE.

11153. Evans argues that the trial court erred in granting cause challenges exercised by the State on
four potential jurors based on their views about capital punishment. However, other than genera
reference to the United States and Mississippi Constitutions, Evans cites no authority for thisissue.
This Court has repeatedly held that "[a]n assignment of error, unsupported by any authority, 'lacks
persuasion’ on review." Williams v. State, 684 So. 2d 1179, 1202 (Miss.1996)(quoting Johnson v.
State, 626 So. 2d 631, 634 (Miss.1993); Smith v. State, 430 So. 2d 406, 407 (Miss.1983); cert.
denied, 498 U.S. 1033 (1991)). Despite Evans lack of authority and argument, areview of the
excluded jurors reveals no error by the trial court.

1154. Evans first argues that the exclusion of Juror Hawkins was error. Hawkins, however, was not
excused due to his views about capital punishment, but rather due to the nature of his employment
and the resulting hardship that an extended period of jury service would impose.

11155. The remaining jurors about which Evans complains were excused because they could not
consider the death penalty under any circumstances. First, Evans argues the exclusion of potential
juror Smith was in error. The record reveals that Juror Smith indicated that he was a pentecostal
minister and could not consider the death penalty. The State then challenged Smith for cause.

11156. Thisissueis clearly without merit as the record reveals that defense counsel indicated that
although he would not agree to Smith's exclusion on a Witherspoon basis, he did not want Smith on
the jury. After further questioning by the Court, defense counsel again stated that he did not want
Smith on the jury due to Smith's statements to the court.(5! The trial court then sustained the
challenge. Any error that may have resulted from the challenge for cause by the State was effectively
waived by Evans when he also asked that Smith not be placed on the jury. Despite Evans waiver, the
exclusion of Smith was not error. Juror Smith's responses to questioning about the death penalty
revealed that he would not vote for the death penalty under any circumstances.

1157. In Simon v. State, 688 So0.2d 791 (Miss.1997), this Court set forth the guidelines utilized to
determine whether ajuror was properly excused on the basis of his/her beliefs concerning capital
punishment as follows:

Prospective jurorsin capital cases may only be excluded for cause based on their views of
capital punishment when those views would 'prevent or substantially impair the performance
[their] [sic] duties as juror[s] in accordance with [their] instructions and oath.' " Williamson v.
State, 512 So.2d 868, 880-81 (Miss.1987)(quoting Wainright v. Witt, 469 U.S. 412, 424, 105
S.C.. 844, 852, 83 L.Ed.2d 841, 851-52 (1985); Gray v. Mississippi, 481 U.S. 648, 107 S.C..
2045, 2051-52, 95 L.Ed.2d 622 (1987)). As ajuror's bias against the death penalty does not
have to be proven with unmistaken clarity, the decision of whether or not to excuse the juror is
left to the trial judge's discretion. Stringer v. State, 500 So. 2d 928, 943 (Miss.1986). The juror
need not expressly state that he absolutely refuses to consider the death penalty; an equivalent
response made in any reasonable manner indicating the juror's firm position will suffice. Willie,
585 So. 2d at 673; Williamson, 512 So. 2d at 881. Due to the tria judge's presence during the



voir dire process, heisin abetter position to evaluate the prospective juror's responses.
Williamson, 512 So. 2d at 881. Finally, the determination of whether ajuror isfair and
impartial isajudicia question, and will not be set aside unless such determination is clearly
wrong. Carr v. State, 555 So. 2d 59, 60 (Miss.1989); King v. State, 421 So. 2d 1009, 1016
(Miss.1982), cert. denied., 461 U.S. 919, 103 S.C.. 1903, 77 L.Ed.2d 290 (1983).

Id. at 799.
11158. Continuing, this Court held:

The Adams-Witt standard was adopted by this Court in Balfour v. State, 598 So. 2d 731
(Miss. 1992), and Hansen v. State, 592 So. 2d 114, 128 (Miss.1991), cert. denied, 118
L.Ed.2d 590, 1992 U.S. Lexis 2882, 112 S.C.. 1970, 60 U.S.L.W. 3781 (1992). In both
Balfour and Hansen, this Court consider the holding of Witherspoon v. Illinois, 391 U.S. 510,
88 S.C.. 1770, 20 L.Ed.2d 776 (1968). The Witherspoon line of cases establishes the general
proposition that a"'juror may not be challenged for cause based on his views about capital
punishment unless those views would substantially impair the performance of hisdutiesas a
juror in accordance with hisinstructions and his oath." Adamsv. Texas, 448 U.S. 38, 45, 100
S.Ct. 2521, 65 L.Ed.2d 581 (1980) (reaffirmed in Wainwright v. Witt, 469 U.S. 412, 424, 105
S.C.. 844, 83 L.Ed.2d 841 (1985)).

Simon, 688 So.2d at 800.

11159. Jurors Smith, Hammond, and Brown unequivocally indicated that they could not under any set
of circumstances consider the death penalty. In Simon, 688 So.2d at 800, this Court stated ". . . if a
prospective juror isirrevocably committed to vote against the death penalty regardless of the facts
and circumstances, then the prospective juror can be struck from the jury." Witherspoon, 391 U.S. at
522, n. 21; Williamson v. State, 512 So.2d 868, 881 (Miss.1987), overruled on other grounds, Blue
v. State, 674 So. 2d 1184 (Miss.1996). Thetria court did not abuse his discretion. Thisissueis
without merit.

VIII.WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING THE TESTIMONY
OF DR. MCGARRY.

1160. Evans next argues that Dr. McGarry should not have been allowed to testify asto the results of
the autopsy performed on August 11, 1991, because officials failed to comply with statutory
provisions governing autopsy procedure. Miss. Code Ann. 88 41-37-9, 41-61-57, -59, -61, -65.

9161. Specificaly, Evans challenges the authority of Dr. McGarry to perform the autopsy. Evans
voiced his objections to Dr. McGarry's testimony in amotion in limine filed on the seventh day of
trial. Thetria court conducted a hearing where Evans argued that the State failed to produce a court
order from Pearl River County or authorization from the State Medical Examiner's Office authorizing
Dr. McGarry to perform the autopsy. Relying on Pendergraft v. State, 213 So. 2d 560 (Miss.1968),
appeal dismissed, 394 U.S. 715 (1969), reh'g denied, 395 U.S. 941 (1969), thetrial court held that
Evans lacked standing to challenge statutory technicalities and overruled the motion.

11162. Prior to reaching the merits of Evans argument, Pendergraft is instructive. Pendergraft argued



that the doctor who performed the autopsy should not be alowed to testify asto hisfindings at trial
because the statutory requirements were not followed. Specifically, Pendergraft argued that a copy of
the autopsy report had not been filed with the circuit court clerk. 1 d. at 563. After review, this Court
held:

It was not the legidative intent and purpose for an accused in acriminal case to have the
standing or the right to complain that al technicalities had not been strictly followed in the
ordering of an autopsy. The principal purpose of the statute is set forth in Section 7158-02,
Mississippi Code of 1942 Annotated (Supp.1966) in these words:

"An autopsy may be performed, as provided by this act for the purpose of determining the
primary and/or contributing cause of death in the interest of public health and in criminal cases."

It would be passing strange if an accused could thwart the main purpose of the statute because
of atechnicality.

|d. at 564.

11163. This Court is again faced with a situation where the accused in a murder trial seeksto
challenge technical requirements of autopsy procedures. Here, asin Pendergraft, Evans lacks
standing to challenge technical compliance with autopsy procedure and therefore the trial court
properly allowed Dr. McGarry to testify.

11164. Notwithstanding Evans lack of standing, statutory autopsy procedure was followed in the case
sub judice. Miss. Code Ann. § 41-37-5 alows only a physician duly licensed by the Mississippi State
Board of Health to perform an autopsy. It is undisputed that Dr. McGarry was alicensed physician.

1165. Evans argued that authorities failed to comply with Miss. Code Ann. § 41-37-9 because there
was no court order from a Pearl River County circuit or chancery court which allowed the autopsy to
be conducted. Miss. Code Ann. § 41-37-9 states, in pertinent part:

A circuit judge, chancellor or county judge of the county or district where a person died or
where the body of such deceased person may be or where the mortal stroke or other cause of
death occurred, may, in his discretion, either in term time or vacation, order an autopsy to be
performed upon the body of such deceased person. . . .

(emphasis added). This statute is clearly directed at autopsies conducted by court order upon the
petition of either a county prosecuting attorney or the district attorney. Autopsies may aso be
ordered upon petition of certain health officials or performed by consent. Miss. Code Ann. 88 41-37-
23; -25.

1166. Miss. Code Ann. § 41-61-65 provides that autopsies may also be performed upon the
recommendation of the medical examiner investigating the case. Specifically, that statute provides, in
pertinent part:

If, in the opinion of the medical examiner investigating the casg, it is advisable and in the public
interest that an autopsy or other study be made for the purpose of determining the primary and
or/contributing cause of death, an autopsy or other study shall be made by the State Medical



Examiner or by a competent pathologist designated by the State Medical Examiner.

* k% *

In determining the need for an autopsy, the medical examiner may consider the request from the
district attorney or county prosecuting attorney, law enforcement or other public officials or
private persons.

1167. In the case sub judice, the State advised the trial court that it was prepared to call Judge John
Stafford, Coroner of Pearl River County during August 1991, to testify that he had authorized Dr.
McGarry to conduct the autopsy. Under Miss. Code Ann. § 41-61-57 (2), Stafford is considered a
county medical examiner investigator and pursuant to 8§ 41-61-65 could recommend that an autopsy
be performed. During the hearing on the motion in limine, the District Attorney indicated that Dr.
McGarry was on the list of competent certified pathologists in the state from whom county medial
examiners could choose. Moreover, Evans did not challenge Dr. McGarry's qualifications. Thisissue
is without merit.

IX. WHETHER MISS. CODE ANN 8§ 99-11-27 PROHIBITSTHE STATE OF
MISSISSIPPI FROM TRYING A DEFENDANT FOR CAPITAL MURDER WHEN
THE DEFENDANT HASBEEN CONVICTED OF THE UNDERLYING FELONY IN
FEDERAL COURT.

1168. Evans argues that Miss. Code Ann. 8§ 99-11-27 bars the State of Mississippi from prosecuting
him for capital murder while in the commission of a kidnapping following his guilty pleato federal
kidnapping charges. Evans and the State agree that this issue is one of first impression. Evans
concedes that a congtitutional claim of double jeopardy would be unsuccessful in light of Bankston v.
State, 236 So. 2d 757 (Miss.1970), and the dual sovereignty doctrine. See U.S. v. Lanza, 260 U.S.
377 (1922); Bartkus . lllinois, 359 U.S. 121 (1959), reh'd denied, 360 U.S. 907 (1959); Heath v.
Alabama, 474 U.S. 82 (1985). However, Evans argues that § 99-11-27 serves as a statutory bar, one
acknowledged by the United States Supreme Court in Bartkusv. Illinois, 359 U.S. 121 (1959),
reh'g denied, 360 U.S. 907 (1959).

1169. Miss. Code Ann. 8§ 99-11-27 provides:

Every person charged with an offense committed in another state, territory, or country may
plead aformer conviction or acquittal for the same offense in such other state, territory, or
country; and, if such plea be established, it shall be a bar to any further proceedings for the same
offense here.

(emphasis added).

91270. This Court has not had occasion to interpret this statute. However, when reviewing a statute
enacted by the legidature, this Court has established the following guidelines.

In considering a statute passed by the legislature, . . . the first question a court should decide is
whether the statute is ambiguous. If it is not ambiguous, the court should smply apply the
statute according to its plain meaning and should not use principles of statutory construction.
Pinkton v. State, 481 So. 2d 306 (Miss.1985); MISS CAL 204, LTD. v.Upchurch, 465 So. 2d



326 (Miss.1985); Mississippi Power Company v. Jones, 369 So. 2d 1381 (Miss.1979).
Whether the statute is ambiguous, or not, the ultimate goal of this Court in interpreting a statute
isto discern and give effect to the legidative intent. Anderson v.Lambert, 494 So. 2d 370, 372
(Miss.1986); Clark v. State ex. rel Mississippi State Med.Ass'n., 381 So. 2d 1046 (Miss.1980)

City of Natchez, Miss. v. Sullivan, 612 So. 2d 1087, 1089 (Miss.1992).

1171. Theinitial issue is whether § 99-11-27 applies when the prior conviction was for a federal
offense. The legidative history of this statute reveals no legidative intent. Originally enacted in 1848,
the language of the current statute has remained the same since 1871. See Hutchinson's Code, Ch.
59, § 2881.

1172. Miss. Code Ann. § 99-11-27 is unambiguous. The language clearly does not include the federal
government. Therefore, a prior federal conviction would not serve as a bar to a subsequent state
prosecution. Moreover, this interpretation of the statute is consistent with the principles of "dual
sovereignty” announced by the United States Supreme Court. The Supreme Court has repeatedly
held that principles of dual sovereignty will not bar a subsequent state prosecution following a federal
conviction.

There is no question that under the Federal Constitution a State may prosecute a defendant for
conduct which was already charged in either afedera indictment or an indictment from another
state because of the concept of "dual sovereignty." U.S. v. Lanza, 260 U.S. 377, 43 S.Ct. 141,
67 L.Ed. 314 (1922); Heath v. Alabama, 474 U.S. 82, 106 S.Ct. 433, 88 L.Ed.2d 387 (1985).
"The dual sovereignty doctrine is founded on the common law conception of crime as an
offense against the sovereignty of the government. When a defendant in asingle act violates the
'peace and dignity' of two sovereigns by breaking the laws of each, he has committed two
distinct 'offences.™ Heath, 474 U.S. at ---, 106 S.Ct. at 437, 88 L.Ed.2d at 394.

State v. King, 215 N.J. Super. 504, 512-513, 522 A.2d 455, 458 (1987).

1173. In Bankston v. State, 236 So. 2d 757, 759 (Miss.1970), this Court, following principles of
dual sovereignty, held that a prior federal conviction for bank robbery did not bar a subsequent state
prosecution for armed robbery. In upholding the state prosecution, this Court reiterated the words of
Chief Justice Taft, writing for a unanimous Court in United Statesv. Lanza, 260 U.S. 377, 382
(1922):

We have here two sovereigns, deriving power from different sources, capable of dealing with
the same subject matter within the same territory. . . . Each government in determining what
shall be an offense againgt its peace and dignity is exercising its own sovereignty, not that of the
other.

1174. However, Evans argues and the State concedes that several states have construed the statutory
phrase "ancther state, territory, or country" to include the federal government. See State v. Caliguri,
99 Wash. 2d 501, 512, 664 P.2d 466 (1983); Turner v. State, 94 Nev. 518, 583 P.2d 452, 453
(1978); Wilson v. State, 270 Ind. 67, 383 N.E. 2d 304 (1978); State v. West, 260 N.W. 2d 215
(1977); People v. Belcher, 11 Cal. 3d 91, 520 P.2d 385, 389 (1974); Peoplev. Lo Cicero, 14 N.Y.



2d 374, 200 N.E. 2d 622 (1964).

11175. We, however, are guided by the clear and unambiguous language of Miss. Code Ann. § 99-11-
27. Thereis smply no indication that this statute was intended to prevent a subsequent prosecution
by the State of Mississippi following afederal conviction. Had such a construction been intended
appropriate language could have been easily included. Moreover, our interpretation of the statute is
consistent with the long-standing doctrine of dual sovereignty announced in United Statesv. Lanza,
260 U.S. 377 (1922), and adhered to by this Court in Bankston v. State, 236 So. 2d 757, 759
(Miss.1970). Thereis no merit to thisissue.

X.WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING EVANS COMPETENT TO
STAND TRIAL.

11176. On June 4, 1993, defense counsel filed a Motion to Determine Competency. In aletter to the
trial court Evans objected to the pleadings and argued that his refusal to consult with his attorneys
was not the result of mental incompetency but rather his continued effort to maintain his right to
proceed pro se.

9177. On August 9-11, 1993, the tria court held an extensive hearing to determine whether Evans
was competent to stand trial. Seven of Evans current and former attorneys testified that Evans was
incompetent to stand trial. Dr. Marc Zimmerman testified on Evans behaf and concluded that Evans
was hot competent to stand trial. Dr. Henry Maggio, testifying for the State, concluded that Evans
was competent to stand trial.

11178. Evans now argues the tria court erred in finding that Evans was competent. For the sake of
clarity and brevity sub-issues raised by Evans have been consolidated.

A.WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN RULING THAT A DEFENDANT
MUST PROVE HISCOMPETENCY BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE.

11179. Evans argues that the trial court erroneously required Evans to prove his competency by
substantial evidence. Evans argues that although a defendant has the burden of production at a
competency hearing, the prosecution must prove by a preponderance that a defendant is competent to
stand trial.

1180. When making the ruling on competency, the trial court specifically stated that "[a]s stated in
Medinav. California, 505 U.S. 437, 448 (1992), reh'g denied, 505 U.S. 1244 (1992), the burden of
proof in this case rests upon the movants to prove by substantia evidence that the defendant is
mentally incompetent to stand trial." Thetria court concluded that the movants "failed in the
presentment of their case.”

1181. In Emanuel v. State, 412 So. 2d 1187, 1188-89 (1982), this Court announced the procedure
to be utilized where there is a serious question about an accused's sanity or competency to stand trial.
In Emanuel, this Court specifically held "[i]t naturally devolves upon the defendant to go forward
with the evidence to show his probable incapacity to make arational defense.”" |d. at 1188.

11182. The procedures set forth in Emanuel have been approved by the United States Supreme
Court. Griffin v. State, 504 So. 2d 186, 191 (Miss.1987). In Griffin, this Court held that although



on the federa level the prosecution is required to prove the competency of a crimina defendant by a
preponderance of the evidence, this Court would not impose a "greater burden on state officials,
especidly in light of the fact that our procedures for determining competency are specifically
designed to afford the accused due process of law and ensure that he is capable of making a rational
defense prior to being tried for the crime for which he is accused.” 1d. (citing Emanuel, 412 So.2d
1187 (Miss.1982)). In Griffin, this Court held that the State was not required to prove competency
beyond a reasonable doubt or by clear and convincing evidence.

1183. Moreover, in Medina v. California, 505 U.S. 437, 448 (1992), reh'g denied, 505 U.S. 1244
(1992), the United States Supreme Court held:

Once a State provides a defendant access to procedures for making a competency evaluation,
however, we perceive no basis for holding that due process further requires the State to assume
the burden of vindicating the defendant's constitutional right by persuading the trier of fact that
the defendant is competent to stand trial.

1184. In Medina, the Supreme Court concluded that the allocation of the burden of proof to a
criminal defendant to prove incompetence does not offend the Fourteenth Amendment. I d. at 445.

11185. The trial judge committed no error in holding that the burden of proof was alocated to the
defense. Thisissue is without merit.

B. WHETHER THE FINDING THAT EVANSWAS COMPETENT WAS AGAINST
THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

1186. As stated earlier, the procedures which govern a competency determination were set forth in
Emanuel v. State, 412 So. 2d 1187, 1188-89 (Miss.1982). See also Uniform Rule of Circuit and
County Court Practice Rule 9.06 (1996). In Emanuel, this Court held:

When the trial court has made a finding that the evidence does not show a probability that the
defendant is incapable of making arational defense, we will not overturn that finding unless we
can say, from the evidence, that the finding was manifestly against the overwhelming weight of
the evidence. The evidence must show more than a possibility that defendant is incompetent to
stand trial-the evidence must go further until it appears to the trial court that thereisa
probability that defendant is incapable of making arationa defense. In thisinitial inquiry, the
trial judge must weigh the evidence and be the trier of the facts.

Emanuel, 412 So. 2d at 1189.

11187. At the hearing on the Motion to Determine Competency, Evansfirst called Dr. Marc
Zimmerman, clinical psychologist with a sub-specialty in forensic psychology. Dr. Zimmerman
testified that he visited with Evans on two occasions at the Harrison County Detention Center for a
total of approximately ten hours. Zimmerman testified he administered both an MMPI (Minnesota
Multiphasic Personality Inventory) and the Short Categories Test. Zimmerman testified that he
reviewed Evans VA and Texas Department of Corrections records; spoke with several of Evans
attorneys and jail personnel; and reviewed pleadings and correspondence drafted by Evans.

11188. Zimmerman concluded that Evans did not have sufficient capabilities to rationally understand



the proceedings against him or to enable him to consult with counsel. Zimmerman also testified that
Evans demonstrated psychotic symptoms, such as delusions of persecution and grandeur which
prevented him from interacting with counsel in arational manner because he believed that his
attorneys were involved in a conspiracy against him. On cross-examination, Zimmerman highlighted
portions of letters written by Evans which purportedly demonstrated the delusions. However,
Zimmerman conceded that an individual may be delusiona without being psychotic. Moreover,
Zimmerman agreed that Evans had been factually correct in representations made to the court.

11189. Zimmerman concluded that Evans displayed symptoms of paranoid schizophrenia and may
have a so suffered from organic brain dysfunction. Zimmerman's testimony was consistent with prior
psychological evaluations wherein Evans was diagnosed as suffering from schizophrenia and
personality disorders.

11190. Evans second witness was Capital Defense Association staff attorney John Holdridge.
Holdridge testified that he was asked to visit Evans during 1992 by Evans advisory counsel, James
Tucker, and thereafter, had weekly telephone conversations with Evans. Holdridge testified that
although intelligent, Evans was not competent to stand trial because Evans did not have the ability to
confer with counsel nor did he possess a rational and factual understanding of the proceedings.
Holdridge testified that Evans could advise his counsel but not in arational manner. For example,
Holdridge testified that he could not gain any information from Evans about possible mitigation in the
pending proceedings.

1191. Holdridge testified that he had met Evans twice and that Evans became incredibly irrational
during stressful situations. On cross-examination, Holdridge conceded that Evans had a factual
understanding of the proceedings, but did not understand that an execution would actually take place.
Holdridge testified that he had seen Evans make objections and that Evans "is a very smart guy and
knows alot about the law." Holdridge testified that he never denied that Evans could make legal
arguments, but he could not determine how sound the argument is.

1192. Evans dso called attorney Jim Davis, who represented Evans for approximately one month
during 1991. Davis, like Holdridge, testified that he was unable to get Evans to speak about the
pending charges during meetings, but rather Evans rambled about collateral matters. Davis testified
that Evans was irrational; would not follow advice; and became violent on one occasion. Davis
testified that Evans did not possess a rational or factual understanding of the proceedings. On cross-
examination, Davis conceded that the majority of defendants trust a public defender lessthan a
retained attorney. Davis also testified that there had been a competency hearing in Texas relating to
pending criminal charges wherein Evans had been found competent to stand trial.

1193. Dale Robinson, a Gulfport attorney appointed to represent Evans for approximately three
weeks, was Evans next witness. Robinson testified that he met with Evans on two occasions for a
total of eight hours and shortly thereafter filed a motion to withdraw. Robinson testified that although
Evans had a factual understanding of the proceedings, he was not able to consult with his attorneys in
arational manner. Robinson testified that Evans was unable to carry on a coherent conversation and
did not trust him. Robinson testified that as formal proceedings grew closer the pressure would
"cause him to lose whatever little control he continues to lose more and more." On cross-
examination, Robinson testified that although Evans did file motions and make objections, he did not



make rational decisions.

11194. James Tucker, Evans standby counsel for approximately nine months, testified that he was
unable to get Evansto help to prepare the case for trial. Tucker testified that Evans was irrational
and would not discuss the facts of the case although Evans understood the pending charges and was
aware of the potential sentence. Tucker conceded that various motions filed by Evans were
articulated in a coherent fashion and that legal research requested by Evans on various issues did
appear to be on point with pending legal issues. Moreover, Tucker testified that at times Evans
simply did not want to make decisions.

11195. Fred Lusk, Evans appointed attorney on federal kidnapping charges, testified that he
represented Evans for approximately two months on state charges. Lusk testified that he requested a
competency evaluation prior to the federal guilty plea primarily for his own protection, however,
after the guilty plea hearing he became more concerned about Evans competency. Lusk testified that
Evans had the ability to understand and respond and was very adamant with his opinions. However,
Lusk testified that Evans refused to discuss the facts of the case after he was appointed to represent
Evans on state capital murder charges because Evans wanted to proceed pro se. Lusk testified that
Evans was very remorseful and wanted the death penalty, but also did things for attention and sought
control.

11196. William S. Boyd, 111, Evans defense counsel at trid, testified that he initially believed Evans
was rational. Boyd testified that Evans had some working knowledge of the court system, but would
not discuss the preparation of a defense. Rather, Evans only wished to discuss collateral matters.
Boyd testified that Evans later began exhibiting signs of paranoia and extreme mistrust. Boyd testified
that Evans wanted control and would go into arage if not in control. Boyd testified that of
approximately 120 hours of telephone conversations with Evans approximately two hours were
productive. Boyd testified that Evans did not possess a sufficient ability to consult with an attorney
nor did Evans have arational and factual understanding of the proceedings brought against him.
However, on cross-examination, Boyd agreed that Evans understood the charges against him and the
possible sentence. Boyd also conceded that Evans had been rationa at different times since his arrest.

11197. Defense attorney, Donald Smith indicated, via proffer to the court, that his testimony would be
cumulative of Boyd and the opinions were identical. Smith did not testify.

1198. Dr. Henry Maggio, psychiatrist, was the final witness. Maggio testified that he was asked to
evaluate Evansin 1991 in conjunction with the federa guilty plea. Maggio testified that the interview
lasted approximately three and a half hours, however, for approximately two hours Evans spoke with
his attorney about locating bodies in other murder cases Evans claimed to have committed.

11199. Evans eventually began his interview with Maggio. Based on his observations and formal
evaluation, Maggio concluded that Evans was of normal intelligence and competent to assist counsel
and to stand trial. At that time, Maggio did not make aformal diagnosis. Maggio testified that
although Evans was very manipulative, he was oriented to person, place, time and situation, and
possessed an excellent memory.

1200. Maggio evaluated Evans for purposes of the state capital murder prosecution during August,
1993. Prior to thisvisit, Maggio received Evans prior mental health records. Maggio testified that



when he arrived Evans was on the phone with his attorney and refused to speak. Maggio testified that
Evans was "collected, in complete control and manipulative." Following this second examination,
Maggio again concluded that Evans was competent to stand trial. Maggio testified that he found no
evidence of psychosis or schizophrenia. Rather, Maggio concluded that Evans suffers from mixed
personality disorder with paranoid and grandiose features. Maggio described individuals with such
disorders as "intact with reality, [aware of] what they are doing, . . . keen, shrewd, manipulative,
cunning, [and] . . . commonly known as a con artist." Maggio concluded that Evans has the ability to
understand the nature and extent of charges against him as well as the ability to cooperate with
counsdl if he so chooses.

1201. On cross-examination, Maggio testified that some assumptions he operated under when
formulating his opinion were based on newspaper accounts and conceded that he was irritated with
Evans during the evaluation. Maggio disagreed with the previous diagnosis of schizophrenia because
Evans did not demonstrate symptoms for a six month period, but acknowledged that Evans had been
hospitalized four times for schizophrenia and personality disorders. However, Evans was never under
observation for a six-month period and each facility released Evans because he was not
psychiatrically incompetent.

1202. After hearing extensive testimony, the trial court found that substantial evidence demonstrated
that Evans was competent to stand trial. In reaching this conclusion the trial judge noted that he
placed great value on Evans appearance and demeanor during court appearances as well as the
multitude of motions filed by Evans, each of which demonstrated Evans understanding of the nature
of the charges against him and his ability to rationally confer with counsel.

1203. Evans, however, argues that the findings of the trial court demonstrate that the trial judge
"ignored the testimony of seven attorneys' who testified that Evans was incompetent to stand trial.
As argued by Evans, the United States Supreme Court in Medina v. California, 505 U.S. 437, 450
(1992), reh'g denied, 505 U.S. 1244 (1992), acknowledged that "defense counsel will often have the
best-informed view of the defendant's ability to participate in his defense." Despite Evans claims,
there is no indication that the trial court ignored the testimony of the attorneys. Rather, the trial court
allowed extensive questioning of each attorney, followed by questions by the court. Moreover, the
trial court specifically indicated that he had relied on the testimony of attorneys Tucker, Lusk and
Boyd in making his decision.

1204. Additionally, areview of the testimony reveals that all of the attorneys conceded that Evans did
possess afactual understanding of the proceedings and the charges against him. However, conflicting
evidence was presented on the issue of whether Evans could or smply chose not to rationally confer
with counsal and aid in his own defense. This type of conflict is properly resolved by the trier of fact.

1205. Evans aso argues that the trial court discounted and ignored the testimony of Dr. Zimmerman,
the defense psychologist, because Zimmerman was not a psychiatrist. Evans argues that the trial
judge labored under a misconception that a psychiatrist was at a "higher and more respected level
than a psychologist.”

1206. Evans correctly argues that psychologists are considered competent to evaluate criminal
defendants. The record demonstrates the trial judge did have some concerns over the exact subject
matter about which aclinical psychologist could testify. Specifically, the trial court was concerned



about Zimmerman's testimony about medications. During voir dire, the record reflects that
Zimmerman testified that psychologists and psychiatrists function similarly in the clinical evaluation
of individuas, but that psychiatrists are medically-trained and may prescribe medication. The tria
court smply required Zimmerman to confine his testimony within the bounds of expertise developed
on voir dire. While the tria court noted the differences between a medically-trained psychiatrist and a
psychologist, there is no indication in the record that the trial court ignored Zimmerman's testimony.

1207. We are faced with a record which reveals a great deal of conflict and tension among Evans and
his attorneys, and conflicting evidence about whether Evans could not or would not aid in the
preparation of his defense. The record, however, demonstrates that Evans has the ability to recall
events, relate those events and has an excellent memory. There was no dispute that Evans understood
the proceedings and charges against him. The conflict in testimony, however, arises over Evans
response to this knowledge. Initialy, Evans refused to accept the advice given by his attorneys and
chose instead to make statements to law enforcement. Each attorney believed thisto be irrational.
While Evans perhaps made decisions contrary to his attorneys advice, thisis not the equivalent of
mental incompetency. Evans clearly preferred to proceed pro se and did not want the services of an
attorney. As aresult, Evans was uncooperative with each of the seven attorneys appointed to
represent him. However, throughout the trial, Evans consistently displayed an awareness of the
proceedings as well as an ability to make objections and confer with counsel and the tria court. There
is no dispute that Evans, throughout his lifetime, has been treated for various mental disorders,
however, as noted by Dr. Maggio, one suffering from mental illness may be rational and competent to
stand trial. From the evidence presented at the hearing, the trial court's decision does not appear to be
against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. Thisissue is without merit.

XI.WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO INSTRUCT THE
JURY ON THE OFFENSE OF MURDER.

1208. When reviewing challenges to jury instructions denied by atria court, this Court utilizes the
following standard:

Where the jury could, based on the evidence presented find [Evans] not guilty of the crime
charged, but guilty of the lesser included offense, alesser included offense instruction is
warranted. Toliver v. State, 600 So.2d 186, 192 (Miss.1992); Fairchild v. State, 459 So. 2d
793 (Miss.1984). Where [Evans| has requested the jury be instructed on alesser charge, this
Court will look at the evidence in the light most favorable to [Evans] in determining whether
such was warranted. Taylor v. State, 577 So. 2d 381, 383 (Miss.1991). If arational or a
reasonable jury could find [Evans] not guilty to the principal offense charged in the indictment
yet guilty of the lesser-included offense, then the lesser included offense instruction should be
granted. Monroe v. State, 515 So. 2d 860, 863 (Miss. 1987).

Davisv. State, 684 So.2d 643, 656-7 (Miss.1996).

1209. Evans argues that a murder instruction was warranted because Beatrice's mother consented to
Beatrice accompanying Evans for the purpose of performing sexual acts for money. Evans argues
that Giles consent negated the elements of the underlying felony of kidnapping. This Court has
repeatedly held that alesser-included offense instruction is warranted only where there is an
evidentiary basisfor it. Davis v. State, 684 So. 2d 643 (Miss.1996); Mease v. State, 539 So. 2d



1324, 1330 (Miss.1989). Because there was no evidentiary basis for ainstruction on the offense of
murder, the trial court did not err. The evidence, viewed in the light most favorable to Evans, clearly
demonstrated that a kidnapping occurred. Miss. Code Ann. 8§ 97-3-53 sets forth the offense of
kidnapping. In Hughes v. State, 401 So. 2d 1100 (Miss.1981), this Court restated the statute to
clearly set forth the elements of kidnapping:

Every person who shall, without lawful authority

(2) forcibly seize and confine any other;

(2) or shdl inveigle or kidnap any other

(3) with intent

(a) to cause such person to be secretly confined or imprisoned in the state against his will,
(b) or to cause such other person to be sent out of this state against his will,

(c) or to cause such other person

(2) to be deprived of hisliberty,

(2) or inany way held to service against hiswill . . .

Under the statute the state must prove that a person, without lawful authority either (1) forcibly
seized and confined another person, or (2) inveigled or kidnapped another person, intending to
subject such person to either (a), (b), or (c) above.

Id. at 1105. (emphasis added).

1210. Evans confession clearly establishes the requisite elements of kidnapping. In his confession,
Evans stated:

| led them to believe that | was going to the store to pick up some bar-b-que items that we
could bar-b-que on the beach. And ah | told them | also had to stop and make some phone calls,
to try to help them get situated in an apartment, | was gonnatry to get them some gas money,
cause they were out of gas. When | went to the store | went under the, when I left, with them
feeling that | had the intention to go to the store and buy some other stuff and do some other
errands. . . .

1211. When he continued driving rather than stopping at the store, Evans told investigators that:

Beatrice kept on asking where are you going, where are you going. And | also told Bestrice at
this time that | was gonna buy her some t-shirts and stuff. We stopped at the store and | bought
her an ice cream cone and it was at thistime that | purchased some duct tape. It was a store en
route to 1-10. At this time Beatrice asked concerned where we were going, she kept on asking
where we are going, I, | deluded her into thinking and believing that ah the way we were going
was around-about way, it was like aloop of the Gulfport area.

1212. In Wilcher v. State, 455 So. 2d 727, 731 (Miss.1984), cert. denied, 470 U.S. 1034 (1985),



vacated in part, 635 U.S. 789 (1993), this Court held that the crime of kidnapping may be
accomplished by trickery and deceit. Wilcher intentionally gave the victims the wrong directions to
his home in order to lead them to a deserted place where he intended to rob them. Here, asin
Wilcher, the evidence showed that Evans led Giles and Beatrice to believe that he was going to the
store to purchase groceries for a barbecue. Moreover, Evans unequivocally stated that his intentions
were to "rape and kill" from the time he left Jones Park with Beatrice.

1213. Despite his present claims, there is smply no evidence that Giles understood that Evans
intended to rape and murder her daughter. Evans stated in his confession that Giles and the others
understood that Evans was only taking Beatrice "to buy groceries' and that they would return in
approximately one hour. Moreover, Evans indicated that "they did not know my intentions at the
time" and that he and Giles "made no agreements” regarding her "offer" for Beatrice to perform
sexual acts for Evans.

1214. Although Evans cites Giles v. State, 650 So. 2d 846 (Miss.1995), in arguing that he was
denied an opportunity to present his defense theory to the jury, Gilesis distinguishable. Giles was
indicted for capital murder with the underlying felony of sexua battery. However, at the time of trial,
Miss. Code Ann. 8 97-3-99 provided that a person was not guilty of sexua battery if the alleged
victim was that person's legal spouse and at the time of the alleged offense such person and the
alleged victim were not separated and living apart. The evidence that Giles was married to the victim
at the time of the offense was uncontradicted. Although the evidence at trial demonstrated that Giles
and the victim were living apart, this Court held the instruction was warranted.

1215. Unlike Giles, there is no evidence to support a murder instruction in the case subjudice. Given
the evidence in this record, a reasonable jury could not have found Evans not guilty of capital
murder. The jury was instructed that they were required to find each element aleged by the State in
the indictment beyond a reasonable doubt. Moreover, the jury was given the opportunity to sentence
Evans to life imprisonment rather than the death penalty. See Davisv. State, 684 So. 2d 643, 657
(Miss.1996), cert. denied, 117 S.Ct. 1437 (1997). Thisissue is without merit.

XI1.WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENSE
OBJECTIONSTO JURY INSTRUCTIONS REGARDING VENUE AND WHETHER
HARRISON COUNTY LACKED JURISDICTION TO BRING SEXUAL BATTERY
CHARGES.

1216. Evans next challenges Jury Instructions S-1C and S-9 as incorrect statements of law.
Instruction S-1C reads as follows:

If you believe from al the evidence in this case, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the Defendant,
Donad Leroy Evans, on or about August 1, 1991, in the First Judicial District of Harrison
County, Mississippi, did wilfully, unlawfully and felonioudy inveigle or kidnap Beatrice Louise
Routh, with intent to cause Beatrice Louise Routh to be imprisoned against her will, and, while
in the commission of said kidnapping, did, with or without deliberate design, then and there, kill
Beatrice Louise Routh, a human being, regardless of where such killing took place, and without
authority of law, then the defendant is guilty of Capital Murder in Count I, and it iS your sworn
duty to say so by your verdict.



If the State has failed to prove any one or more of these elements beyond a reasonable doubt,
then you shall find the Defendant Not Guilty of Capital Murder in Count 1.

1217. Evans, relying on Pruett v. State, 431 So. 2d 1101, 1105 (Miss.1983), cert. denied, 464 U.S.
865 (1983), and after raising a proper objection at trial, argues that Instruction S-1C failed to require
the jury to find that the alleged kidnapping continued unbroken until Beatrice was murdered in
Louisiana.

1218. In Pruett, the defendant was charged with capital murder with the underlying felony of
kidnapping. There, the victim was kidnapped and taken hostage during a bank robbery in Hinds
County. Pruett drove the victim to Sumter County, Alabama, where he forced the victim to disrobe in
order to keep her under his control. Pruett left the victim for a short period in order to return to his
car to take a shot of cocaine, after which he returned to the area and murdered the victim.

1219. Pruett argued that Mississippi lacked jurisdiction because the killing occurred in Alabama.
Pruett argued that although the kidnapping commenced in Mississippi, the period of time wherein he
left the victim to return to his vehicle "broke the chain of events constituting the ‘capital murder'.” In
Pruett, this Court held "[a]t least it was for the jury to determine whether appellant abandoned the
kidnapping and then resumed the act as a mere 'murder.™ I d. at 1105.

9220. Here, as in Pruett, Evans was charged with capital murder with the underlying felony of
kidnapping. Evans confession, which is uncontradicted, indicates that Beatrice waskilled in
Louisiana. Thus, it was for the jury to determine whether Beatrice was murdered while Evans was
engaged in a kidnapping.

1221. The jury was instructed in S-1C that they had to find that Evans killed Beatrice "while in the
commission of akidnapping.” Implicit in this language is the requirement that the jury find that Evans
was engaged in or committing the offense of kidnapping. Thus, as argued by Evans, the jury in the
case sub judice was required to find the kidnapping unbroken until Beatrice was murdered in
Louisiana.

1222. Moreover, the record reflects ample evidence from which the jury could conclude that Evans
was engaged in a kidnapping which originated in Harrison County and continued into the State of
Louisiana. Evans stated that he led Beatrice and her mother to believe that he was only going to the
store to purchase items for a barbecue. This was confirmed by Sherry Lynn Vincent (Wilson) and
Betty Vincent. Evans aso stated that when Beatrice became concerned about the fact that he failed
to stop at a grocery store he deceived her into believing that they were simply traveling around
Gulfport. Moreover, Evans stated that his intentions were to "rape and kill" when he left with
Bestrice.

9223. Like Pruett, Evans maintained complete control over his victim until he reached Louisiana.
Evans statement establishes that he initially gained control over Bestrice by trickery and deceit and
thereafter maintained control by trickery and deceit. Although Evans stopped momentarily in
Hancock County to purchase ice cream and duct tape, Beatrice remained under his control. Thereis
simply no indication that Evans ever abandoned the kidnapping. See also Thorson v. State, 653 So.
2d 876, 895 (Miss.1994); Erwin v. State, 557 So. 2d 799, 800 (Miss.1990). Moreover, Miss. Code
Ann. 8§ 99-11-17 clearly states:



Where an offense is commenced in this state and consummated out of it, either directly or by
the accused or by any means or agency procured by or proceeding from him, he may be indicted
and tried in the county in which such offense commenced or from which such means or agency
proceeded.

1224. Evans also argues that Instruction S-9 was error. Instruction S-9 reads as follows:

The Court instructs the Jury that in considering Counts |1 and I11 of the Indictment, it does not
matter what county or state the sexual battery (ies) occurred in aslong as you find beyond a
reasonable doubt that the kidnapping commenced in the First Judicia District of Harrison
County, Mississippi.

1225. Evans argues that Harrison County lacked both venue and jurisdiction over sexual battery
charges. Evans argues that in Pruett, this Court relied on the fact that Pruett was charged with
capital murder during the commission of kidnapping. There, this Court held that the "killing of Mrs.
Lowe in Alabama could not have been capital murder unless she first had been kidnapped. The acts
are inseparable under that crime." Pruett, 431 So. 2d at 1105. Here, however, Evans argues that
there is no authority which holds that a "when a defendant commits an offense against avictimin a
county, the defendant may be tried in that county for all offenses he has committed against the
victim."

1226. In Erwin v. State, 557 So. 2d 799, 800 (Miss.1990), the appellant challenged venue and
jurisdiction of the trial court. This Court held that venue and jurisdiction were proper where the
"evidence clearly show[ed] that the kidnapping and violence leading to the rape clearly commenced at
the Majik Mart, clearly established to be in Jackson County." | d.

1227. Here, asin Erwin, the evidence at trial clearly established that the kidnapping which eventually
led to the sexual assault of Beatrice commenced in Harrison County. Moreover, Evans, in hisown
words, stated that his intentions were to "rape and kill" from the time he left Jones Park, which was
established to be in Harrison County. See Miss. Code Ann. § 99-11-17.

1228. Aswith Instruction S-1C, Evans argues that Instruction S-9 failed to instruct the jury that it
must find that the kidnapping continued unbroken until the time of the sexual batteries. Here, as
reflected in Erwin, the jury was instructed that it had to find beyond a reasonable doubt that the
kidnapping "commenced in Harrison County." Therefore, this instruction was proper. Moreover,
there is no affirmative requirement in Pruett that ajury be instructed that they must find the
kidnapping continued unbroken.

1229. Evans also argues that language in Instruction S-9 constituted a directed verdict on the
kidnapping offense. Specifically, Evans argues that rather than "the kidnapping" the instruction
should have stated "a kidnapping.” "When considering a challenge against a jury instruction, the
instructions should be read and considered as awhole." Williams v. State, 684 So. 2d 1179, 1202
(Miss.1996)(citing Roundtree v. State, 568 So. 2d 1173, 1177 (Miss.1990)). The language in S-9
did not constitute a directed verdict. First, the jury was instructed by Instruction C-1A that they were
not to single out one instruction alone as stating the law but must consider the instructions as a
whole. Moreover, the jury was repeatedly instructed that they were required to find each and every
element of the kidnapping offense beyond a reasonable doubt. This issue without merit.



XIT.WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SUSTAINING THE OBJECTION
TO THE QUESTIONING OF WITNESS SHERRY LYNN WILSON CONCERNING
THE ARREST OF TAMMY GILES, THE VICTIM'SMOTHER, AND IN PLACING
CONDITIONSUPON THE ABILITY OF THE DEFENSE TO CALL TAMMY GILES
AS AN ADVERSE WITNESS.

1230. Evans argues that the trial court erred in sustaining the State's objection to the cross-
examination of defense witness Sherry Lynn Wilson, therefore prohibiting Evans from questioning
Wilson about the arrest of Tammy Giles, Beatrice's mother. The record reveals that defense counsel
conceded that Evans intended to call Tammy Giles as an adverse witness. As aresult, the trial court
ruled that questioning regarding the arrest of Tammy Giles as an accessory before the fact to sexua
battery should be developed through Giles and not Wilson.

1231. Evans now argues there was no legal basis for the ruling by the trial judge and that the fact that
the defense intended to call Giles as an adverse witness should not have precluded questioning
Wilson about Giles' arrest. Despite his argument regarding the thwarted cross-examination of Wilson,
Evans cites no authority to support his contentions. "An assignment of error, unsupported by any
authority, 'lacks persuasion’ on review." Williams v. State, 684 So. 2d 1179, 1202 (Miss.1996)
(quoting Johnson v. State, 626 So. 2d 631, 634 (Miss.1993)); Smith v. State, 430 So. 2d 406, 407
(Miss.1983); cert. denied, 498 U.S. 1033 (1991)).

1232. The record reveals the trial court denied Evans' attempted cross-examination of Wilson on the
grounds of relevancy. "A tria judge enjoys a great deal of discretion as to the relevancy and
admissibility of evidence. Unless the judge abuses his discretion so as to be prgjudicia to the accused,
the Court will not reverse thisruling." Fisher v. State, 690 So.2d 268, 274 (Miss.1996)(quoting
Shearer v. State, 423 So. 2d 824, 826 (Miss.1982)).

1233. Relevant evidence is defined by M.R.E. 401 as "evidence having any tendency to make the
existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less
probable than it would be without the evidence." However, "[a]lthough relevant, evidence may be
excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the. . . needless presentation of
cumulative evidence." M.R.E. 403.

1234. Defense counsel argued that he wished to question Wilson about Giles' arrest, however, during
the bench conference counsel admitted that he intended to call Giles as an adverse witness. The trial
court then ruled that the information sought by counsel should be inquired about by questioning
Giles, rather than Wilson. Having voiced their intentions to call Giles as an adverse witness, thisline
of questioning of Wilson was clearly cumulative and was properly excluded by the trial court. There
was no abuse of discretion.

1235. Evans also argues that the trial court placed "legally-insupportable conditions on the
defendant's ability to call Giles at the guilt-innocence phase of the trial.” Evans wished to call Gilesto
testify as to her statements made to law enforcement during August 1991 wherein Giles indicated
that she allowed her daughter to go with Evans and perform sexual favorsin order to obtain money
for the family. Specifically, Evans argues that the trial court ruled that the defense could call Giles
"only if she conceded the facts in her police statements, and not if the defense merely intended to



cross examine her with those statements, which he termed hearsay."

1236. After completing its case-in-chief, the State made a motion in limine seeking to prohibit the
defense from calling witnesses Brad Necaise and Tammy Giles on the ground that the testimony of
these witnesses was irrelevant. After entertaining argument on the motion, the trial court overruled
the State's motion as to Necaise, but partially granted the motion with regard to Giles. During the
argument on the motion, defense counsel addressed the relevancy of Giles testimony as follows:

It all goesto the question of inveiglement. The mother allowed the child to go, she knew what
she was going for, and the point is what we're getting at is we're attacking the underlying felony
in this matter of kidnapping. That there was a consensual letting the child go regardless of the
homicide aspect of this. There is the underlying felony of kidnapping which we have aright to
introduce evidence concerning the issue of whether or not there was in fact inveiglement of the
victim in this matter.

1237. In response to argument by the State that parental consent was irrelevant to the kidnapping of
achild over the age of ten years of age pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-53, defense counsel
additionally argued that:

The statement by Tammy Giles says that Beatrice Routh on her own came up with the idea of
going with Mr. Evans for the purpose of obtaining money, that she disagreed with her but she
allowed her to go. That this was something that -- that according to the mother, was dreamed
up in the mind of the victim. And it goes to show the victim's state of mind in this thing and her
intentions and the intentions of her mother. They discussed the matter.

After hearing argument by counsel, the trial court indicated that their were hearsay problems with
Giles testimony. Specifically, the trial judge voiced his concerns over whether Giles would admit or
deny the content of her prior statements. The court stated:

If she saysthat that's fine, but if she doesn't say that on the stand I'm looking at an issue as the
ground rules have been laid by Mr. Smith that he anticipates, or Mr. Martin, one or the other,
he anticipates attacking her with this 12, 14-day old statement in the event she doesn't say that.
So | agree with you on the first part. If she comes up here and swears that's what was in the
girl'smind at that time that's fine, but | don't know as to whether or not you can attack her.

When asked by the trial judge exactly what Giles was expected to testify to, defense counsel

indicated that Giles had refused to speak to them. The trial judge then directed the district attorney to
instruct Giles to speak with defense counsel. Defense counsel spoke with Giles, and announced they
would not call her during the guilt-innocence phase, but would do so during the sentencing phase.

1238. No proffer asto the content of Giles' testimony was made nor was a definite ruling secured
from the trial judge on thisissue. From the record, the trial court did not deny Evans the right to call
Giles as an adverse witness, but rather simply made cautionary observations about the hearsay
problems with testimony defense counsel sought to elicit from Giles. After speaking with Giles,
defense counsel announced that they would not call Giles.

1239. In Gayten v. State, 595 So. 2d 409, 413 (Miss.1992), this Court held that the failure to seek a



definitive ruling on objections or to seek corrective action by the defendant waives the issue for the
purposes of appeal. See also Cole v. State, 525 So. 2d 365, 369 (Miss.1987), cert. denied, 488 U.S.
934 (1988), reh'g denied, 488 U.S. 1023 (1989); Cummings v. State, 465 So. 2d 993, 996
(Miss.1985). Moreover, this Court has repeatedly held that "when testimony is excluded at tria, a
record must be made of the proffered testimony in order to preserve the point for appea." Gates v.
State, 484 So. 2d 1002, 1008 (Miss.1986). In Settles v. State, 584 So. 2d 1260, 1265 (Miss.1991),
this Court stated "if a proffer is required in the face of an erroneous ruling, surely no lessisrequired
to preserve the issue where no ruling is made." Evans' failure to seek a definite ruling by the trial
court combined with the lack of a proffer of Giles testimony waives thisissue. Thisissue is without
merit.

XIV.WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT FAILED TO PROHIBIT PROSECUTORIAL
MISCONDUCT.

1240. Evans next argues that several comments by the prosecuting attorney constituted misconduct.
Evans challenges these comments on four bases: (1) improper personal opinion; (2) improper
bolstering of expert testimony; (3) improper argument asking the jury to "send a message"; and (4)
improper reference to victim characteristics.

7241. Evans first argues that the prosecutor improperly injected personal opinion into closing
argument by using the the pronoun "1". In Nixon v. State, 533 So. 2d 1078, 1100 (Miss.1987), this
Court held:

Prosecutors should refrain from interjecting persona beliefs into the presentation of their cases.
U.S.v. Young, 470 U.S. 1, 8, 105 S.Ct. 1038, 1043, 84 L.Ed.2d 1, 8 (1985). A prosecutor may
strike hard blows, but he is not at liberty to strike foul ones. Berger v. U.S,, 295 U.S. 78, 88, 55
S.Ct. 629, 633, 79 L.Ed. 1314, 1321 (1935).

A review of the record below reveals that defense objected to only one of the comments now
presented for review on appeal. In Johnson v. State, 477 So. 2d 196, 209-10 (Miss.1985), cert.
denied, 476 U.S. 1109 (1986), reh'g denied, 476 U.S. 1189 (1986), this Court held:

We next observe it isthe duty of atrial counsd, if he deems opposing counsel overstepping the
wide range of authorized argument, to promptly make objections and insist upon aruling by the
trial court. Thetrial judge first determines if the objection should be sustained or overruled. If
the argument is improper, and the objection is sustained, it is the further duty of trial counsel to
move for amistrial. The circuit judge is in the best position to weigh the consequences of the
objectionable argument, and unless serious and irreparable damage has been done, admonish the
jury then and there to disregard the improper comment.

1242. The contemporaneous objection rule remains applicable in death penalty cases. Williams, 684
So. 2d at 1203. Alternatively, without waiving the procedural bar, this Court may address the merits
of an assignment of error. The language claimed by Evans to be improper isitalicized.

1243. (i) During closing argument at the guilt-innocence phase of the trial, the prosecutor made the
following statements:



(a) Now | don't know what the defense was doing in this case when they called, what was his
name, Brad Necaise. Brad Necaise had nothing to say as far as|I'm concerned. All he did was
confirm what every else has aready said, that on that occasion Donad Leroy Evans was in fact
in Jones Park, and that the victim in this case was in fact in the jeep and talked to somebody.

In Davisv. State, 684 So. 2d 643, 655 (Miss.1996), this Court held:

[ The prosecutor] may comment upon any facts introduced into evidence. He may draw
whatever deductions seem to him proper from these facts, so long as he does not use violent
and abusive language, and even in many cases incentives may be justified and even cdled for, as
pointed out by Chief Justice Whitfield in Gray v. State, 90 Miss. 235, 43 So. 289 [1907].

(citations omitted). Here, the prosecutor was ssimply commenting on facts introduced into evidence
and reasonabl e deductions from that evidence. There was no impermissible argument.

(b) Now, they continue to admit on one and two so I'm not going to spend alot of time on
those either. | really feel like you could go right now but | have a duty, folks, and so let me feel
like | do my part, | think Mr. Martin has taken care of our job and | didn't hear anything from
the other side that appealed to me. But remember when we went through all that questions on
voir dire and we took alittle bit longer than some of you wanted us to because we were going
down through and trying to talk to everybody. So let me just make sure that my obvious is your
obvious before we get into this.

InBluev. State, 674 So. 2d 1184, 1208 (Miss.1996), cert. denied, 117 S.Ct. 588 (1996), this Court
held that "it is error to argue statements of fact which are not in evidence or not necessarily inferable
to it, and which are prejudicial to the defense." Chase v. State, 645 So. 2d 829, 855 (Miss.1994),
cert. denied, 115 S.Ct. 2279 (1995), reh'g denied, 116 S.Ct. 20 (1995); Nixon v. State, 533 So. 2d
1078, 1100 (Miss.1987), cert. denied, 490 U.S. 1102 (1989), reh'g denied, 492 U.S. 932 (1989).
This comment did not refer to factsin evidence or inferences from the evidence, but rather was
clearly one expressing personal opinion regarding the strength of Evans defense. However, when the
entire line of closing argument is read in context, it is clear that the prosecutor was making
introductory remarks prior to reviewing the testimony of the witnesses at trial and arguing inferences
and conclusions from that testimony. The prosecutor made it clear that the conclusions he was
making could be drawn from the evidence.

(c) Now whatever piece of skin that Dr. Riddick found an anusin may be of some interests at a
pathologists convention, but to thisjury it doesn't raise reasonable doubt, doesit?| don't think
0.

Asin Blue, it would have been more appropriate for the prosecutor to draw inferences without
stating his personal opinion. However, as this Court stated in Blue, "the very purpose of an advocate
isto help the jury draw conclusions from the evidence and to make suggestions as to a proper
conclusion." Blue, 674 So. 2d at 1208 (quoting Peyton v. State, 286 So. 2d 817, 819 (Miss.1973)).

(d) Now that's what we had in there. We're at a very important part of this case. We all seem
that we're focusing on count three right now, but we still heard from some of these witnesses
that only talked about count one and two, and what was that? The two women. There the



defense is reaching for reasonable doubt. They want to pull something out of this for their
client. They have a hard job, and you know | told you that these fellows and the State are not
enemies, the defense counsel, but we have met our burden on all three counts, and the skill of
those lawyers to try to raise reasonable doubt when none exist[s] cannot appeal to you. Y ou
can't reward the lawyers for excellent work that they have done in a hard, hard case by giving
them a bone. We have earned a verdict on al three counts, and that's what we ask you to return
at this time so that we can get on with the important part of this case.

Although in the nature of personal opinion, this line of argument did not express a belief in the guilt
or innocence of Evans, but rather merely indicated to the jury that this was a difficult case. Surely,
there was no dispute about the level of difficulty surrounding the prosecution or defense. Moreover,
the prosecutor correctly stated that the jurors could not by their verdict reward defense attorneys for
ajob well done, but rather were required to rely on the evidence. The prosecutor smply argued to
the jury that it must consider the evidence and not be swayed by their like or didlike of the attorneys.
Thereis no misstatement of law. This line of argument was not improper.

9244. (ii) During closing argument at the sentencing phase the prosecutor made the following
statements:

(a) May it please the court, counsel opposite, ladies and gentlemen of the jury. | almost fed like
I'm at aloss for words right now because | feel that we have proven beyond a reasonable
doubt so many aggravating circumstances, the weight of which is just so totally overwhelmed
that even if you thought that everything that the defense submitted to you was mitigating
circumstances they wouldn't even move the scale at all. That our aggravating circumstances
weigh so much that no matter what they put on the other side of that scale it's going to stay
there on the floor. That it's not going to move.

This comment is quite similar to that challenged in Nixon, 533 So.2d 1078 (Miss.1987), where the
prosecutor argued: "We believe that once we have adduced our evidence that you will see that the
aggravating circumstances outweigh any mitigating circumstances that might be presented and that he
ought to be given a penalty of a death sentence on account of his crime." There, this Court held that
the "blows struck by the prosecutor were neither hard nor foul. Likewise, the language does not even
approach the threshold of reversibility.” Nixon, 533 So. 2d at 1100.

(b) Then they tell you, and thisone | mean I'm - - | just can't believe it to tell you thetruth, |
just can't believe it. They want you to consider the fact as a mitigating circumstance that
Tammy Jean Giles received a sentence of two years.

Again the prosecutor was clearly commenting on facts introduced into evidence by Evans. Although
language other than that expressing his belief may have been more appropriate, this line of argument
does not constitute reversible error.

(c) And you also have the jury instructions that will tell you that it is not an accounting
procedure, just like I've explained it to you. | think one aggravating circumstanceoutweighs
anything that they have. We've got five of them, five. Count them.

Again this comment is sSimilar to that made in Nixon where this Court concluded that the comment



did not constitute reversible error.

91245. (iii) During rebuttal closing argument at the sentencing phase, the prosecutor made the
following statements:

(@ ... Nooneismad at them, but they also don't deserve because you like them to get their
client off. Just like your feeling about us plus or minus, remember what we discussed in voir
dire- -

BY MR. SMITH: If the Court please, we'll object to the characterization of "get their client
off."

BY THE COURT: Rephraseit, Mr. Caranna.

Get their client, in my view an inappropriate sentence to be specific. Let him go back up there to
know change in Marion.

In Nixon, 533 So. 2d at 1100, the prosecutor argued: "We believe . . . he ought to be given a penalty
of adeath sentence on account of his crime." Here, the prosecutor, as in Nixon, was arguing Evans
ought to receive the appropriate sentence. As in Nixon, this language does not approach to threshold
of reversihility.

(b) I am against child abuse and | hope you are. | am against every bad thing that ever
happened to Donald Leroy Evans and his siblings, but the rest of them overcame those
problems, and for alot of hislife so has he. And when does he mess up? When he voluntarily
drinks himself or cocaines himself, however it isingested, into his problems.

During the sentencing phase, Evans called several witnesses to testify as to the abuse that he endured
as a child as mitigating circumstances. This Court has held that a prosecutor may comment on any
facts introduced into evidence. Davis, 684 So. 2d at 656.

(c) There was proof that like everybody else, when a psychiatrist talks to you he is going to give
you adiagnosis. Does it prevent him from acting logically? Does it prevent him from making
rational choices? Does it prevent him - - no, and their doctor didn't even see that even he did
see delusional [sic], and remember | wanted to know how many Donald Leroy Evans there
were because | haven't seen these delusions. I've seen the grandiosity that Dr. Maggio imagine
[sic] talked about. I've seen those other kind of things, but that's the weighing process that
you're going to have to make; and make your decision, fina decision.

While the prosecutor admittedly indicated to the jury that he had not seen Evans' delusional behavior,
this statement, when placed in proper context, reveals that the prosecutor was commenting on the
evidence astestified to by Dr. Maggio. A prosecutor may comment upon any facts introduced into
evidence. Davis, 684 So. 2d at 656. Moreover, the prosecutor immediately explained to the jury that
it was their duty to weigh the evidence.

1246. Evans next argues that the prosecutor bolstered the testimony of State expert witnesses and
misstated the evidence. Evans first argues that the prosecutor bolstered the testimony of Dr. Paul
McGarry. Evans argues that the following argument was improper:



Then we had Dr. McGarry testify. Now Dr. McGarry hasfirst of all determined the cause of
death to be strangulation and then he determined that she was vaginally penetrated. This all
before Donald has admitted to any sex whatsoever. And they bring in two doctors, who, first of
all, can't determine anything, don't see anything and can't confirm anything. The only they do
know isthat it'sahomicide. Dr. McGarry had 15,000 autopsies, they had maybe 10, 000
together. Put both of them together and you might have one Dr. McGarry. That's why we have
Dr. McGarry and they had Dr. Zimmerman and Dr. Hayne.

11247. Although the record reveals a factual objection to the mistake in the doctor's name(©), thereis
no objection on the basis that the prosecutor was bolstering the credibility of Dr. McGarry.
Therefore, thisissue is waived for appellate purposes. Additionally, this Court has repeatedly held
that an objection at trial on one or more specific grounds constitutes awaiver of al other grounds.

1248. Without waiving the procedural bar, this Court may consider the alleged errors on the merits.
Chase v. State, 645 So. 2d 829 (1994), cert. denied, 115 S.Ct. 2279, reh'g denied, 116 S.Ct. 201
(1995); Foster v. State, 639 So. 1263, 1270 (Miss.1994), cert. denied, 115 S.Ct. 1365 (1995), reh'g
denied, 115 S.Ct. 1992 (1995).

9249. In Foster, this Court held:

A prosecutor is forbidden from interjecting his persona beliefs regarding the veracity of
witnesses during closing argument. United Statesv. Young, 470 U.S. 1, 5, 50, 105 S.C.. 1038,
1041, 1048-49, 84 L.Ed.2d 1, 6, 15 (1985); Dunaway v. State, 551 So. 2d 162, 164
(Miss.1989) (prosecutor who referred to defense expert as "awhore" committed error, but not
reversible error); Tubb v. State, 217 Miss. 741, 743-45, 64 So. 2d 911, 912-13 (1953)
(prosecutor who tells jury during closing argument he knew the State's witnesses were telling
the truth commits error which m ay be reversible.). By the same token, it isincumbent on
defense counsd to raise a proper objection when the offense language is uttered or waive
appellate review of theissue. Marks v. State, 532 So. 2d 976, 984 (Miss.1988); Johnson v.
State, 477 So. 2d 196, 209-10 (Miss.1985), cert. denied, 476 U.S. 1109, 106 S.C.. 1958, 90
L.Ed.2d 366 (1986). Thisrule providesthe trial court with the opportunity to sustain an
objection and admonish the jury to disregard moments after the erroneous language is uttered.
Monk v. State, 532 So. 2d 592, 600-01 (Miss.1988); Baker v. State, 327 So. 2d 288, 292-93
(Miss.1976).

ld. at 1288.

1250. Here, however, the prosecutor did not improperly interject personal beliefs as to the veracity of
Dr. McGarry. Rather, the record demonstrates that the prosecutor was simply commenting on the
credentials of the experts which were clearly in evidence at trial. There was no improper comment.

9251. Evans also argues that the following comment by the prosecutor in rebuttal closing was
improper bolstering.

Now Dr. McGarry didn't trot from Louisiana. He's not a hired-gun. | think you saw him. Did he
look like the kind of guy that would make up his mind based on what Cono Caranna or William
Martin or the State of Mississippi asked him to do? He makes up his mind based on what he



seesin a body.

1252. When read in context, it is clear that the prosecutor was arguing that Dr. McGarry was not a
hired gun as argued by defense counsel. The prosecutor argued that Dr. McGarry examined the body
at the scene and drew his conclusions from that examination. Asin Davis, it was perfectly proper for
the prosecution to rebut a defense counsel argument. Davis, 684 So. 2d at 655. There was no
improper comment.

1253. Evans next argues that the following comment by the prosecutor was improper personal
opinion and bolstering:

And equally, even though | think Dr. Maggio got the best of that argument, remember he said if
you're bad schizophrenic - - alot of people are schizophrenic.

9254. A review of this statement in the context of the entire line of argument reveals that the
prosecutor was rebutting evidence that Evans suffered from schizophrenia. The prosecutor first
reviewed the testimony of Dr. Zimmerman, the defense expert. After which he began to compare the
testimony of Zimmerman and Dr. Maggio, the State's expert. Throughout this argument the
prosecutor repeatedly stated to the jury that they were required to make the final decision.
Specifically, the prosecutor stated, "Y'all heard the evidence, y'all are the final deciders of that fact.
I'll leave that with you."

1255. Evans next argues that the prosecutor "sought to bolster his case” when making the following
statement:

We allege that this al occurred on August 1, 1991. In order to prove this case the State is going
to call numerous witnesses. Now we may not call every witness there is, and the witnesses may
be called out of turn, that is the purpose of opening statement, to let you know how we want
our evidence to come, but it doesn't always flow that way. With schedules and things being
disoriented sometimes we have to call witnesses out of turn.

1256. The prosecutor was ssimply explaining the trial process to the jury. Following this statement,
the prosecutor told the jury what the State expected to prove through each witness. This, of course,
isthe very purpose of an opening statement. When read in context, there was no improper bolstering.

1257. Evans aso argues that the prosecutor misstated the evidence when making the following
Statements:

They cross-examined our witnesses about did anybody have any conversations about sex but
they haven't tied that up and | objected at that time and the court said, "Wéll, if they don't tie it
up you can come back later and object and welll strike it from the record.” And | didn't even go
into that. It wasn't necessary because they didn't tie it up. The only words of sex that you heard
in thistria have come out of the mouth of these two defense attorneys.

1258. Specifically, Evans argues that in his confession, he stated that Tammy Giles had offered
Beatrice to him for sexual purposes. A review of the confession does in fact reveal that Evans made
those statements. However, at trial, Evans did not object on the grounds that the prosecution was
misstating the evidence. Moreover, when the prosecutor resumed argument after Evans' objection, he



repeated, "Thisis the only time you heard about it is out of the mouth of the attorneys." Again, there
was no objection by Evans on the grounds that this line of argument misstated the evidence.

1259. Arguing facts not in evidence is impermissible closing argument. Cabello v. State, 471 So. 2d
332, 346 (Miss.1985), cert. denied, 476 U.S. 1164 (1986). However, here, when closing argument is
viewed in its entirety, the brief reference coupled with the lack of an objection by Evans does not
appear to rise to the level of statements condemned by this Court.

1260. Evans next argues that severa comments by the prosecution were the equivalent of asking the
jury to send a message. Specifically, Evans argues that the following comments were improper:

Remember how you thought we were crazy that day up in Natchez when we said, "L ook, we're
going to bring you down to Gulfport, Mississippi." And you said, "Y ou don't understand we're
from Adams County. What is the idea?' And slowly we explained that concept to you. Well our
two communities have come together on this because we are a community of interest. But look
at all the other communities who were involved in this. Maybe we are straightening out some
things for some other folks.

* k% *

BY MR. CARANNA: You are a part of the criminal justice system, the final step, and it is by
your vote that this decision will be made.

1261. Evans argues that these comments were the equivalent of asking the jury to send a message.
Evans objected to the first statement and was sustained by the trial court. Therefore, any error which
occurred was cured. Foster v. State, 639 So. 2d 1263 , 1282 (Miss.1994), cert. denied, 115 S.Ct.
1365 (1995), reh'g denied, 115 S.Ct. 1992 (1995). However, after the prosecutor continued and
remarked that the jury was the "final step”, Evans did not raise further objection. Asto the latter
statement, Evans argument is barred.

1262. Without waiving the procedural bar, this Court may address the assignment of error on the
merits. Chase v. State, 645 So. 2d 829 (1994), cert. denied, 115 S.Ct. 2279, reh'g denied, 116 S.Ct.
201 (1995); Foster v. State, 639 So. 1263, 1270 (Miss.1994), cert. denied, 115 S.Ct. 1365 (1995),
reh'g denied, 115 S.Ct. 1992 (1995).

9263. This Court has repeatedly cautioned prosecutors against using the "send a message" argument.
Hunter v. State, 684 So. 2d 625, 637 (Miss.1996); Chase v. State, 645 So. 2d 829, 854 (Miss.1994),
cert. denied, 115 S.Ct. 2279 (1995), reh'g denied, 116 S.Ct. 20 (1995); Williams v. State, 522 So.
2d 201, 209 (Miss.1988); Carleton v. State, 425 So. 2d 1036, 1039 (Miss.1983).

1264. Here, however, the prosecution did not ask the jurors to send a message, rather the present
commentary is similar to that discussed in Williams v. State, 522 So. 2d 201, 209 (Miss.1988).

In Carleton v. State, 425 So. 2d 1036 (Miss.1983), a similar argument had been made by the
prosecutor, "You know, we have got to let people know what the people of Harrison County
stand for." Carleton, 425 So. 2d at 1039. There we cautioned that each case must stand on its
own facts, but we found nothing improper about the statement and held that the trial court
properly overruled the appellant's objection to the statement. Carleton, 425 So. 2d at 1039. In



Ramseur v. State, 368 So.2d 842 (Miss.1979), we held that the trial judge properly sustained
an objection to an argument that the jurors were representatives of "the people of the State of
Mississippi and this community.” Ramseur, 368 So. 2d at 844. In Ramseur, we stated that if
the remarks were improper, no prejudice resulted since an objection to the argument was
sustained. Ramseur, 368 So. 2d at 845.

In Fulgham v. State, 386 So. 2d 1099 (Miss.1980), we considered alonger argument in which
the jury was depicted as afinal link in the chain of law enforcement. Fulgham, 386 So. 2d at
1101. Fulgham was reversed on other grounds and we stated, "We do not think that this
assignment of error standing alone would require reversal." Fulgham, 386 So. 2d at 1101.

1265. In Williams, this Court, noting the lack of an appropriate record for appellate review, refused
to reverse the appellant's conviction due to the following remark by the prosecutor: "By your vote,
you can make the statement clearly, steadfastly, and unequivocally that law or order exists for
everyone in Harrison County.” However, this Court clearly indicated that the remark was improper.
Williams, 522 So. 2d at 209.

1266. In light of the foregoing, the remarks by the prosecutor were extremely close to those
considered by this Court to be improper. However, as in Williams and Fulgham, these comments
alone do not appear to require reversal.

1267. Evans final challenge involves the alleged improper reference to the characteristics of the
victim. During the sentencing phase the prosecutor made the following remarks:

Now we're told that Donald never had a chance. | didn't see that Beatrice Louise Routh ever
had a chance.

1268. Again, the record reveals no objection. This assignment of error is barred. Notwithstanding the
procedural bar, this Court has held that it is proper for the prosecution to rebut a defense argument
that certain evidence should be considered as mitigating. Davis, 684 So. 2d at 655. Here, the
prosecutor was clearly rebutting the defense suggestion that due to his childhood circumstances,
Evans never had a chance.

1269. However, Evans argues that this argument was improper victim impact evidence. This Court
addressed a similar argument in Davis v. State, 684 So. 2d 643, 655 (Miss.1996). InDavis, the
prosecution, during closing argument in the sentencing phase, attempted to recreate the victim's last
moments by arguing:

| wonder what the victim was thinking. Then she makesit out. There's blood, two spotsin the
corner sitting down on the floor, on the right side. She is on the corner sitting down on the
floor, her right side, right where this blood is on the floor. | wonder what she thought while she
was there. Did she beg for mercy? Did she beg for mercy, as we have heard from Mr. Shaddock
[defense counsel]. Did she beg this man for mercy at that point? Please, Jeffrey, don't.

1270. In Davis, this Court reviewed Hansen v. State, 592 So. 2d 114, 146 (Miss.1991), cert. denied,
504 U.S. 921 (1992), reh'g denied, 505 U.S. 1231 (1992), wherein we adopted Payne v. Tennessee,
501 U.S. 808 (1990), and stated:



A state may legitimately conclude that evidence about the victim and about the impact of the
murder on the victim's family is relevant to the jury's decision as to whether or not the death
penalty should be imposed.

Conner, 632 So. 2d at 1276, cert. denied, 115 S.Ct. 314 (1994) (quoting Hansen, 592 So.

2d at 146)). In Conner, this Court concluded that the "statements of the prosecutor were properly
drawn inferences from the evidence of how and when Hillman was shot and stabbed.” Id. Asin
Conner, the statements by the prosecutor in the case sub judice were properly drawn inferences from
the evidence. Evans described in his confession that Beatrice was confined in the jeep, bound with
duct tape, and crying for her mother. From that evidence, one may clearly infer and argue that
Bestrice never had a chance.

7271. InMonk v. State, 532 So. 2d 592, 601 (Miss.1988), this Court stated:

The right to argument contemplates liberal freedom of speech and range of discussion confined
only to bounds of logic and reason; and if counsel's argument is within limits of proper debate,
it isimmaterial whether it is sound or unsound or whether he employs wit, invective, and
illustration therein. Moreover, figurative speech is legitimate if there is evidence on which it
may be founded. Exaggerated statements and hasty observations are often made in the heat of
the day, which, although not legitimate, are generally disregarded by the court, because in its
opinion, they are harmless. There are, however, certain well established limits beyond which
counsel isforbidden to go. He must confine himself to the facts introduced in evidence and to
the fair and reasonable deduction and conclusions to be drawn therefrom and to the application
of the law, as given by the court, to the facts.

1272. Absent impermissible factors such as commenting on the failure of the defendant to testify, a
prosecuting attorney is entitled to great latitude in closing argument. Dunaway v. State, 551 So. 2d
162, 163 (Miss.1989). Having addressed each comment alleged by Evans to be improper, thisissueis
without merit.

XV.WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S
MOTION TO RECUSE.

1273. Evans argues that the trial judge erred when he refused to recuse himself after Evans was
granted in forma pauperis status (hereinafter "IFP") in pending federal litigation against various
individuals in Harrison County, one of whom was Judge Vlahos. Donald Leroy Evans, Dempsey A.
Bruner and Manuel Victor Brown, et. al v. Harrison County, Mississippi, Hon. Kosta Vlahos, Joe
Price, Rick Gaston, Bobby Eleuterius, Robin Alfred-Midcalf, David LaRosa, Larry Benefield,
and C.T. Switzer, Jr., Civil Action No. 1:93-CV-43(Br)(R), was attached as Exhibit A to the
Motion to Recuse filed by Evans on February 24, 1993. In the lawsuit, Evans alleges that numerous
officials, acting in their official capacities, violated Evans congtitutiona rights. Specific allegations
regarding Judge Vlahos are as follows:

9. Defendant Honorable Kosta N. VIahosis sued in his official capacity as Senior Circuit Judge
of Harrison County. Judge Vlahosis presiding over the capital murder trial of Plaintiff Donad



Leroy Evans.

* k% *

36. Defendant Vlahos intentionally and knowingly is violating Plaintiff Evans right of accessto
the courts by denying him access to attorneys who do not represent Plaintiff Evansin his
criminal matter. Defendant Vlahos has issued an "order” in the form of arequest to Defendant
Pricel? that all counsel except those appointed to handle Plaintiff Evans capital trial must seek
prior approval from his appointed counsel, Judge VIahos or Sheriff Price before they may meet
with Plaintiff Evans. Plaintiff Evans has contacted counsel to handle legal matters other than his
criminal matter and sought to have attorney-client visits with these attorneys, only to have them
turned away. The requirement, per Judge Vlahos, that such attorneys seek prior approval from
Plaintiff Evans appointed counsel, Defendant Price or Defendant Vlahos unreasonably invades
the relationship of Plaintiff to the courts.

1274. Evans was granted | FP status by the federal district court and now argues that this action by
the federal court compels the conclusion that the allegations in the lawsuit were not frivolous and that
the plaintiffs could proceed. Judge Vlahos, however, indicated that until the federal court made an
adverse determination he would continue with the criminal trial.

1275. Evans cites James v. Alfred, 835 F.2d 605, 606 (5th Cir. 1988), cert. denied, 485 U.S. 1036
(1988), wherein the Court held:

The claim of one seeking in forma pauperis status must cross the threshold of litigation
worthiness. Cay v. Estelle, 789 F.2d 318 (5th Cir.1986). In determining whether a case should
be allowed to proceed | FP or be dismissed as frivolous under 28 U.S.C. § 1915(d), we have
formulated a three-pronged test: (1) does the complaint have a redlistic chance for success; (2)
does it present an arguably sound basis in fact and law; (3) can the complainant prove any set of
facts that would warrant relief.

1276. This Court is therefore presented with the issue of whether the filing of a civil rights lawsuit
against the trial judge by a criminal defendant requires recusal. In Collinsv. Joshi, 611 So. 2d 898
(Miss.1992), this Court discussed the standards governing judicial recusal:

The standard by which the Court determines if ajudge should have disqualified himself or
herself, is an objective standard under Canon 3. "A judgeis required to disqualify himsdf if a
reasonable person, knowing all the circumstances, would harbor doubts about his impartiaity."
Rutland v. Pridgen, 493 So.2d 952, 954 (Miss.1986); Jenkins, 570 So. 2d at 1192; Callins,
543 So. 2d at 166. The presumption is "that a judge, sworn to administer impartial justice, is
qualified and unbiased. To overcome the presumption, the evidence must produce a 'reasonable
doubt' (about the validity of the presumption) [.]" Turner v. State, 573 So. 2d 657, 678
(Miss.1990). When ajudge is not disqualified under the constitutional or statutory provisions,
"the propriety of hisor her sitting is a question to be decided by the judge and is subject to
review only in case of manifest abuse of discretion." Buchanan v. Buchanan, 587 So. 2d 892
(Miss.1991); Turner, 573 So.2d at 677; Ruffin v. State, 481 So. 2d 312 at 317 (1985);
(quoting McLendon v. State, 187 Miss. 247, 191 So. 821, 823 (1939)). Under the appropriate
standard, the judge is presumed qualified and unbiased. This presumption may only be



overcome by evidence showing beyond a reasonable doubt that the judge was biased or not
qualified. If areasonable person, knowing all the circumstances, would doubt the judge's
impartiality, the judge is required to recuse him or herself from the case.

Coallins, 611 So.2d at 901.

1277. Evans relies on Johnson v. Mississippi, 403 U.S. 212 (1971), in support of his argument that
Judge Vlahos should have recused himself. Johnson, an active civil rights worker, was served with
process requiring his presence in court on contempt charges. Johnson later filed a motion to recuse
alleging that the tria judge reveaed "deep prejudice against civil rights workers and civil rights
lawyers." No hearing was conducted on the motion to recuse and Johnson eventually filed a petition
to remove his case to federal court. The federal court remanded the case back to Judge Perry and the
Circuit Court of Grenada County.

1278. Johnson later filed a lawsuit in federal court to enjoin trials in the Circuit Court of Grenada
County until discriminatory practices were eliminated. Judge Perry, who had been named as a
defendant, was temporarily enjoined from engaging in discriminatory practices. Two days after the
federal injunction, Judge Perry adjudged Johnson in contempt and sentenced him to four monthsin
jail. Johnson's request for a hearing on the merits and an opportunity to show why Judge Perry
should recuse himself was denied.

1279. The Supreme Court held that Judge Perry should have recused himself. Specifically, the Court
held:

Beyond all that was the fact that Judge Perry immediately prior to the adjudication of contempt
was a defendant in one of petitioner's civil rights suits and alosing party at that. From that it is
plain that he was so enmeshed in matters involving petitioner as to make it most appropriate for
another judge to sit. Trial before an 'unbiased judge is essential to due process. Bloom v.
[llinois, 391 U.S. 194, 205, 88 S.Ct. 1477, 1484, 20 L.Ed.2d 522; Mayberry v. Pennsylvania,
400 U.S. 455, 465, 91 S.Ct. 499, 505, 27 L.Ed.2d 532.

Johnson, 403 U.S. 212, 215-16.

11280. Judge Vlahos, like Judge Perry in Johnson, was named as a defendant in afedera civil rights
lawsuit. However, in the instant case, there was no successful resolution of the federal litigation
against Judge Vlahos. Moreover, the initial "IFP" determination by the federal court served only to
ascertain whether the suit by Evans and others had "arguable merit" and could not be dismissed
unless the federa district court could conclude that the "plaintiff can prove no set of facts in support
of hisclaim." See Green v. McKaskle, 788 F.2d 1116, 1120 (5th Cir. 1986). In Green, the court
further stated:

Itis, of course, not always easy to determine whether a claim is frivolous ssimply by examining
the pleadings. Prisoner complaints are notorioudly difficult to decipher, and pro se pleadings
must be construed liberally. Unless the frivolousness of aclam isfacially apparent, it is
"incumbent upon the court to develop the case and to sift the claims and known facts
thoroughly until completely satisfied either of its merit or lack of same.”



Id. at 1119. (citations omitted).

1281. Most importantly, there is no indication in the record that Judge Vlahos demonstrated any
prejudice against Evans that would rebut the presumption of impartiality. However, in Johnson,
Judge Perry "revealed deep prejudice against civil rights workers and civil rights lawyers.” 403 U.S.
212 at 215.

1282. We therefore hold that the mere filing of alawsuit, wherein a prisoner is allowed to proceed in
forma pauperis, is insufficient to require recusal of atrial judge named as a defendant in that lawsuit
where there is no evidence in the record which demonstrates that the trial judge is biased or
unqualified. Thisissueis without merit.

XVI.WHETHER THE GUILTY VERDICT ON COUNT THREE WAS AGAINST THE
OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

1283. Evans next argues that the guilty verdict on Count 111 of the indictment was against the
overwhelming weight of the evidence. Count 111 of the indictment charged that Evans committed
sexual battery by penetrating the rectum of Beatrice Louise Routh.

When reviewing a challenge to the weight of the evidence, this Court must determine whether
the trial judge abused his discretion in denying a new trial. This Court, accepting as true all
evidence favorable to the State, will determine whether "the verdict is so contrary to the
overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would be to sanction an
unconscionable injustice.”

Taylor v. State, 672 So.2d 1246, 1256 (Miss.1996), cert. denied, 117 S.Ct. 486 (1996),reh'g denied,
117 S.Ct. 755 (1997)(quoting Wetz v. State, 503 So. 2d 803, 812-13 (Miss.1987)).

1284. Evans argues that the only evidence regarding anal penetration was the testimony of Dr. Paul
McGarry. Dr. McGarry is aforensic pathologist licensed to practice medicine in Louisana and
Mississippi. On August 11, 1991, at approximately 4:50 am., Dr. McGarry was called to the scene to
examine the remains of Beatrice. While at the scene, McGarry testified that he observed the
following:

And the tissue around the genital area and the region of the opening of the vagina and the
opening of the vagina and the opening of the anus was torn and blood stained. Inside those
areas there was extensive hemorrhage on the inner surface of the thighs and around the genital
area into the deep tissues of the pelvis.

11285. Following the examination of the body at the scene, the remains were transported to a funeral
home in Picayune where Dr. McGarry continued his examination and was able to verify his
observations. Dr. McGarry's testimony detailed the extensive bruising and tearing that he found when
examining the genital and anal areas. For example:

A. | described in my report, and | saw when | examined that, tears of the opening of the rectum
that extended from the opening upward into the canal, front and back one-half and three-fourth
inch so that the rectal opening connected with the vagina opening, there was a tear in the front
of the rectum that extended into the back of the vagina. And then on the front of the vagina



there was atear going up into that canal. These were surrounded by dark bruising of the tissues
that went up into the pelvisinside of that area.

Q. Would you describe the condition that you found those two tubes, the vagina and the
rectum, going to their - -

A. Thereé'sasmall septum or asmall piece of - - asmall separating wall between the vagina and
the rectum that was torn from the front and front the back so that the two openings which
should be separate and apart by a small intact area of skin were connected by tears. And the
tears went forward beyond the front of the vagina and backward beyond the back of the anus so
that these four areas of tearing converted the two small openings into one larger opening.

Dr. McGarry concluded that the genital and anal injuries were due to "forceful lacerating penetration
of the area.”

11286. On cross-examination, Evans established that the body was in an advanced state of
decomposition and heavily infested with insects during the examination by Dr. McGarry. Evans
challenged Dr. McGarry's findings due to the condition of the body. However, Dr. McGarry testified
that it is possible to distinguish the "difference between post-mortem activity of maggots and insects
versus injuries that occurred in a person before she died.” Dr. McGarry testified that although insects
and maggots attack the body "they do not make lacerations of the tissue, they do not tear open
orifices."

1287. Evans called Dr. LeRoy Riddick and Dr. Steven Hayne to testify as to findings from their
examinations of the remains of Beatrice. Dr. Riddick, the State Medical Examiner for the Alabama
Department of Forensic Sciencesin Mobile, conducted a second autopsy on on May 18, 1993,
approximately twenty-two months after Dr. McGarry. This second autopsy was attended by Dr.
Steven Hayne, State Medical Examiner for the State of Mississippi and Dr. Richard Smith, aresident
pathologist at the University of Mississippi College of Medicine in Jackson, as well as Detective
Whitney Carvin of the Gulfport Police Department.

1288. Dr. Riddick testified that he examined both the body, which had been preserved in cold
storage, and tissues and organs which had been preserved separately in formadehyde. Dr. Riddick
also testified that he viewed photographs taken of the body at the scene depicting its condition on
August 11, 1991. While noting that a number of incisions and changes had been made to the body,
Dr. Riddick testified that the body had not decomposed or deteriorated from the time the
photographs were taken at the scene.

1289. With regard to the injuries to the rectal region as charged by Count I11 of the indictment, Dr.
Riddick testified that he was unable to locate any tears or injuries to the perineum nor did he observe
contusions or bruising of this area. Dr. Riddick testified that he also examined the anal region and did
not observe tears, contusions, or lacerations.

1290. However, on cross-examination, Dr. Riddick agreed that the person in the best position to
render adiagnosisis the first pathologist who conducts an autopsy and visits the scene. In addition,
Dr. Riddick conceded that there were no marks on the remains which would indicate that animals or
insects had caused the injuries to the perineum or the rectal region. Dr. Riddick also conceded that



the best way to make a determination of the condition of the genitaliawould be while the tissueis
connected to the body.

1291. Dr. Steven Hayne also testified on behalf of Evans. Dr. Hayne testified that he did not observe
the genital/anal tissue during the second autopsy, but was able to examine this tissue on the morning
of September 15, 1993, prior to testifying. When questioned about the existence of injuries to the
genital/anal region, Dr. Hayne testified that he could not exclude this type of injury, but did not see
evidence of it. Dr. Hayne testified that he did not find any evidence of tearing in the anal tissue. Dr.
Hayne testified that he could not conclude with reasonable medical certainty as to the presence or
absence of a penetrating injury in the area of the perineum.

1292. The jury had before it the testimony of three experts. The testimony of Dr. McGarry was
unequivocal: Beatrice Louise Routh suffered a forceful penetrating injuries to her anal and vagina
areas. Dr. Riddick and Dr. Hayne both testified that they could not identify lacerations or tearing to
the anal region. However, Dr. Hayne testified that he could neither include or exclude this type of
injury, he smply could not identify tearing of tissue which had been preserved for approximately
twenty-five months.

9293. This Court has repeatedly emphasized our role when confronted with conflicting testimony. In
Bond v. State, 249 Miss. 352, 162 So. 2d 510 (1964), this Court held:

It is the function of the jury to pass upon the credibility of the evidence. Scott v. State, 185
Miss. 454, 188 So. 546 [1939]. Only two witnesses testified for the state as to what happened
at the scene of the homicide, while many more testified for the defense. However, the strength
or weakness of testimony is not measured by the number of witnesses. Spiers v. State, 231
Miss. 307, 94 So. 2d 803 [1957]. In a criminal prosecution, the jury may accept the testimony
of some witnesses and reject that of others, and may accept in part and reject in part the
testimony of any witnesses, or may believe part of the evidence on behalf of the state and part
of that for the accused, and the credibility of such witnessesis not for the reviewing court, but
only for the jury. Ivey v. State, 206 Miss. 734, 40 So. 2d 609 [1949]; Cobb v. State, 235 Miss.
57, 108 So. 2d 719 [1959]; Matthews v. State, 243 Miss. 568, 139 So. 2d 386 [1962].

Bond, 249 Miss. at 357, 162 So. 2d at 512. From the evidence presented at trial, reasonable jurors
could have found beyond a reasonable doubt that Evans was guilty of sexual battery as alleged in
Count I11. Thisissue is without merit.

XVII.WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING THE
PROSECUTION TO AMEND THE INDICTMENT.

1294. Following the commencement of voir dire on September 7, 1993, the State made an ore tenus
motion to amend the indictment to include the language "with design"® in order to reflect the exact
language of the statute and to conform to the proof to be presented at trial. Evans objected on the
basis that the amendment constituted a material change in the substance of the indictment which
adversely affected histria strategy. Thetria court granted the State's motion.

1295. In Holmes v. State, 660 So.2d 1225 (Miss.1995), this Court addressed the amendment of an
indictment:



Mississippi statutory law allows amendments to indictments at trial. Miss. Code Ann. 8§ 99-17-
13 (1994). However, such amendments may not be "material to the merits of the case” and the
defendant must not be prejudiced in "his defense on the merits." 1d. The State may not seek
amendments altering the material set of facts in the indictment or "materially alter(ing) a defense
to the indictment. . . to prejudice the defendant's case."Griffin v. State, 584 So.2d 1274, 1276
(Miss.1991) (Griffin 11). The test for determining whether an amendment will prejudice the
defendant's case is "whether a defense as it originally stood would be equally available after the
amendment is made." Griffin v. State, 540 So.2d 17, 21 (Miss.1989)(Griffin I).

Id. at 1226. "[ A]Jmendments as to the substance of the charge must be made by the grand jury."Eakes
v. State, 665 So0.2d 852 (Miss.1995).

1296. Evans now argues that the amendment prejudiced his defense to the charge of capital murder.
Evans argues that histrial strategy was to admit to killing Besatrice, but argue that the killing was not
intentional or that he suffered from diminished capacity at the time of the killing. Evans aso argues
that the injection of the "with design" element had serious ramifications with regard to sentencing.

1297. The indictment clearly stated that Evans was indicted for the offense contained within Miss.
Code Ann. 8 97-3-19 (2)(e) which provides that the killing of a human being is capital murder:

"[w]hen done with or without any design to effect death, by any person engaged in the
commission of the crime of rape, burglary, kidnapping, arson, robbery, sexua battery, unnatural
intercourse with any child under the age of twelve (12), or nonconsensua unnatural intercourse
with mankind, or in any attempt to commit such felonies.

(emphasis added).

1298. In Quick v. State, 569 So.2d 1197 (Miss.1990), the defendant was indicted by the grand jury
for the offense of aggravated assault pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. 97-3-7 (2)(b). The origind
indictment charged that Quick "did willfully, unlawfully, felonioudy, purposely and knowingly
commit an aggravated assault upon one Gene Baker, a human being, with a deadly weapon. . . ."
However, on the morning of trial the State moved to amend the indictment to include language from
subsection (@) of Miss. Code Ann. 8§ 97-3-7(2) which allowed the jury to convict if they found Quick
"recklessly cauged] serious bodily injury under circumstances manifesting extreme indifference to the
vaue of human life" 1d. at 1199. In reversing the conviction, this Court concluded that the
amendment "proposed a change of substance and not of form." Id. at 1200.

11299. The case sub judice may be distinguished from Quick in that the amendment in the present
case does not ater the substance of the offense. In fact, the same offense is charged prior to and after
the amendment. Despite Evans claims, 8 97-3-19 (2)(e) defines capital murder as that which is done
during the commission of one of the listed felonies, when done with or without any design to effect
death. Regardless of Evans intent, he faced a charge of capital murder. By virtue of the statute,
Evans had clear notice of the charge he was facing. Lacy v. State, 629 So.2d 591, 594 (Miss.1993).

1300. In Rhymes v. State, 638 So.2d 1270 (Miss.1994), the defendant was indicted for the crime of
sexua battery of afemale under the age of fourteen years under Miss. Code Ann. 8§ 97-3-65(1)
(1972). Following the impaneling of the jury, the indictment was amended to change "under”



fourteen years to "over" fourteen years pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-65(2) (1972). This Court
held that the amendment permitted Rhymes to be charged with violation of Miss. Code Ann. 97-3-
65(2), not subsection (1) asindicted by the grand jury. As aresult, this Court concluded that Rhymes
defense that [the victim] was not under fourteen years of age but twenty-six years old at the time
would have required the jury to return a verdict of acquittal. |d. at 1276.

11301. Again, the case sub judice may be distinguished. Here, the offense for which Evans was
indicted was not changed by the amendment due to the express language of the statute. The offense
is the same regardless of the killer's intent. Thus, the injection of "with design” does not ater the
indictment nor did this language render Evans defense strategy a nullity asin Rhymes,

11302. Moreover, it makes little sense for Evans to now argue that he was prejudiced by the
amendment of the indictment when he states that histrial strategy was to admit the killing but claim it
was unintentional. Clearly, this same defense strategy would remain after the amendment or as an
argument for mitigation during the sentencing phase. Evans was not deprived of a defense by virtue
of the amendment.

11303. In Contreras v. State, 445 So. 2d 543 (Miss.1984), the indictment charged that the defendant
used "force" in obtaining the victim to perform the unnatural act. However, the evidence showed that
no physical force was used. As aresult, the State moved to amend the indictment by deleting the
word "forcing." There, we held the amendment to be "simply one of form and . . . properly alowed
by the court." 1d. at 545 (citing Porter v. State, 339 So. 2d 564 (Miss.1976); Hannah v. State, 336
S0.2d 1317 (Miss.1976), cert. denied, 429 U.S. 1101 (1977); Shelby v. State, 246 So.2d 543
(Miss.1971)).

11304. Evans, citing Enmund v. Florida, 458 U.S. 782 (1982), also claims that the amendment
carried with it serious ramifications with regard to sentencing. The jury could have found two of the
Enmund®© factors whether or not the indictment was amended. Moreover, whether Evans acted
intentionally or unintentionally, he remained subject to the same penalties.

11305. Because Evans had clear notice of the charge he faced and the express language of Miss. Code
Ann. 8 97-3-19 (2)(e) encompasses intentional and unintentional homicides, there was no prejudice
to Evans defense at trial. Moreover, at the time the State moved to amend the indictment, Evans did
not seek a continuance to review his defense strategy.

XVIII. WHETHER MISS. CODE ANN. § 99-19-101 (5)(D) IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL.

11306. Evans next argues that Miss. Code Ann. 8 99-19-101 (5)(d) violates the Eighth and Fourteenth
Amendments to the United States Constitution. Evans attacks the constitutionality of this statute on
three separate bases.

11307. Miss. Code Ann. § 99-19-101 (5)(d) reads as follows:

The capital offense was committed while the defendant was engaged or was an accomplice, in
the commission of, or an attempt to commit, or flight after committing or attempting to commit,
any robbery, rape, arson, burglary, kidnapping, aircraft piracy, sexual battery, unnatural
intercourse with any child under the age of twelve (12), or nonconsensual unnatural intercourse



with mankind, or felonious abuse and/or battery of achild in violation of subsection (2) of
Section 97-5-39, Mississippi Code of 1972, or the unlawful use or detonation of a bomb or
explosive device.

11308. Evans first basis of contention is that this statute is unconstitutional because it allows the
imposition of the death penalty for "simple felony murder” but not for premeditated murder.
Specifically, Evans argues there is no rationa or historical basis for treating simple felony murderers
as more culpable than premeditated murderers for purposes of capital punishment.

11309. In Gray v. State, 351 So. 2d 1342 (Miss.1977), appeal after remand, 375 So. 2d 994
(Miss.1979), cert. denied, 446 U.S. 988 (1980), reh'g denied, 448 U.S. 988 (1980), and Culberson
v. State, 379 So. 2d 499 (Miss.1979), cert. denied, 449 U.S. 986 (1980), reh'g denied, 449 U.S.
1103 (1981), this Court had occasion to address the constitutionality of Miss. Code Ann. 97-3-19 (2)
. Here, Evans challenges not the capital murder statute itself, but rather the sentencing procedure as
set forth in § 99-19-101. However, Gray and Culberson are instructive because Evans challenges the
aggravating circumstance which repeats the capital murder provision in § 97-3-21 (2)(e).

11310. In Gray and Culberson, the appellants challenged the constitutionality of this statute on the
basis that it alows the imposition of the death penalty upon one who harbors no specific intent to kill.
In each case, this Court concluded that Mississippi's capital punishment scheme, wherein a defendant
who commits murder while in the commission of one of the designated felonies is subject to the death
penalty, is constitutionally sound. In Culberson, this Court held:

The subjunctive nature of the intention to kill makesit no less deserving of capital punishment
than if it had been expressed, in our opinion. The felon who causes death in furthering his crime
manifests a callous disregard for human life, because he subordinates the life of the innocent to
his desire for gain, thereby inviting the outrage of a society understandably bent upon protecting
itself from physical violence.

Culberson, 379 So. 2d at 507.

1311. Evans, however, relieson Enmund v. Florida, 458 U.S. 782 (1982), and Tison v. Arizona,
481 U.S. 137 (1987), reh'g denied, 482 U.S. 137 (1987). In Enmund and Tison, the Supreme Court
addressed the constitutionality of the death penalty for defendants who, although involved in the
commission of afelony, did not actually kill. In Enmund, the Court reversed the death sentence of a
defendant who was the driver of the "getaway" car in an armed robbery. The robbery victims were
murdered by Enmund's accomplices after they resisted. Enmund was convicted under Florida's
felony-murder rule and sentenced to death.

11312. The United States Supreme Court reversed because the Florida Supreme Court affirmed the
death penalty in the absence of proof that Enmund killed or attempted to kill, and regardless of
whether Enmund intended or contemplated that life would be taken. The Court stated:

Enmund's criminal culpability must be limited to his participation in the robbery, and his
punishment must be tailored to his personal responsibility and moral guilt. Putting Enmund to
death to avenge two killings that he did not commit and had no intention of committing or
causing does not measurably contribute to the retributive end of ensuring that the criminal gets



his just deserts.
Enmund, 458 U.S. at 797.

1313. In Tison v. Arizona, the Court held that the Eighth Amendment did not prohibit the death
penalty in the intermediate case of the defendant whose participation is mgor and whose mental state
is one of reckless indifference to human life. 481 U.S. 150.

1314. In Enmund, the Court noted that only eight jurisdictions authorized the death penalty solely
for participation in arobbery in which another robber takes life. 458 U.S. at 789. Mississippi was
among these eight jurisdictions. Following Enmund v. Florida, Mississippi amended its capital
sentencing scheme to require that ajury must find that the defendant actually killed, attempted to kill,
intended that a killing take place, and/or contemplated that |ethal force would be employed in order
to return and impose a sentence of death. Ch. 429, Senate Bill No. 2699, 1983 Genera Laws of
Mississippi. See Miss. Code Ann. 99-19-101 (7). In Tison, the Court noted that Mississippi had
modified the capital murder sentencing scheme following Enmund. 1d. at 152, n.4.

11315. Contrary to Evans assertions, Mississippi requires more than ssimple felony murder to sentence
a defendant to death. Miss. Code Ann. 8 99-19-101 allows a jury to consider as an aggravating
circumstance the fact that a murder was committed while the defendant was engaged in the
commission of felony. However, after Enmund and the amendments to our sentencing scheme, that
fact alone isinsufficient to impose the death penalty. Rather, ajury must find that the defendant
actually killed, attempted to kill, intended that a killing take place, or contemplated that lethal force
would be employed in order to impose a death sentence. Our sentencing scheme, consistent with
Tison, alows ajury to consider as a mitigating circumstance that the defendant was an accomplice
whose participation was relatively minor.

1316. In light of Enmund and Tison, a critical review of our capital sentencing scheme reveals no
congtitutional infirmities. Moreover, unlike the defendants in Enmund and Tison, Evans was a major
participant in afelony-murder and actually killed his victim. There is no merit to this issue.

B. SENTENCING PHASE

XIX.WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING EVIDENCE TO
PROVE AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCESIN VIOLATION OF MISS. R. EVID.
8.03.

11317. Evans argues that the trial court erred in allowed the introduction of his prior Texas conviction
for aggravated sexual battery in support of the aggravating circumstance that he was previousy
convicted of afelony involving the use of threat of violence to the person. See Miss. Code Ann. 8 99-
19-101 (5)(d). Evans argues that this conviction was based upon a plea of nolo contendere and is
thus inadmissible hearsay pursuant to MR.E. 803 (22).

11318. During the sentencing phase, the State introduced certified copies of the indictment and
additional documents relating to the State of Texas v. Jason Michael McGowan,(1986CR0374,
212th District. Court for Galveston County. Following Evans' objection, the trial court, relying on the



Texas classification of aggravated sexual assault, allowed the conviction to be admitted. The trial
court noted that this evidence could have also been admitted pursuant to M.R.E. 8.03 (24).

11319. Utilizing traditional conflict of law analysis, Evans argues that Mississippi law, the law of the
forum, governs procedural aspects of atria such as the admission of evidence. Evans, therefore,
argues that his prior conviction isinadmissible under M.R.E. 803 (22), which states:

(22) Judgment of Previous Conviction. Evidence of afina judgment, entered after atrial or
upon a plea of guilty (but not upon a plea of nolo contendere), adjudging a person guilty of a
crime punishable by death or imprisonment in excess of one year, to prove any fact essential to
sustain the judgment, but not including, when offered by the state in a criminal prosecution for
purposes other than impeachment, judgments against persons other than the accused. The
pendency of an appeal may be shown but does not affect admissbility.

(emphasis added).

1320. In Holland v. State, 587 So. 2d 848, 874 (Miss.1991), this Court was called upon to decide a
similar issue. There, the State sought to introduce a 1974 Texas rape conviction. This Court
cautioned the State upon remand for re-sentencing that:

Although atrial court is not required to examine the underlying legal validity of the prior
conviction, Nixon v. State, 533 So. 2d 1078, 1099 (Miss.1987); Phillipsv. State, 421 So. 2d
476, 481 (Miss.1982), determining whether a defendant's prior conviction was afelony
involving the use or threat of violence requires that this state's statutes be construed and
applied. Where as here the conviction occurred in a sister state, this Court does not ook
to how that state characterizesthe question of whether the crime was one of violence,
rather, the analysis must be done under Mississippi law. For a conviction to qualify as
predicate for an aggravating circumstance under this state's statutes, the conviction from the
sister state must have been acquired under a statute which has as an element the use or threat of
violence against the person or, by necessity, must involve conduct that is inherently violent or
presents a serious potential risk of physical violence to another. United States v. Sherbondy,
865 F.2d 996, 1010-11 (9th Cir.1988).

| d. (emphasis added).

1321. Holland clearly requires atrial court to utilize Mississippi law in order to determine whether a
prior conviction from another state isin fact afelony involving the use or threat of violence to the
person. Here, however, this Court is called upon to address whether a prior criminal conviction
entered upon a plea of nolo contendere is admissible under the M.R.E. in light of the method by
which the conviction was obtained. We now hold that M.R.E. 803 (22) does not apply to the
situation presented in the case sub judice.

11322. Rule 803 sets forth numerous hearsay exceptions, one of which is Rule 803 (22), which
provides that evidence of judgments of previous convictions are exceptions to the hearsay rule.
However, judgments entered upon a plea of nolo contendere are not exceptions to the hearsay rule.
Evans now argues that 803 (22) and the language exempting judgments entered upon a plea of nolo
contendere from the exception serve to prohibit the introduction of his prior conviction.



11323. Thisrule applies to evidence of a prior judgment offered to "prove any fact essential to sustain
the judgment.” Here, however, evidence of Evans fina judgment of conviction was not offered to
prove any fact essential to sustain the judgment. Rather, the conviction was introduced by the State
to prove the prior conviction. In light of the clear language of Rule 803 (22), this provision isssmply
not applicable to the case sub judice and therefore does not prohibit the admission of Evans prior
conviction. Thetria court did not err. Thisissue is without merit.

XX.WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING DR. MAGGIO TO
TESTIFY IN REBUTTAL AT THE SENTENCING PHASE THEREBY VIOLATING
EVANS FIFTH AND SIXTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS.

11324. Upon the request of Evans attorney, Fred Lusk, Dr. Henry Maggio was appointed by the
federal district court in 1991 to conduct a competency evaluation in conjunction with Evans' guilty
pleato federal kidnapping charges. During thisinitial examination, Maggio testified that he examined
Evansfor athree and a half hours, however, Maggio conceded that much of this time he simply
observed Evans speaking with his attorney. Maggio made no formal diagnosis, but concluded that
Evans was competent.

11325. On August 6, 1993, the tria court appointed Dr. Maggio to conduct a forensic examination of
Evans for the purposes of determining his competency to stand trial on state charges. In the order,
the trial court noted defense counsel's objection to the appointment of Dr. Maggio. Moreover, the
trial court specifically stated that "nothing contained herein shall be construed as authorizing the
State to use such information at sentencing.” The trial court sealed Maggio's report, the result of
which would be made available only if the defense elected to proceed with a determination of
competency.

11326. Maggio testified that prior to his examination he received copies of Evans mental health
records from the Veterans Administration and the Texas Department of Corrections. On August 6,
1993, Dr. Maggio attempted to examine Evans at the Harrison County Detention Center. Evans,
however, was on the telephone with his attorney, Bill Boyd.

11327. Evans recognized Maggio and asked to see the court order. Evans refused to speak with
Maggio further and invoked his Fifth Amendment rights. Maggio continued to observe Evans while
he was on the telephone with Boyd and left after Evans refused to speak with him for the third time.

11328. During the motion to determine habitua status, the State informed Evans that Dr. Maggio
might be called to testify as arebuttal witnessif Evans called Dr. Zimmerman. However, the State
indicated that out of an abundance of caution Dr. Maggio would not testify to his observations on
August 6, 1993, because Evans was not accompanied by counsel.

11329. During the sentencing phase, Evans choseto call Dr. Zimmerman to testify as to mitigation and
the State called Maggio in rebuttal. During his rebuttal testimony, Maggio relied on the following
bases for his conclusions and opinions: the competency examination conducted during August, 1991
in conjunction with the federal guilty pleaL); his evaluation of Evans prior mental health records;
and his observations of Evans during the competency hearing on August 9-11, 1993. From these
sources, Maggio testified that, in his opinion, Evans did not suffer from schizophrenia, but did have
an antisocia personality disorder, with paranoid, dependent, and manipul ative features.



11330. Evans now argues that the trial court erroneously allowed Maggio's rebuttal testimony which
was based on his observations of Evans during the competency hearing on August 9-11, 1993, and
the use of psychiatric records provided to Maggio for purposes of the competency determination. On
cross-examination, Dr. Maggio testified that "observation is a part of a psychiatric evaluation." Evans
now claims that Maggio's testimony was based upon an "examination" conducted in violation of his
Fifth and Sixth Amendment rights.

A. Fifth Amendment

1331. In Estelle v. Smith, 451 U.S. 454 (1981), the United States Supreme Court held that the
testimony at the sentencing phase of a capital trial of a psychiatrist who conducted an evaluation of
the defendant for purposes of determining whether he was competent to stand trial was error and a
violation of the Fifth and Sixth Amendments when the evaluation was conducted without notice to
defense counsel and without advising the defendant that he had the right to remain silent.

1332. In Estelle, the trial judge, sua sponte, ordered a psychiatric evaluation for the limited, neutral
purpose of determining his competency to stand trial. At trial, the defendant introduced no
psychiatric evidence, nor had he indicated that he might do so. The State, however, offered
information obtained from the competency examination as affirmative evidence during the sentencing
phase to prove "future dangerousness2." | d. at 466. After review, the Court held that "a capital
defendant, who neither initiates a psychiatric evaluation nor attempts to introduce any psychiatric
evidence, may not be compelled to respond to a psychiatrist if his statements can be used against him
at a capital sentencing proceeding.” 451 U.S. at 468. The Court specifically held that the fact that
Smith's statements were uttered in the context of a psychiatric examination did not remove them from
the reach of the Fifth Amendment. I d. at 465. Moreover, the Court held "if the application of the Dr.
Grigson's findings had been confined to [use at a competency hearing], no Fifth Amendment issue
would have arisen." 1d. However, "the State used the respondent's own statements, unwittingly made
without an awareness that he was assisting the State's efforts to obtain the death penalty.” 1d. The
Court concluded that the statements could have been used during the penalty phase "only if
respondent had been appraised of his rights and had knowingly decided to waive them." | d. at 468.

11333. There are severa distinctions between Estelle and the case sub judice. Firgt, unlike Estelle,
Evans was not compelled to respond to Dr. Maggio. At no time did Dr. Maggio question Evans or
initiate contact with Evans, but smply observed Evans participation. There was no interview or
discussion. Moreover, Dr. Maggio's testimony was based on observations of Evans during the
competency hearing and the evaluation of prior medical reports.

11334. Therefore, the initial inquiry before this Court is whether the Fifth Amendment isimplicated. In
Estelle, the Court concluded that the "[psychiatrist's] diagnosis, as detailed in his testimony, was not
based simply on his observation of [Smith.]" I d. at 463. There, the Court held that the prognosis for
future dangerousness "rested on statements the respondent made, and remarks he omitted, in reciting
the details of the crime." 1d. Moreover, the psychiatrist specificaly testified that his findings were
based on his "discussion” with Smith. 1d. at n.9. The Court held that "the Fifth Amendment was
implicated because the State used as evidence . . . the substance of his disclosures during the pretrial
psychiatric examination." | d. at 464-65.



11335. Here, however, Evans objects to the admission of testimony based upon observations. Dr.
Maggio conceded on cross-examination that he "had no one-on-one contact with Mr. Evans." In
Pennsylvania v. Muniz, 496 U.S. 582, 589 (1990), the Supreme Court extensively discussed the
appropriate subject matter of the Fifth Amendment. There, the Court stated that "the privilege
protects an accused only from being compelled to testify against himself, or otherwise provide the
State with evidence of atestimonial or communicative nature." I d. (quoting Schmerber v.
California, 384 U.S. 757, 764 (1966)). "In order to be testimonial, an accused's communication must
itself, explicitly or implicitly, relate a factual assertion or disclose information. Only then is a person
compelled to be awitness against himsdlf." 1 d. (quoting Doe v. United States, 487 U.S. 201, 210
(1988)). In Schmerber v. California, 384 U.S. 757, 764 (1966), the Supreme Court "acknowledged
that both federal and state courts have usually held that it offers no protection against compulsion to
submit to fingerprinting, photographing, or measurements, to write or speak for identification, to
appear in court, to stand, to assume a stand, to walk, or to make a particular gesture.” (emphasis
added).

1336. In United States v. Wade, 388 U.S. 218, 222 (1967), the Court held that requiring a suspect's
presence and speech at a lineup reflected a"compulsion to exhibit physical characteristics, not
compulsion to disclose any knowledge he might have." Here, it appears that Maggio's courtroom
observations focused only on Evans appearance, demeanor, and participation in the competency
hearing. The Fifth Amendment, therefore, is not implicated because Evans was ssimply displaying
physical, not testimonia evidence.

1337. Moreover, Estelle may be distinguished on another basis. Here, unlike the defendant in Estelle,
Evans offered psychiatric evidence at trial. In Buchanan v. Kentucky, 483 U.S. 402, 422 (1987), the
Supreme Court noted that in Estelle the finding that the Fifth Amendment was implicated was a
result of the "distinct circumstances of that case [where] . . . the trial court had ordered, sua sponte,
the psychiatric examination and Smith neither had asserted an insanity defense nor had offered
psychiatric evidence at trial." In Estelle, the Court stated that "a different situation arises where a
defendant intends to introduce psychiatric evidence at the penalty phase." 451 U.S. at 471. The
Buchanan Court recognized that in other situations the State may have an interest in introducing
psychiatric evidence to rebut a petitioner's defense.

11338. In Buchanan, defense counsel joined a motion to determine competency. There, the
petitioner's entire defense strategy was to establish the "mental status' defense of extreme emotional
disturbance. The sole witness for the defense was a social worker formerly assigned to the petitioner's
case who read from various psychological reports. The defendant did not take the stand. There, the
Court held that "the Commonwealth could not respond to this defense unless it presented other
psychologica evidence." Id. at 423. As aresult, the Commonwealth asked the social worker to read
excerpts of apsychological report wherein the psychiatrist had set forth general observations about
the mental state of petitioner but had not described any statements by the petitioner dealing with the
crimes for which he was charged. The Buchanan Court concluded that the introduction of such a
report for this limited rebuttal purpose did not constitute a Fifth Amendment violation.

11339. Evans offered psychiatric evidence through the testimony of Dr. Zimmerman during the
sentencing phase. As aresult, the State called Dr. Maggio in rebuttal. Asin Buchanan, the defendant
did not testify, and therefore there was no other way for the prosecution to rebut the psychological



testimony. Moreover, Evans was on notice that the State would call Dr. Maggio if Dr. Zimmerman
testified.

11340. Evans also argues that the Fifth Amendment was violated because he was not advised that Dr.
Maggio would be using his prior mental health records during the sentencing phase. Evans, however,
sought the admission of these documents during the sentencing phase as evidence of mitigation and
Dr. Zimmerman testified that he also relied upon these medical records. The tria court overruled the
State's objection and admitted the records into evidence. In rebuttal, Dr. Maggio testified that he also
relied upon Evans records as a basis for his opinion. By placing Evans mental statusin issue during
the sentencing phase and introducing the medical reports as evidence of mitigation, the State was
clearly entitled to allow its expert to rebut this evidence.

B. Sixth Amendment

11341. Evans likewise argues that Dr. Maggio's testimony violated his Sixth Amendment right to
counsal. Evans again relies on Estelle v. Smith, 451 U.S. 454 (1981), where the Court held that the
Sixth Amendment had been violated because "defense counsel were not notified in advance that the
psychiatric examination would encompass the issue of thelir client's future dangerousness, and
respondent was denied the assistance of his attorneys in making the significant decision of whether to
submit to the examination and to what end the psychiatrist's findings could be employed.” 1d. at 469.

11342. Evans argues that his counsel was not notified that Dr. Maggio would be observing during the
competency hearing for purposes of a psychiatric examination or that this examination would
encompass sentencing-phase issues. Again, Evans, unlike the defendant in Estelle, requested that a
competency evaluation be conducted.

11343. Here, however, it is not clear that defense counsel knew Maggio would be observing the
competency hearing. Moreover, Evans counsel did not appear to have notice that the competency
evaluation would be used for sentencing phase issues. As a matter of fact, the Order appointing Dr.
Maggio to conduct the examination specifically prohibited any use of the information during the
sentencing phase. In Buchanan, the Supreme Court held in order for a consultation with counsel to
be effective it "must be based on counsel's being informed about the scope and nature of the
proceeding."” 483 U.S. at 425. The Buchanan Court further held "[g]iven our decision in Smith,
however, counsdl was certainly on notice that if, as appears to be the case, he intended to put on a
mental status defense for petitioner, he would have to anticipate the use of psychologica evidence by
the prosecution in rebuttal.” 1d. If such circumstances existed, the Court concluded that there was no
Sixth Amendment violation.

11344. In Powell v. Texas, 492 U.S. 680, 685 (1989), the Court held that defense counsel in
Buchanan knew what the scope of the examination would be before it took place. In Powell,
however, the Supreme Court reversed because defense counsel did not know that the examination
would involve sentencing-phase evidence regarding "future dangerousness.” 492 U.S. at 685.
However, the Powell Court did not disturb the pronouncement in Estellethat . . . a different
situation arises where a defendant intends to introduce psychiatric evidence at the penalty phase." 451
U.S. at 472.

11345. Given the language in the trial court's order, defense counsdl was not aware that sentencing-



phase testimony would result from Dr. Maggio's evaluation. However, Evans intended to and did
introduce psychiatric evidence at the penalty phase. Clearly, he would "anticipate the use of
psychological evidence by the prosecution.” Buchanan, 483 U.S. at 425.

11346. In Satterwhite v. Texas, 486 U.S. 249, 257 (1988), the Supreme Court held that the "harmless
error rule applies to the admission of psychiatric testimony in violation of the Sixth Amendment right
set out in Estelle v. Smith." In Satterwhite, however, the Court declined to hold that the error was
harmless where the testimony offered in violation of the Sixth Amendment stood out "both because
of his qualifications as amedical doctor specializing in psychiatry and because of the powerful
content of his message.” 486 U.S. at 259.

11347. Dr. Maggio's testimony was purely in rebuttal. Moreover, the defense was on notice that if Dr.
Zimmerman testified during the sentencing phase, the State would call Dr. Maggio. Evansintended
to and did introduce psychiatric testimony. As aresult, the State was clearly entitled to rebut this
testimony. Thisissue is without merit.

XXI.WHETHER THE JURY WAS PROPERLY INSTRUCTED ON THE
AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE THAT THE OFFENSE WAS COMMITTED
FOR THE PURPOSE OF AVOIDING OR PREVENTING A LAWFUL ARREST AND
WHETHER THERE WASINSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THIS
AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT.

11348. Evans argues that the trial court erred in instructing the jury on the aggravating circumstance
that the offense was committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest.
Additionally, Evans argues that there was insufficient evidence to support the jury's finding of this
aggravating circumstance. Specifically, Evans argues that "attempts to avoid detection after the
killing, as occurred here, are arguably relevant only if there is some evidence that the defendant
committed the offense in order to avoid detection.” Evans also argues that this aggravator is
unconstitutionally vague and overbroad without an accompanying limiting instruction.

11349. This Court has repeatedly held that it is unnecessary to have alimiting instruction defining the
"avoiding arrest” aggravator if the evidence reasonably inferred that avoiding arrest was a substantial
reason for the killing. Brown v. State, 682 So. 2d 340, 355 (Miss.1996), cert. denied, 117 S.Ct.1271
(1997); Walker v. State, 671 So. 2d 581 (Miss.1996), cert. denied, 117 S.Ct. 518 (1996); Carr v.
State, 655 So. 2d 824 (Miss.1995), cert. denied, 116 S.Ct. 782 (1996); Chase v. State, 645 So. 2d
829 (Miss.1994), cert. denied, 115 S.Ct. 2279 (1995), reh'g denied, 116 S.Ct. 20 (1995). In Brown,
this Court stated that "[€]ach case must be decided on its peculiar fact situation. If there is evidence
from which it may be reasonably inferred that a substantial reason for the killing was to conceal the
identity of the killer or killers or to "cover their tracks' so as to avoid apprehension and eventual
arrest by authorities, then it is proper for the court to allow the jury to consider this aggravating
circumstance." 1d. (citing Leatherwood v. State, 435 So. 2d 645, 651 (Miss.1983)). "[I]t isthis
Court's role to inquire into whether there is any credible evidence upon which the jury could find the
aggravating circumstance in question." Carr v. State, 655 So. 2d 824, 854 (Miss.1995) 655 So. 2d
824 (Miss.1995), cert. denied, 116 S.Ct. 782 (1996)(quoting Lanier v. State, 533 So. 2d 473, 490
(Miss.1988)).

11350. The evidence at trial showed that Evans deceived Tammy Giles, Beatrice's mother, into



believing that he was going to the store to purchase items for a barbecue. Evans told Giles that he
needed an hour to purchase groceries and call afriend. Evans lied about his identity to Giles and
claimed to be a school teacher from Texas. When Beatrice became concerned about the length of the
trip, Evans convinced her that they were smply taking alonger route.

11351. In his confession, Evans explained that he searched for a secluded area where he could rape
and murder Beatrice. After Evans parked the vehicle he placed duct tape around Beatrice's mouth to
muffle her cries and told her that she was aone with him and there was no one to help her. Evans
indicated that he kept everything he used in the jeep because he was concerned about evidence being
at the scene.

11352. After raping and killing Beatrice, Evans drove around searching for a secluded area where he
could dump her body. After dumping the body, he disposed of Beatrice's clothing along the side of
the highway and continued his efforts to cover his tracks and avoid detection.

11353. The jury had before it evidence which indicated from the time Evans abducted Beatrice from
her mother, he used special precaution to avoid detection or apprehension. The jury could have easily
concluded that Evans killed Beatrice to prevent her from reporting the sexual assault she suffered.
Moreover, the jury could have concluded beyond a reasonable doubt that Evans murdered Beatrice
for the purposes of avoiding or preventing alawful arrest. Here, asin Chase, and Walker, "the
murder . . . was only one of the many attempts to avoid detection and arrest." Thetrial court properly
submitted this aggravating circumstance to the jury. Thisissue is without merit.

XXII.WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY AT
THE SENTENCING PHASE TO DISREGARD SYMPATHY.

11354. Evans argues that Sentencing Instruction C-1 improperly instructed the jury to totally disregard
sympathy in determining the appropriate sentence. The language complained of by Evansis as
follows:

Y ou should not be influenced by bias, sympathy, or prejudice. Y our verdict should be based on
the evidence and not upon speculation, guesswork or conjecture.

11355. Despite Evans' current claims, the record reveals that any error regarding this instruction was
waived because defense counsel voiced no objection and approved the instruction. This Court has
repeatedly held that "[t]he assertion on appeal of grounds for an objection which was not the
assertion at trial is not an issue properly preserved on appeal." Ballenger v. State, 667 So. 2d 1242,
1264 (Miss.1995), cert. denied, 116 S.Ct. 2565 (1996), reh'g denied, 117 S.Ct. 26 (1996); Haddox
v. State, 636 So. 2d 1229, 1240 (Miss.1994).

11356. In Williams v. State, 445 So. 2d 798, 810 (Miss.1984), cert. denied, 469 U.S. 1117 (1985),
this Court held that "[w]e have in death penalty cases the prerogative of relaxing our
contemporaneous objection and plain error rules when the interest of justice so requires.” The State,
acknowledging that proper objection was made to instruction S-1, presumes that Evans is appealing
the submission of thisinstruction. Defense counsdl, relying on Pinkney v. State, 538 So. 2d 329, 351
(Miss.1988), cert. granted, vacated, 494 U.S. 1075 (1990), on remand, 602 So. 2d 1177 (1992),
objected to S-1 on the grounds that it instructed the jury "to totally disregard sympathy." Therefore,



it is areasonable conclusion that Evans intended to challenge instruction S-1 and its directives
regarding sympathy. Instruction S-1, in pertinent part, contains the following language:

Y ou should consider and weigh any aggravating and mitigating circumstances, as set forth later
in thisinstruction, but you are cautioned not to be swayed by mere sentiment, conjecture,
sympathy, passion, prejudice, public opinion or public feeling.

1357. In Pinkney v. State, 538 So. 2d 329, 351 (Miss.1988), cert. granted, vacated on other
grounds, 494 U.S. 1075 (1990), on remand, 602 So. 2d 1177 (1992), this Court held that "ajury
may not be instructed to disregard, in toto, sympathy . . . ." Here, the jury was not instructed to
disregard sympathy in toto. Rather, the instruction given isidentical to that approved by this Court in
Bluev. State, 674 So. 2d 1184, 1225 (Miss.1996), cert. denied, 117 S.Ct. 588 (1996); Ballenger v.
State, 667 So. 2d 1242, 1264 (Miss.1995), cert. denied, 116 S.Ct. 2565 (1996), reh'g denied, 117
S.Ct. 26 (1996), and Willie v. State, 585 So. 2d 660, 671 (Miss.1991). In Willie, this Court held:

The United States Supreme Court has found that the anti-sympathy language used in the
preceding instruction passes constitutional muster. California v. Brown, 479 U.S. 538, 542-43,
107 S.Ct. 837, 839-40, 93 L.Ed.2d 934 (1987). We find that because the instruction does not
inform the jury that it must disregard in toto sympathy and leaves the jury the option to vote for
or against the death penalty, the instruction is a proper statement of the law. See Pinkney v.
State, 538 So.2d 329, 351 (Miss.1988), vacated on other grounds, --- U.S. ---, 110 S.Ct. 1800,
108 L.Ed.2d 931 (1990); Williamsv. State, 544 So.2d 782, 788 (Miss.1987). This argument
has no merit.

Willie, 585 So. 2d at 677. Thisissue is without merit.

XXIT.WHETHER THE LIMITING INSTRUCTION ON THE HEINOUS,
ATROCIOUS, OR CRUEL AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE WAS
UNCONSTITUTIONALLY VAGUE AND WHETHER THERE WAS SUFFICIENT
EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THIS CIRCUMSTANCE.

11358. Evans first argues that the limiting instruction given by the lower court regarding the heinous,
atrocious or cruel aggravating circumstance was unconstitutionally vague and over broad because it
failed to limit the meaning of "especialy heinous, atrocious, or cruel.”

11359. In Davis v. State, 684 So.2d 643 (Miss.1996), this Court considered an identical instruction
and held that "the 'especially heinous aggravating circumstance was properly narrowed for the jury's
consideration." 1d. at 662. See also Williams v. State, 684 So. 2d 1179, 1198 (Miss.1996); Jenkins
v. State, 607 So. 2d 1171, 1181 (Miss. 1992). Thisissue is without merit.

11360. Evans aso challenges the sufficiency of the evidence to support this aggravating circumstance.
However, Evansfails to cite any authority. "An assignment of error, unsupported by any authority,
'lacks persuasion’ on review." Williams v. State, 684 So. 2d 1179, 1202 (Miss.1996)(citations
omitted). Notwithstanding appropriate authority and in light of our heightened scrutiny of death
penalty cases, we alternatively address this argument. I d.

11361. Challenges to the sufficiency of the evidence are subject to the following standard of review:



When reviewing a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence, this Court considers al of the
evidence in the light most consistent with the verdict, giving the State the benefit of all
inferences favorable to the verdict. When the evidence before the jury is such that reasonable
jurors could have found the defendant guilty, the verdict is beyond this Court's authority to
disturb.

Taylor v. State, 672 So.2d 1246, 1255 (Miss.1996), cert. denied, 117 S.Ct. 486 (1996), reh'g
denied, 117 S.Ct. 755 (1997)(quoting McFee v. State, 511 So. 2d 130, 133-34 (Miss.1987)).

11362. During the sentencing phase, the prosecution called Dr. McGarry, who testified as to the pain
and suffering that Beatrice could have suffered given her injuries. Dr. McGarry testified as follows:

DR. MCGARRY:: | found in the area of the anus atear on the back edge of the anus that was
three-fourth inch long. On the front edge of the anus a one-half inch tear going from the
opening into the area of the vagina which is adjacent to the anus. A tear that connected the two
channels across tissue that should be intact between them, and atear on the front of the vagina
three-fourth inch long going from the opening upward. All of these tears, the three-fourth inch
on the front of the vagina and the back of the anus and the tear across the septum between them
started at the opening and went up into the channel. These are the tears that are produced by
forceful penetration, stretching the delicate tissues of these parts of the body until the tissues
tear open.

MR. CARANNA: Could you determine whether or not these injuries were inflicted upon
Beatrice Routh during her lifetime?

DR. MCGARRY : During her lifetime. The degree of hemorrhage, the extent of the hemorrhage
in the areas of tearing and into the adjacent tissue would not occur in a person after death.

* k% *

DR. MCGARRY : The anus and the and vaginal opening are composed of tissue that is very
delicate and thin and sensitive. It has a large amount of nerve supply to such a degree that
procedures that require opening this tissue are not done without anesthesia because of the
extensive pain inflicted by thiskind of disruption of tissue.

11363. Dr. McGarry also testified as to the pain associated with death by asphysixa due to
strangulation:

DR. MCGARRY : This causes pain and suffering because it damages the tissue, it compresses
and traumati zes the tissue to a point of causing bruising in the area. It closes off the lower part
of the throat through which the person must breathe, prevents the person from breathing.

* k% *

DR. MCGARRY:: This has the effect of adding to the physical pain of injuries to the neck, the
inability to get breath, the sensation that goes through a person when they are unable to breathe,
and the fear that accompanies that when respiration is prevented.



11364. The nature of the wounds, in conjunction with the pain associated with this manner of death as
well as the fact that Evans killed aten year-old child who was begging to be returned to her mother,
provides sufficient evidence from which reasonable jurors could conclude that this murder was
"especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel." Thisissue iswithout merit.

XIV.WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN LIMITING EVANSTO SIX JURY
INSTRUCTIONS DURING THE SENTENCING PHASE.

11365. Evans argues that the trial court erred in imposing a six-instruction limit on the defense during
the sentencing phase of trial, forcing him to withdraw other instructions regarding "weighing,
deliberations or things of that nature in a sentencing phase in a capital case." Evans argues the trial
court imposed the limit after misinterpreting Unif. Crim. R. of Cir. Ct. Prac. 5.03. At the time of trial,
Rule 5.033) in pertinent part provided:

The attorneys may submit no more than six instructions on the substantive law of the case to
which the opposing party shall dictate into the record the specific objections.

11366. In Young v. State, 451 So. 2d 208, 211 (Miss.1984), cert. denied, 469 U.S 860 (1984), this
Court addressed the six-instruction limit contained in Rule 5.03 and held that the number of
instructions submitted to the court and the jury "lies within the sound judicia discretion of the trial
judge who may limit or expand for good cause shown." There, we held that the six-instruction limit is
a"numerical beginning point . . . [not] an inflexiblerule. . .. " Id. However, an abuse of discretion by
the trial court in limiting the number of instructions alone isinsufficient to require reversal by this
Court. In Shaw v. State, 540 So.2d 26, 29-30 (Miss.1989), this Court held that "failure to follow the
dictates of Rule 5.03, Crim.R.Cir.Ct.Prac., will not lead to reversal absent actual prejudice to the
defendant." Id. (citing Carter v. State, 493 So.2d 327, 331 (Miss.1986)).

11367. When reviewing the submission or omission of jury instructions, this Court has repeatedly held
that this Court reviews the "instructions as a whole, with no one instruction taken out of context."
Heidel v. State, 587 So.2d 835, 842 (Miss.1991). The Evans jury was given five sentencing
instructions, each of which extensively instructed the jury on capital sentencing procedure. Evans
argument that the six-instruction limit denied the jury instructions regarding weighing, deliberations
or things of that nature in a sentencing phase in a capital case is without merit. The jury was amply
instructed regarding the weighing and consideration of the evidence presented at trial. The jury was
also extensively instructed as to the consideration of aggravating and mitigating circumstances.
Moreover, areview of the instructions excluded by the trial court reveals that the subject matter of
those instructions was addressed by instructions given by the trial court or contained incorrect
statements of the law.

1368. In Heidel v. State, 587 So. 2d 835, 842 (Miss.1991), this Court held that "[a] defendant is
entitled to have jury instructions given which present his theory of the case, Murphy, 566 So.2d at
1206; Young v. State, 451 So.2d 208, 210 (Miss.1984); however, this entitlement is limited in that
the court may refuse an instruction which incorrectly states the law, is covered fairly elsewhere in the
instructions, or is without foundation in the evidence. Murphy, 566 So.2d at 1206; United States v.
Robinson, 700 F.2d 205, 211 (5th Cir. 1983), appeal after remand, 713 F.2d 110 (1984); Davis v.
State, 431 So.2d 468, 475 (Miss.1983)(A trial court is not required to give instructions which are
covered by other instructions although the language may differ.).” Thisissue is without merit.



XV.WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN OVERRULING OBJECTIONSTO
SENTENCING INSTRUCTION S-1A.

11369. Evans alleges that sentencing instruction S-1A was erroneous for three reasons. First, Evans
argues that the catch-all language utilized in the instruction would alow reasonable jurors to
conclude that they had discretion to ignore non-statutory mitigating circumstances when deciding
Evans fate. The language Evans complains of is as follows:

(1) Any other matter, any other aspect of the defendant's character or record, and any other
circumstance of the offense brought to you during the tria on this cause which you, the Jury,
deem to be mitigating on behalf of the defendant.

(emphasis added). Evans relies on Eddings v. Oklahoma, 455 U.S. 104 (1982), appeal after

remand, 688 P.2d 342 (1984), cert. denied, 470 U.S. 1051 (1985), in arguing that "sentencersin a
capital case 'may not give [mitigating circumstances| no weight by excluding such evidence from their
deliberations.™

11370. The record reveals that al objections made by Evans to Instruction S-1 were incorporated into
S-1A. However, during the colloquy among defense counsel, the prosecution, and the court, no
objection was made to this particular language in Instruction S-1. Because Evans failed to object to
the inclusion of the catch-all language, this assignment of error is barred. However, without waiving
the bar, we will aternatively consider the merits of this assignment.

11371. Contrary to Evans argument, this language does not authorize the jury to ignore non-statutory
elements of mitigation but rather, instructs the jury that they may consider additional mitigating
evidence and therefore is in conformity with Eddings and Miss. Code Ann. § 99-19-101 (1), which
states that any relevant mitigating evidence introduced on behalf of the defendant may be considered
by the jury.

11372. Moreover, this Court has approved instructions containing this language in Carr v. State, 655
So.2d 824, 855 (Miss.1995), cert. denied, 116 S.Ct. 782 (1996); Ladner v. State, 584 So.2d 743,
761 (Miss.1991), cert. denied, 502 U.S. 1015 (1991); Turner v. State, 573 So.2d 657, 668
(Miss.1990), cert. denied, 500 U.S. 910 (1991), and expressly held in Neal v. State, 451 So.2d 743,
761 (Miss.1984), cert. denied, 469 U.S. 1098 (1984), that catch-all language regarding mitigating
factors should be employed in every case. Thisissue is without merit.

11373. Evans next argues that language contained within S-1A could have instructed the jury that they
must find mitigating factors unanimously. Evans argues that the reference to the jury using the
pronoun "you, the Jury" implies that the jury must act as a collective body and thus must act
unanimously when considering the existence of mitigating factors. Evans cites the following language
as erroneous:

Any other matter, any other aspect of the defendant's character or record, and any other
circumstance of the offense brought to you during the trial on this cause which you, thedury,
deem to be mitigating on behalf of the defendant.

If you find from the evidence that one or more of the preceding elements of mitigation exists,



then you must consider whether it (or they) outweigh(s) or overcome(s) the aggravating
circumstance(s) you previoudy found. In the event that you find the mitigating circumstances
do not outweigh or overcome the aggravating circumstance(s), you may impose the death
sentence. Should you find that the mitigating circumstance(s) outweigh or overcome the
aggravating circumstance(s), you shall not impose the death sentence.

C.

The verdict you return must be written on a separate sheet of paper signed by the foreman. You
(sic) verdict should be written in one of the following forms. . . .

(emphasis added).

11374. This Court has addressed instructions either identical or similar to that with which we are
presented today. See Williams v. State, 684 So.2d 1179, 1200 (Miss.1996); Chase v. State, 645
S0.2d 829, 859-60 (Miss.1995); cert. denied, 115 S.Ct. 2279 (1995), reh'g denied, 116 S.Ct. 20
(1995); Thorson v. State, 653 So. 2d 876, 894 (Miss.1994); Hansen v. State, 592 So. 2d 114, 149-
50 (Miss.1991), cert. denied, 504 U.S. 921 (1992); reh'g denied, 505 U.S. 1231 (1992); Shell v.
State, 554 So. 2d 887, 905 (Miss.1989), cert. granted, rev'd in part, 498 U.S. 1 (1990). Each time
we held that the instruction[s] did not violate the holding in McKoy v. North Carolina, 494 U.S. 433
(1990), McNeil v. North Carolina, 494 U.S. 1050 (1990), or Millsv. Maryland, 486 U.S. 367
(1988).

11375. Once again, this Court is confronted with an instruction where:

[t]he mitigating circumstances portion of the instruction does not contain "unanimous' or
"unanimoudly.” Only the aggravating circumstances part contains these words. No instruction
says, implies or intimates to any reasonably literate juror that he or she should await unanimity
before considering a mitigating circumstance.

Hansen v. State, 592 So. 2d 114, 150 (Miss.1991), cert. denied, 504 U.S. 921 (1992); reh'g denied,
505 U.S. 1231 (1992). See also Williams v. State, 684 So.2d 1179, 1200; Davisv. State, 684 So. 2d
643, 664 (Miss 1996)(citing Ladner v. State, 584 So.2d 743, 760 (Miss.1991)); Willie v. State, 585
S0.2d 660, 681 (Miss.1991); Turner v. State, 573 So.2d 657, 668 (Miss.1990); and Shell v. State,
554 So.2d 887 (Miss.1989), reversed on other grounds, 498 U.S. 1(1990)). Thisissue is without
merit.

11376. The third ground of contention with regard to Sentencing Instruction S-1A isthat "reasonable
jurors could-- and-- would have taken the instruction to mean that, once the jury found at least one
aggravating circumstance, both the burden of production and the burden of proof shifted to the
defendant to demonstrate that a death sentence should not be imposed.” Evans objects to the
following language:

If one or more of the above aggravating circumstances is found to exist, then you must consider
whether there are mitigating circumstances which outweigh the aggravating circumstance(s).
Consider the following elements of mitigation in determining whether thedeath penalty should
not be imposed;



* k% *

If you find from the evidence that one or more of the preceding elements of mitigation exists,
then you must consider whether it (or they) outweigh(s) or overcome(s) the aggravating
circumstance(s) you previoudy found. In the event that you find that the mitigating
circumstance(s) do not outweigh or overcome the aggravating circumstance(s), you may
impose the death sentence. Should you find that the mitigating circumstance(s) outweigh or
overcome the aggravating circumstance(s), you shall not impose the death sentence.

(emphasis added).

1377. Evans argument is as familiar asis the language of the instruction. Identical language was
before this Court in Blue v. State, 674 So.2d 1184, 1222-23 (Miss.1996); Conner v. State, 632 So.
2d 1239, 1278 (Miss.1993), cert. denied, 115 S.Ct. 314 (1994); Stringer v. State, 500 So. 2d 928,
944 (Miss.1986); Turner v. State, 573 So. 2d 657 (Miss.1990), cert. denied, 500 U.S. 910 (1991).
In each case, the appellant, like Evans, argued that this language impermissibly shifted the burden of
proof to the defendant. After review, this Court has consistently held that this argument is without
merit. See also Shell v. State, 554 So. 2d 887, 904 (Miss.1989), rev'd on other grounds, 498 U.S. 1
(1990); Jordan v. State, 365 So. 2d 1198, 1206 (Miss.1978), cert. denied, 444 U.S. 885 (1979).

11378. Evans, however, expands the argument somewhat by challenging the language included in the
initial paragraph wherein the jury was instructed to "consider the following elements of mitigation in
determining whether the death penalty should not be imposed.” In Williams v. State, 684 So. 2d
1179, 1202 (Miss.1996), we were confronted with identical language. There we held:

One of the criteriathat jurors must find exists to impose the sentence of death is the presence of
one or more of the aggravating circumstances. What the defendant iscitingtoin S-2is
language instructing jurors to consider the following mitigators after the jury has unanimously
determined that one or more of the enumerated aggravators exist. When taken in context, we
find that thisissue, asin Shell, lacks merit.

11379. Lastly, Evans argues that Sentencing Instruction S-1A failed to require the prosecution to
prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the death penalty was the appropriate penalty. Specifically,
Evans argues that the instruction unconstitutionally relieved the State of its obligation to prove
beyond a reasonable doubt that (1) the aggravating circumstances were sufficient to impose the death
penalty; (2) there were insufficient mitigating circumstances to outweigh any aggravating
circumstances; or (3) the Defendant should suffer death.

11380. In essence, Evans argues that the jury should utilize the "beyond a reasonable doubt” standard
in weighing the aggravating and mitigating circumstances during the sentencing phase of a capital
trial. To require such would exceed what is required by statute or by case law. In Wiley v. State, 484
So.2d 339, 352 (Miss.1986), overruled on other grounds, Willie v. State, 585 So. 2d 660, 681
(Miss.1991), this Court was confronted with the same argument and held that "[t]he majority rule of
this Court is that the jurors are required to find the existence of each aggravating circumstance
beyond a reasonable doubt, but the jury is not required to find that the aggravating circumstances
beyond a reasonable doubt outweigh the mitigating circumstances following the statute." The
instruction given by the lower court clearly complied with Miss. Code Ann. § 99-19-101 and the



precedent of this Court. Thisissue is without merit.

XVI.WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN RULING THAT DEFENSE
EXHIBIT 15WOULD OPEN THE DOOR TO FUTURE DANGEROUSNESS.

11381. Evans next argues that the trial court erred in ruling that Evans would open the door to a
future dangerous argument by the State if the defense sought to admit a parole report from the Texas
Department of Corrections which indicated that just seven days prior to the kidnapping and murder
of Beatrice, Evans tested positive for cocaine.

11382. A review of the record and Evans motion for new trial reveals that Evans did not assert this
ground of contention in the trial court and therefore thisissue is procedurally barred from
consideration on appeal. Metcalf v. State, 629 So. 2d 558, 561-62 (Miss.1993). However, without
waiving the bar, this Court may alternatively address the merits of the assignment of error. Foster v.
State, 639 So. 2d 1263, 1270-71 (Miss.1994).

11383. Although Evans repeatedly refers to the erroneous "ruling” by the trial court, the trial court
never ruled upon the State's objection to the introduction of Defense Exhibit 15, nor did Evans
request such aruling from the trial judge. Exhibit 15 was discussed among the tria court, the State
and defense counsel. However, the tria court did not sustain the State's objection, but merely
observed that by introducing Exhibit 15 in order to argue that Evans was negligently released, Evans
may open the door to a future dangerousness argument by the State. After conferring with Evans,
defense counsel withdrew the exhibit.

11384. In Gayten v. State, 595 So. 2d 409, 413 (Miss.1992), this Court held that the failure to seek a
definitive ruling on objections or to seek corrective action by the defendant waives the issue for the
purposes of appeal. See also Cole v. State, 525 So. 2d 365, 369 (Miss.1987), cert. denied, 488 U.S.
934 (1988); reh'g denied, 488 U.S. 1023 (1989); Cummings v. State, 465 So. 2d 993, 996
(Miss.1985). Moreover, we have long held that a "trial court cannot be put in error on a matter not
presented to the court for decision.” Chase v. State, 645 So. 2d 829, 846 (Miss.1994), cert. denied,
115 S.Ct. 2279 (1995); reh'g denied, 116 S.Ct. 20 (1995); Jones v. State, 606 So. 2d 1051, 1058
(Miss.1992); Crenshaw v. State, 520 So. 2d 131, 134-135 (Miss.1988). Evans failure to seek a
definite ruling by the trial court waives thisissue for appellate purposes. Thisissue is without merit.

11385. Notwithstanding Evans failure to obtain aruling by the trial court and his voluntary, tactical
decision to withdraw the report, Evans contends the trial court erroneously deterred his use of the
Texas parole report as evidence of mitigation by observing that this may open the door to a rebuttal
argument by the prosecution concerning future dangerousness. Evans maintains that he was entitled
to introduce this report as mitigating evidence that he was under the influence of cocaine at the time
of the offense.

11386. Evans cites Balfour v. State, 598 So. 2d 731, 748 (Miss.1992), wherein this Court stated "[d]
word of caution would be that our holding in Hansen is not an open season license for prosecutors
to circumvent the plain mandate of § 99-19-101 (5), under the guise of relevant Rule 401 rebuttal
evidence. In Balfour, this Court was faced with a situation wherein the prosecutor "repeatedly
hammered away in an attempt to secure a commitment from Balfour for her propensity to commit
future robberies." 1d. There, this Court held that "the state is limited to offering evidence that is



relevant to one of the aggravating circumstances included in § 99-19-101." Stringer v. State 500 So.
2d 928, 941 (Miss.1986); see Coleman v. State, 378 So. 2d 640, 648 (Miss.1979). "While some
jurisdictions do provide for propensity for future dangerousness as a statutory aggravating factor,
such is not the case in Mississippi jurisprudence.” Id. This Court concluded that the trial court erred
as amatter of law when it allowed the prosecutor to repeatedly explore the appellant's propensity for
future crimes. 1d.

1387. Evans argues that Balfour mandates that the State would have been precluded from arguing
Evans propensity for future dangerousness from the admission of the parole report. Evans argues
that he intended to argue that he was under the influence of crack cocaine at the time of the offense,
and that the Texas parole officer was negligent in failing to arrest him- - both in mitigation.

11388. Evans was clearly entitled to offer mitigating evidence during the sentencing phase. Here,
however, the trial court did not prohibit this introduction but merely cautioned Evans that this
argument might backfire. Unlike Balfour, the prosecution did not offer the report or make a future
dangerousness argument. Moreover, the defense made atactical decision to withdraw the report
based upon observations by the trial judge. However, this withdrawal came after the trial court
indicated that the jury, using its own common sense, might draw the conclusion from the report that
if the Texas parole authorities were negligent in carrying out their duties, Mississippi correctional
authorities might also be negligent if Evans were given alife sentence.

11389. Because we are not presented with any actual error which occurred at the trial level, thisissue
is without merit.

XXVII.WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING THE
INTRODUCTION OF THE VERDICT ON COUNT I INTO EVIDENCE AT THE
SENTENCING PHASE.

11390. Evans argues that the trial judge erroneoudly allowed the State to introduce the jury's verdict
on Count | into evidence at the sentencing phase as proof of the aggravating circumstance that the
offense was committed during a kidnapping. Specifically, Evans argues that "the jury's guilt-
innocence phase verdict was not competent evidence of the aggravating circumstance that the offense
occurred during a kidnapping.”

11391. Thisissue was recently before this Court in Williams v. State, 684 So. 2d 1179 (Miss.1996). In
Williams, the trial court allowed the State to introduce the guilty verdict from the guilt-innocence
phase at Williams' re-sentencing after the case was reversed by this Court on direct appeal. This
Court held that "the second jury did not have to 're-find' the elements of murder and/or kidnaping, the
underlying offense” and could "rely upon the prior finding made . . . during the guilt-finding phase.”
Id. at 1188.

11392. In Williams, this Court relied on Lowenfield v. Phelps, 484 U.S. 231, 241-46 (1988), reh'g
denied, 485 U.S. 944 (1988), wherein the United States Supreme Court approved of the overlap
between afinding of guilt in an underlying felony supporting a capital offense, and the reuse of that
felony to prove an aggravator in the sentencing phase. Applying Lowenfield to the facts presented in
Williams, this Court held "with its 'no reason’ language, Lowenfield allows a resentencing jury to
rely on what was found in the origina trial in deciding whether or not an aggravator would apply."



Williams, 684 So.2d at 1189.

1393. In Williams, this Court recognized that Irving v. State, 441 So. 2d 846, 849 (Miss. 1986),
cert. denied, 481 U.S. 1042 (1987), clearly holds that the resentencing jury could not relitigate the
issue of guilt, "[r]ather the second jury's function was to accept the first jury's finding that Irving was
guilty of felony-murder involving robbery and then to determine [the] sentence.” Thus, this Court
concluded that the "resentencing jury could 'reuse’ the capital murder conviction to establish the
aggravator that the offense was committed while Williams was engaged in the commission of
kidnaping.” 684 So.2d at 1190-91. "The issue at the resentencing hearing was not the initial elements
of the crime, but rather the sentence imposed upon a defendant who had been found guilty by a prior

jury." 1d.

11394. In the present case, one jury heard all of the evidence regarding the charges against Evans and
returned a guilty verdict against Evans for the crime of capital murder during the commission of a
kidnapping. Certainly this samejury is entitled to rely upon their verdict in determining the
appropriate punishment for that offense. Moreover, asin Williams, the jury in the present case was
properly instructed that they were required to find aggravating circumstances beyond a reasonable
doubt. Contrary to Evans argument, there is nothing which indicates that the introduction of the
guilty verdict resulted in unfair prejudice. Thisissue is without merit.

XXVIIT.WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING THE
PROSECUTION TO INTRODUCE EVIDENCE ON COUNTSII AND Il AT THE
SENTENCING PHASE.

11395. Evans next assignment of error challenges the admission by thetria court of all evidence
presented at the guilt-innocence phase, including evidence relevant only to the sexual battery counts.

11396. Evans first challenge is to the reintroduction of all evidence presented at the guilt phase. In
Davisv. State, 660 So.2d 1228, 1253 (Miss.1995), cert. denied, 116 S.Ct. 1684 (1996), reh'g
denied, 117 S.Ct. 7 (1996), this Court held that the trial court did not commit reversible error by
allowing the prosecution to introduce al of the testimony from the guilt phase. This holding is
consistent with Jackson v. State, 337 So. 2d 1242, 1256 (Miss.1976), wherein this Court held:

At the sentencing hearing, the question to be decided by the jury is whether the defendant shall
be sentenced to death or to life imprisonment. At this hearing, the State may elect to stand on
the case made at the first hearing, if before the same jury, or may reintroduce any part of the
evidence adduced at the first hearing which it considers to be relevant to the particular question
of whether the defendant shall suffer death or be sentenced to life imprisonment.

11397. Evans also contends that evidence regarding the sexual battery of Beatrice was irrelevant to
any of the eight statutory aggravating circumstances. Miss. Code Ann. § 99-19-101 clearly provides
that "[i]n the proceeding, evidence may be presented as to any matter that the court deems relevant
to sentence, and shal include matters relating to any of the aggravating or mitigating
circumstances." (emphasis added). Evidence of sexual battery was admitted to prove that "the capital
offense was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel." During the sentencing phase, the State recalled
Dr. McGarry to testify as to his findings regarding the sexual battery charges. Dr. McGarry's
testimony regarding the pain and suffering endured by Beatrice during the sexual assault was highly



relevant and probative to the "especialy, heinous, atrocious, and cruel" aggravating factor. Thisissue
is without merit.

XXIX.WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN AWARDING ATTORNEY'S
FEESTO DEFENSE COUNSEL.

11398. On the issue of attorneys fees, the instant appeal is consolidated with Donald Leroy Evansv.
State, 94-CA-0176-SCT.

11399. Evans contends the trial judge erred in providing his defense counsel, William S. Boyd, 111 only
$ 31,008.33 as compensation. At the time of Boyd's representation of Evans, he was a member in the
firm of Eaton & Caottrell, P.A. Following trial and sentencing, Boyd filed an Application for Payment
of Court-Appointed Counsel. The Application was accompanied by a detailed summary of the nature
and type of professional services rendered and disbursements made in connection with the
representation of Donald Leroy Evans. In addition to Boyd, two associates, two law clerks and one
paralegal assisted in preparation for trial. Total hours expended by each of these individuals were as
follows:

William S. Boyd, 111 631.00
Kenneth R. Flottman 99.25
Scott E. Andress 3.50
Ricky J. Cox 47.95
Thomas Carpenter 14.75
Jodee F. McGill 252.70

1400. Attached to the Application as "Exhibit A" isthe affidavit of Robert E. Bass, Jr., a certified
public accountant with the firm of Moore & Powell. Bass prepared an hourly cost analysis to detail
the actual expenses attributable to the time expended by counsel and his staff. These figures are as
follows:

William S. Boyd $ 54,808.66

Kenneth R. Flottman $ 5,086.56

Scott E. Andress $ 179.38

Ricky J. Cox $ 1,642.29

Thomas Carpenter $ 505.19

Jodee F. McGill $ 8,654.98

TOTAL COST PER HOUR $ 70,877.0612)

This analysis utilizes an hourly overhead rate for different classes of professionals at Eaton &



Cottrell. Those rates are as follows:
Shareholders/Principals $ 86.26
Associates $51.25
Paraegals and Law Clerks $34.25

In his affidavit, Bass noted that he included shareholder/principal compensation, including bonuses,
when calculating the hourly rates "because it is a norma ongoing expense of every professional
practice." Total overhead cost per hour plus actual expenses incurred ($ 6, 773.23) yields atotal
amount of $ 77,650.29. The same calculation utilizing market rates for services ($ 101, 252.25) plus
expenses (6, 773.23) yidds atotal result of $ 108, 025.48.

1401. On January 27, 1994, a hearing was held on the Application for Payment. Harrison County was
represented by Honorable Walter W. Teel. William S. Boyd, 111 represented Evans. Boyd indicated
that he did not expect to receive payment based on market rates, however, he included these amounts
in the Application in order that "everybody [could] understand what was being given up, $ 40,000.00
by me and my law firm in this matter." Rather, Boyd stated that he was only asking for $ 66, 377.06
plus expenses. Counsel for the Harrison County conceded that the county did not dispute the amount
of hours submitted for payment, but did contest the method of calculation of the overhead hourly
rates.

1402. On January 27, 1994, the trial court found that the "applicant failed to meet the burden of
proof required to rebut or overcome the presumption of $ 25.00 per hour overhead expense” and
ordered that Boyd be compensated in the amount of $ 31,008.33. The tria court found that the
calculation of an hourly corporate overhead rate rather than an hourly rate for the pro-rata actual
office overhead expenses of Mr. Boyd did not "conform to the limits of actual overhead expense
defined in Wilson and Pruett." Additionally, the trial court noted that the CPA "did not itemize or
describe all expenses he determined to be overhead.”

1403. Thetria court allowed the following compensation:

Reimbursement of actual office overhead $ 20,255.10

(631 x $32.10)(L5)

Statutory Compensation $ 2,000.00

(Boyd was the only attorney appointed

under § 99-15-15)

Actual Expensesincurred intria of the case

(includes $ 2,000.00 approved by this order for 1 law clerk

and 1 paralegal, less $ 20.00 expenses dated 8/27/93) $ 8,753.23
$ 31, 008.33



11404. This Court, in Wilson v. State, 574 So. 2d 1338 (Miss.1990), was faced with a constitutional
challenge to Miss. Code Ann. § 99-15-17 and held:

Although § 99-15-17 limits the compensation which an attorney may receive for the
representation of an indigent, it also allows for "reimbursement of actual expenses.” Following
our rule of statutory construction, we are able to save this statute from unconstitutionality by
interpreting this language to include reimbursement for all actual costs to the lawyer for the
purpose of keeping his or her door open to handle this casg, i.e., the lawyer will receive a pro
rata share of actual overhead.

1405. This Court adopted a rebuttable presumption that an attorney's actual overhead within the
statute is $ 25.00 per hour. 1d. However, this Court stated that a "trial court is bound by thisonly in
the absence of actual proof to the contrary--proof offered by the lawyer that it is more or by the State
that it isless." I d.

11406. Evans argues that the trial court erred in holding that he failed to rebut the $ 25.00 per hour
presumption announced by this Court in Wilson. From this record, the trial court was not presented
with sufficient evidence to rebut the presumption. Although counsel refers to a document titled
"Overhead Analysis-Case Reimbursement” which presented various hourly overhead rates (i.e. with
and without the inclusion of bonuses/shareholder compensation), this information is not contained
within the record. Moreover, the tria court specifically found that the CPA calculated a corporate
rate, rather than an individual pro rata share of actual overhead and did not itemize the components
of the hourly overhead rate. Notably, however, the trial judge, sua sponte, increased the amount to $
32.10 per hour to provide for inflation. As such, counsel received sufficiently more than $ 25.00 per
hour.

1407. "The appointed attorney should not expect to be compensated at market rate, rather at a
reasonable, but lesser rate, which reflects the unique difficulty these cases present as balanced with
the attorney's obligation to defend the indigent.” Bailey v. State, 424 S.E.2d 503, 508 (S.C.1992).
What constitutes "reasonable”’ compensation is left to the discretion of the trial court in most
jurisdictions. In the instant case, there was no dispute that the amount of hours submitted by counsel
was "reasonable and necessary." Wilson, 574 So. 2d at 1340. Moreover, the trial court emphasized
that counsdl's performance in the instant matter was "exemplary" and noted that counsel "renewed
my faith in the law profession because of the professionalism that you responded to a request from
the court not someone whom you have known personally for many years." However, in light of the
proof presented and the increase allowed by the trial court it is not apparent that the trial court
abused his discretion in determining the amount of attorney's fees.

XXX.WHETHER EVANSWASDENIED THE RIGHT OF SELF-
REPRESENTATION.

1408. In his pro se' brief Evans raises two additional assignments of error. Relying on Faretta v.
California, 422 U.S. 806 (1975), Evansfirst argues that he was denied the right of self-
representation. The essence of the issue before this Court is whether Evans waiver of the right to
represent himself was knowing, intelligent and voluntary. A review of the record is helpful.



1409. On September 3, 1991, the trial court held a hearing on Evans Motion to Dismiss Counsel.
Evans requested the trial court to dismiss court-appointed counsel and alow him to proceed pro se
with competent advisory counsel. The trial court ascertained Evans' level of education, prior
experience with the legal system and prior employment experience in an effort to determine whether
Evans was competent to waive his right to counsel. The trial judge also explained the risks involved
in proceeding pro se and advised Evans that if he became disruptive the trial court could terminate his
pro se status. After reviewing medical reports and the competency examination completed in
conjunction with the federa plea, the trial court sustained Evans motion and allowed him to proceed
pro se with James Tucker as advisory counsel.

1410. On October 4, 1991, Evans requested access to alaw library in order to prepare pre-trial
motions and histrial strategy. Evans argued that the appointment of advisory counsel to perform
research tasks circumvented his rights. Evans also argued that he was unable to prepare for his
preliminary hearing without accessto alaw library. The State thereafter confessed the motion.
However, during a second hearing on Evans Motion on Accessto Law Library, the tria court,
relying on Bounds v. Smith, 430 U.S. 817 (1977), denied Evans motion and ruled that "[t]he
defendant’s right of access to the courts have been fulfilled by the appointment of Mr. Tucker either
as an advisory counsel or as standby counsel."

1411. On October 19, 1991, Evans pled guilty to federal kidnapping charges and began serving alife
sentence at the federal penitentiary in Marion, Illinois. On February 28, 1992, Evans filed a Mation to
Withdraw and Waive Self-Representation pro se, with Request for Appointment of Counsel. Evans
alleged that he was denied access to Mississippi law books while being held in the Harrison County
Detention Center. Evans also aleged that standby counsel had been forced upon him and had not
provided Evans with appropriate research. However, Evans waiver was conditioned upon the tria
court's revocation of the writ of habeas corpus ad prosequendum, a procedure by which a court
brings a defendant into a particular jurisdiction for trial.

1412. Evansfiled an additional motion regarding access to alaw library wherein he denounced the
use of standby counsel to perform research tasks. Evans argued that he should be allowed to conduct
his own research. During the motion hearing, Evans indicated that he could not proceed because he
needed to subpoena witnesses on thisissue.

71413. On March 16, 1992, Evans filed a Motion to Withdraw Waiver of Ineffective Counsel wherein
he maintained his right to proceed pro se and alleged that he had been denied access to the courts.
Evans later filed a Motion to Dismiss Standby Counsel due to Obstructive Non-Performance, alleging
that James Tucker failed to subpoena witnesses, respond to correspondence, and provide Evans with
research materials. On Marc h 23, 1992, Evans filed a Motion to Secure Self-Representation Rights.

1414. During the motion hearing, the State requested that the trial court reconsider its decision to
allow Evans to proceed pro se. The court did not reconsider, but did, however, remind Evans that his
decision to represent himself carried with it some limitations. Evans argued that James Tucker had
not provided him with a constitutionally adequate law library containing the last thirty years of
criminal casesin Mississippi and all federal crimina cases. James Tucker was later allowed to
withdraw from his representation of Evans.

1415. On August 7, 1992, the tria court rescinded the September 13, 1991, order allowing Evansto



proceed pro se. Thetria court stated that this decision was based on the evidence introduced at the
motion to withdraw; the record made since the indictment and the law governing the issue of pro se
counsel; ineffective assistance of counsel; and the heightened standard of review in capital cases. The
trial court concluded:

While the defendant is able and willing to abide by rules of procedure and courtroom protocol,
it is obvious from the record made to date, that this defendant lacks the necessary skills, training
and experience to adequately represent himself in a death eligible case. In removing the
defendant from pro se status the Court is not limiting his rights to be heard. The Court is ssmply
finding that in death eligible cases, a defendant can better be heard with the guidance of a
skilled, trained and experienced attorney.

Thetrial court appointed Fred Lusk to represent Evans, however, Lusk subsequently withdrew from
the case. Evans, however, indicated that he knew of no attorney in Mississippi that he could
cooperate with. The trial court reminded Evans that he still had a right to be heard during the trial,
but acknowledged if "Mr. Evans wants to block thistrial by confirming in my mind his pattern of
conduct concerning my ruling on his pro se status he can go ahead and do that, and I'll do the best
that | can to document his position on the matter."

1416. The trial court appointed William S. Boyd, 111 and Woodrow Pringle to represent Evans.
Pringle later withdrew and Donald Smith was appointed. Prior to trial, Evans filed two motions to
plead guilty, but refused to enter a plea upon arrival in court. Evans stated that he refused to plead
because his appointed attorneys would delay the sentencing process. Shortly thereafter, Evans
escaped from custody.

1417. The trial court repeatedly advised Evans that the revocation of his pro se status did not
diminish hisright to be heard. However, on January 21, 1993, Evans, through his attorney William
Boyd, filed a Motion to Discharge Counsel and Allow the Defendant to Proceed pro se. Evans later
filed motions in objection to the revocation of his pro se status which were denied by the trial court
on August 9, 1993.

1418. Evans argues that the trial court unconstitutionally revoked his right to proceed pro se. In
Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806 (1975), the United States Supreme Court held that a criminal
defendant has a Sixth Amendment right to conduct his own defense. There, the Court recognized that
the "Sixth Amendment right to the assistance of counsel implicitly embodies a correlative right to
dispense with alawyer's help." 1d. at 814 (quoting Adams v. United States ex rel. McCann, 317

U.S. 269, 279 (1942)). The Court further held that "[t]he Sixth Amendment does not provide merely
that a defense shall be made for the accused; it grants to the accused personally the right to make his
defense.” 1d. at 819.

1419. The Mississippi Constitution of 1890, Article 3, section 26 provides that "[i]n all criminal
prosecutions the accused shall have aright to be heard by himself or counsel or both." In Metcalf v.
State, 629 So. 2d 558, 562 (Miss. 1993), this Court held that the "refusal to permit defendant to
argue his case isin direct violation of the above constitutional provisions and requires reversal.”
(quoting Gray v. State, 351 So. 2d 1342 (Miss.1977); cert. denied, 446 U.S. 988 (1980), reh'g
denied, 448 U.S. 912 (1980)). Moreover, the denia of the right to self-representation is not
"amenable to 'harmless error' analysis." McCaskle v. Wiggins, 465 U.S. 168, 177 n.8 (1984), reh'g



denied, 465 U.S. 168 (1984).

1420. Here, the trial court, relying on the evidence introduced at the motion to withdraw, the law
governing the issue of pro se counsel and ineffective assistance of counsel, and the heightened
standard of appellate review in death eligible cases, terminated Evans right to proceed pro se. The
trial court also heard evidence about Evans conduct during the hearing on the motion to withdraw
filed by James Tucker. For example, Evans wanted to challenge the entire proceedings because
witnesses travel expenses, the District Attorney and appointed counsel were not paid in gold and
slver tender. Evans also wanted to observe an examination of the remains of the deceased child
conducted in the courtroom. Tucker explained that Evans was irrational and flew into rages when his
reguests were not met and made unreasonable requests with regard to legal research.

1421. In Faretta, the Supreme Court acknowledged that "the trial judge may terminate self-
representation by a defendant who deliberately engages in serious and obstructionist misconduct.”
422 U.S. 834 n.46 (quoting Illinois v. Allen, 397 U.S. 337 (1970)). Furthermore, this Court has held
that a defendant who elects to proceed without counsel may not "use this right to play a'cat and
mouse’ game with the court or by ruse or stratagem fraudulently seek to have the tria judge placed in
a position where, in moving along the business of the court, the judge appears to be arbitrarily
depriving the defendant of counsel." Metcalf v. State, 629 So. 2d 558, 563 (Miss.1993)(quoting
Evansv. State, 273 So. 2d 495, 499 (Miss.1973)).

1422. Here, however, the trial judge did not rely on Evans' obstructionist behavior when he revoked
Evans right to proceed pro se, but rather expressly stated in the order that "the defendant is able and
willing to abide by rules of procedure and courtroom protocol.” The trial court stated:

[1]t is obvious from the record made to date, that this defendant lacks the necessary skills,
training and experience to adequately represent himself in a death eligible case. In removing the
defendant from pro se status the Court is not limiting his rights to be heard. The Court is ssmply
finding that in death eligible cases, a defendant can better be heard with the guidance of a
skilled, trained and experienced attorney.

1423. In Faretta, the Supreme Court clearly held that a criminal defendant's skill or expertise is not
the relevant inquiry when determining whether the defendant will proceed without counsel.
Specifically, the Court held:

It is undeniable that in most criminal prosecutions defendants could better defend with counsdl's
guidance than by their own unskilled efforts. But where the defendant will not voluntarily
accept representation by counsel, the potential advantage of alawyer's training and expertise,
can beredized, if at al, only imperfectly. To force alawyer on a defendant can only lead him to
believe that the law contrives against him. Moreover, it is not inconceivable that in some rare
instances, the defendant might in fact present his case more effectively by conducting his own
defense. Personal liberties are not rooted in the law of averages. The right to defend is personal.
The defendant, and not his lawyer or the State, will bear the personal consequences of a
conviction. It is the defendant, therefore, who must be free personally to decide whether in his
particular case counsdl is to his advantage. And although he may conduct his own defense
ultimately to his own detriment, his choice must be honored out of 'that respect for the
individua which isthe lifeblood of the law.



Faretta, 422 U.S. at 834 (1975).

7424. From the record and the order entered by the trial judge, there is serious doubt as to whether
the trial court properly terminated Evans' right to proceed without counsel. Here, asin Faretta,
Evans repeatedly declared that he wished to proceed without counsel and voiced objection to any
appointment of counsel. Moreover, the trial court recognized that Evans was "willing and able to
abide by rules of procedure and courtroom protocol.” Evans "technical legal knowledge, . . . was not
relevant to an assessment of his knowing exercise of the right to defend himself." Faretta, 422 U.S.
at 836.

1425. However, the second issue which arises is whether Evans waived hisright to self-
representation after the hearing on the Mation to Determine Competency. In Godinez v. Moran, 509
U.S. 389, 401 (1993), the Supreme Court held that there is a heightened standard for waiving the
right to counsel. There, the Court held that "[i]n addition to determining that a defendant who seeks
to plead guilty or waive counsel is competent, atrial court must satisfy itself that the waiver of his
constitutional rights is knowing and voluntary.” I d. at 400.

1426. In McCaskle v. Wiggins, 465 U.S. 168, 182 (1984), the Court held that "[o]nce a pro se
defendant invites or agrees to any substantial participation by counsel, subsequent appearances by
counsel must be presumed to be with the defendant's acquiescence, at least until the defendant
expressy and unambiguoudly renews his request that counsel be silenced.”

1427. On August 10, 1993, following the hearing on the Motion to Determine Competency, the trial
court, sua sponte, reminded Evans that he could invoke his Faretta rights and proceed pro se. Evans
noted that the court would have to consider the issue of preparational time, however, the trial court
stated that Evans had contributed to the lack of time when he escaped from jail. The following
morning, after conferring with counsel, Evans announced that he wished to proceed with counsel.

1428. However, after the jury was selected, Evans again renewed his request to proceed pro se.
When questioned by the trial court, Evans stated that he did not intend to withdraw as pro se counsel
after the competency hearing. This claim, however, is not supported by the record which indicates
that Evans unequivocally stated that he elected to proceed with counsel. Prior to the sentencing
phase, Evans again renewed his request to proceed pro se. However, upon further questioning by the
trial court, Evans stated he was not waiving counsel, but only requesting effective assistance of
counsal.

11429. A thorough review of the record reveals that Evans repeatedly renewed his request to proceed
pro se. However, each time his request was conditional and far from the unambiguous request as
required in McCaskle. Moreover, further inquiry by the trial judge usually revealed that Evans
intentions were based on considerations other than his right to proceed pro se. Therefore, based on
the record, Evans' conduct throughout the proceedings and the lack of a clear and unambiguous
request, we hold that Evans' continued acquiescence in representation by counsel waived his Faretta
rights. We aso reiterate that a defendant who elects to proceed without counsel may not "use this
right to play a'cat and mouse' game with the court or by ruse or stratagem fraudulently seek to have
the trial judge placed in a position where, in moving along the business of the court, the judge
appears to be arbitrarily depriving the defendant of counsal.” Metcalf v. State, 629 So. 2d 558, 563



(Miss.1993)(quoting Evans v. State, 273 So. 2d 495, 499 (Miss.1973)).

1430. We aso take this opportunity to address a repeated problem which arose during the
proceedings in the case sub judice. Evans repeatedly requested access to alibrary and research
materials in order to prepare for trial. Thetrial court, however, denied Evans direct accessto a
library and delegated research tasks to Evans' standby counsel, James Tucker. Evans, however,
objected to Tucker's role and demanded that he, like the District Attorney, have accessto alaw

library.

1431. In Bounds v. Smith, 430 U.S. 817, 828 (1977), the Supreme Court held that the "fundamental
constitutional right of access to the courts requires prison authorities to assist inmates in the
preparation and filing of meaningful legal papers by providing prisoners with adequate law libraries
or adequate assistance from persons trained in the law.” (emphasis added). See also Lewisv. Casey,
116 S.Ct. 2174 (1996). Although Bounds involved prisonersin purstit of post-conviction relief, the
same reasoning may logically apply to to a pro se crimina defendant facing trial. See Taylor v. Ligt,
880 F.2d 1040, 1047 (9th Cir. 1989).

1432. Judge Vlahos provided Evans with an attorney to perform research. Despite Evans complaints,
thereis no indication that Tucker failed to satisfy reasonable requests by Evans. However, Evans
continued to demand that he personally be provided with accessto alaw library. Clearly, the tria
court was under no obligation to alow an inmate who was serving alife sentence for kidnapping,
facing trial for capital murder, and with a prior escape attempt to have unfettered accessto a law
library. With the appointment of Attorney Tucker, Evans right to meaningful access to the courts
was satisfied.

XXXI. WHETHER EVANS RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

1433. The second issue raised in Evans pro se brief is whether he recelved ineffective assistance of
counsel. Specifically, Evans argues that trial counsel was ineffective by admitting guilt during voir
dire proceedings. Defense counsel stated:

And if the defendant is found guilty of those charges, and | have been up front with you and
told you that he will be, the State must prove it, but that he will be found guilty of that charge
or of the substantive charge of killing Beatrice Routh. I've been up front with you.

After the State objected to counsdl's stipulation of guilt, defense counsel explained that he was sSimply
telling the jury up front that the State did have to meet its burden of proof, but they would reach the
sentencing phase. The record reflects that these types of statements were made throughout voir dire.

1434. Evans now claims that he was "shocked" by these admissions which "totally abolished the
defendant's right to presumption of innocence." Although Evans concedes that he agreed that such a
strategy would be used during the guilt-phase, he now argues that he did not agree that such
concessions would be made during voir dire. The record, however, reveals that Evans was present
during each statement and did not object.16) Evans did not object to these statements until the jury
had been selected and the trial court was about to adjourn to return to Harrison County.

11435. Moreover, this strategy was discussed in chambers while Evans was present. Prior to voir dire,



trial counsel stated, "I intend to tell the prospective jurors that we anticipate that we will not contest
the State's contention that our client killed Beatrice Routh while in the course of a kidnapping.”
Evans raised no objection. Moreover, during a recess and prior to the continuation of voir dire, all
parties were again present in chambers. Evans made no objection to the statements which had been
made.

1436. During voir dire of the first panel of potentia jurors, the following exchange took place:
MR. MARTIN: So you are automatic in your decision that if he's found guilty you will--
JUROR WILSON: He's already said he was guilty.

(Laughter)

1437. After the juror's remark, all parties again were present in chambers. Evans indicated that he
needed to make a telephone call concerning a potential witness and waived his right to be present
during the meeting. However, prior to Evans departure to make the phone call, the trial judge asked
if he had any problems regarding voir dire. Again, Evans made no objection.

1438. During voir dire of the second panel, the trial court denied Evans motion for individual voir
dire due to pre-tria publicity. Evans then raised an ineffective assistance of counsel claim aleging
that he was not aware that defense counsel was going to confess guilt to the venire. Evans argues
that this concession undermined the guilt/innocence phase of the trial and stated that he did not "see
how any juror sitting on that panel or those excused can come into this court and sit on that jury over
there and have an impartial attitude as to the guilt or innocence of this defendant. . . ."

1439. Evans later filed a motion to proceed pro se at the sentencing phase due to ineffective
assistance of counsel. Although Evans claimed counsel had been ineffective due to the failure to
adequately seek out mitigating evidence, Evans did not allege that counsel had been ineffective due to
the statements made during voir dire. Evans later withdrew this motion and agreed to proceed with
counsel during the sentencing phase. Evans a so indicated he wished to withdraw the ore tenus
motion made at the conclusion of voir dire wherein he claimed ineffective assistance of counsel
resulting from the concessions of guilt during voir dire.

1440. When evaluating claims of ineffective assistance of counsdl, this Court uses the standard set
forth in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). In Blue v. State, 674 So. 2d 1184, 1195
(Miss.1996), cert. denied, 117 S.Ct. 588 (1996), this Court held:

If an appellant isto be successful on his ineffective assistance of counsel claim, he must satisfy
the two-pronged test set forth in Strickland, and adopted by this Court in Stringer v. State, 454
S0. 2d 468 (1984). The appellant must prove (1) that counsel's performance was deficient, and
(2) that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense. Stringer, 454 So. 2d at 476. The
burden of proving both prongs of the test is on the defendant. 1d., McQuarter v. State, 574 So.
2d 685, 687 (Miss.1990). Furthermore, the defendant must show that there is a reasonable
probability that but for the errors, the outcome of the case would have been different. Nicolau
v. State, 612 So. 2d 1080, 1086 (Miss.1992); Ahmad v. State, 603 So. 2d 843, 848
(Miss.1992).



7441. In Faraga v. State, 514 So. 2d 295, 308 (Miss.1987), cert. denied, 487 U.S. 1210 (1988),
reh'g denied, 487 U.S. 1263 (1988), this Court held that an attorney should not concede his client's
guilt when that client had pled not guilty to the crime charged. However, this Court stated, "[w]hen
proof of certain factsis overwhelming, however, an attorney may find it strategically prudent to
concede such facts while till denying that his client is guilty of the crime charged in the indictment.”

I d. Further, this Court held that "[a]n attorney who, while sincerely trying to help his client, at the
same time is open and honest with the jury is more likely to receive a sympathetic and open ear in his
other arguments.” I d.

1442. In Faraga, this Court held that an attorney's admission that his client had been proven guilty of
murder but not capital murder, was "the product of atactical decison” and the "best argument that
could be made given the circumstances. . . ." 1d.

1443.1n Wiley v. State, 517 So. 2d 1373 (Miss.1987), cert. denied, 486 U.S. 1036 (1988), reh'g
denied, 487 U.S. 1246 (1988), this Court was confronted with statements similar to those in the case
sub judice. There, defense counsel stated during opening argument that "I feel fairly certain based on
the proof that the State is going to offer, that y'all are going to return a verdict of guilty. | think that
the State is going to bring forth evidence that's going to convince y'al beyond a reasonable doubt that
William Wiley did shoot Mr. Turner." 1d. at 1382.

71444. In Wiley, this Court held that such statements may have been tria strategy and again noted that
"candor at the guilt phase may help the defendant in the sentencing phase.. . . ." 1d. This Court
concluded that Wiley was not deprived of effective assistance of counsel.

11445. Statements made by defense counsel in the case sub judice are extremely similar to those
presented in Wiley. Here, trial strategy was to concede guilt and present evidence during the
sentencing phase in mitigation of the sentence. This strategy was clearly reasonable given the prior
ruling by the trial court that Evans confessions were admissible. Defense counsel explained to the
trial court that they were using this strategy because"we could not plead guilty” unless they wished to
waive severa issues for appellate review. From the record, it is apparent that the actions of defense
counsel were not deficient.

1446. Moreover, Evans cannot demonstrate prejudice as required by the second prong of the
Strickland andlysis. In United States v. Swanson, 943 F.2d 1070 (9th Cir.1991), the Court held that
prejudice is presumed when defense counsel argued that no reasonable doubt existed concerning the
defendant's guilt. In Swanson, the Court held that "counsel's confession lessened the government's
burden of proving guilt and caused a breakdown in the adversarial system such that the defendant
should not be required to show prejudice.” 1d. at 1073 (citations omitted).

11447. Unlike Swanson, defense counsel did not relieve the State of their burden of proof nor did
counsel concede that Evans was guilty of the crimes charged beyond a reasonable doubt. Rather,
counsel merely predicted that the jury would likely find Evans guilty based on the State's proof.
Prejudice is therefore not presumed.

7448. In Blue v. State, 674 So.2d 1184, 1198-99 (Miss.1996), cert. denied, 117 S.Ct. 588 (1996),
this Court held that where prejudice is not presumed, the appellant bore the "burden of proving that
there is a reasonable probability that the outcome of the case would have been different but for



counsdl's statements.” 1d. (citing Nicolaou v. State, 612 So. 2d at 1086; Ahmad v. State, 603 So. 2d
at 848.))

1449. There was overwhelming evidence of Evans guilt. The jury had before it three confessions
wherein Evans detailed the sexual assault, strangulation, and murder of Beatrice Louise Routh.
Moreover, the jury heard the testimony of Betty and Sherry Lynn Vincent, which identified Evans as
the person with whom Beatrice left Jones Park on August 1, 1991. In light of the evidence presented
at trial, there is no reasonable probability that the result of the trial would have been different but for
statements made by counsel during voir dire. This issue is without merit.

1450. In his pro se rebuttal brief, Evans, for the first time, argues that an actual conflict of interest
existed between himself and defense counsdl and therefore prejudice is presumed. Evans argues that
hisrefusal to consent to the trial strategy utilized by defense counsdl, i.e. the concession of guilt
during voir dire, gave rise to an actual conflict of interest which is demonstrated by the Motion for
Determination of the Role of Counsel filed by defense counsel.

1451. On July 23, 1993, defense counsel filed a Motion for a Determination of the Role of Counsel In
These Proceedings wherein defense counsel acknowledged that the trial court had advised Evans that
he would be allowed to participate in the trial. Counsel indicated that the " philosophy and tactics
followed and used by counsel and the Defendant herein are not congruous and, in fact, often oppose
one another.” As such, counsel sought guidance from the court as to the resolution of conflicts which
may arise during the course of the trial regarding such matters as the presentation of witnesses,
guestioning of witnesses, voir dire, and opening and closing statements.

1452. After close review of the motion, it is apparent that defense counsel sought guidance from the
trial court in the event that a conflict arose. Although it is evident that Evans and defense counsel did
not agree on every aspect of trial preparation, the motion does not compel the conclusion that
defense counsel labored under an actual conflict of interest which affected his representation of Evans
at tria. In Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 692 (1984), the Supreme Court held that
"prgjudice is presumed only if the defendant demonstrates that counsel "actively represented
conflicting interests and that an "actual conflict of interest adversely affected his lawyer's
performance.™ (quoting Cuyler v. Sullivan, 446 U.S. 335, 350 (1980)). Moreover, "the possibility of
conflict isinsufficient to impugn a criminal conviction on appea.” Wheat v. United States, 486 U.S.
153, 160 (1988).

1453. There is smply no evidence in this record to demonstrate that defense counsel did not function
in aloya and capable manner. As such, the mere possibility that Evans and defense counsel might
have had a "possible conflict" isinsufficient to impugn his conviction.

1454. The record reveals no order entered by the trial court in response to this motion nor does the
record indicate that a hearing on the motion was held. Evans, relying upon United Statesv. Greig,
967 F.2d 1018 (51 Cir. 1992), argues that the trial court erred by failing to conduct a hearing on this
motion in order to determine whether a conflict existed. However, in Cuyler v. Sullivan, 446 U.S.
335, 347 (1980), the Court held that atrial court is under no duty to inquire into conflict on its own.
"Unless atria court knows or reasonably should know that a particular conflict exists the court need
not initiate an inquiry." 1d. at 347. The motion filed by defense counsel simply requested guidance on
the procedures to be employed if an actual conflict between Evans and defense counsel arose.



Without more, the trial court was under no duty to conduct a hearing on this motion.

1455. Moreover, the burden lay with Evans and his defense counsel to obtain a ruling on this motion.
This Court has repeatedly held that "[i]t is the responsibility of the movant to obtain a ruling from the
court on motions. . . and failure to do so constitutes awaiver." Johnson v. State, 461 So.2d 1288,
1290 (Miss.1984); Minor v. State, 396 So.2d 1031 (Miss.1981); Martin v. State, 354 So.2d 1114
(Miss.1978); Conn v. State, 260 So.2d 471 (Miss.1972); Marr v. State, 248 Miss. 281, 159 So.2d
167 (1963); Grant v. Planter's Bank, 5 Miss. (4 How.) 326 (1840).

PROPORTIONALITY REVIEW

1456. Miss. Code Ann. 8 99-19-105 (3)(c) mandates that this Court "determine whether the sentence
of death is excessive or disproportionate to the penalty imposed in similar cases, considering both the
crime and the defendant.” If this Court determines the sentence to be disproportionate, this Court
may "set the sentence aside and remand the case for modification of the sentence to imprisonment for
life." Miss. Code Ann. 8 99-19-105 (5)(b).

1457. In Woodward v. State, 533 So.2d 418 (Miss.1988), cert. denied, 490 U.S. 1028, (1989), reh'g
denied, 490 U.S. 1117 (1989), vacated in part on other grounds, 635 So.2d 805 (Miss.1993), the
defendant was convicted of capital murder during the course of kidnapping, rape, and sexual battery.
There, Woodward kidnapped twenty-four year old Rhonda Crane after forcing her to stop her car on
a highway. Woodward raped Ms. Crane and forced her to perform oral sex. After sexually assaulting
Crane, Woodward murdered her with a single gunshot to the head.

1458. Like Woodward, Evans kidnapped, sexually assaulted, and murdered his victim. Evans,
however, chose to victimize aten-year old child who begged to be returned to her mother. After
refusing, Evans sexually assaulted Beatrice vaginally and anally. Testimony at trial detailed the
extreme pain these acts would cause a child to suffer. Evans then strangled Beatrice and dumped her
body in awooded area where it lay for nine days.

1459. From the evidence, the death penalty for Donald Leroy Evans does not appear to be
disproportionate or excessive when compared to other capital murder cases affirmed by this Court.

1460. 94-CA-00176-SCT- JUDGMENT AWARDING ATTORNEY FEES AND EXPENSES
AFFIRMED.

461. 93-DP-01173-SCT- CONVICTION OF CAPITAL MURDER AND SENTENCE OF
DEATH AFFIRMED. EXECUTION DATE TO BE SET WITHIN SIXTY DAY S OF FINAL
DISPOSI TION OF THIS CASE PURSUANT TO MISS, CODE ANN. § 99-19-105(7)(SUPP.
1995) AND M.R.A.P. 41(a).

PRATHER, P.J., PITTMAN, ROBERTSAND MILLS, JJ., CONCUR. BANKS, J., CONCURS
WITH SEPARATE WRITTEN OPINION JOINED BY LEE, C.J.,, AND SULLIVAN, P.J.
McRAE, J., NOT PARTICIPATING.



BANKS, JUSTICE, CONCURRING:

1462. | concur in the result reached by the mgjority. | write separately to note that as to Part 1X of
the mgjority opinion | do not agree with the mgority that federa convictions are not included within
the statutory bar of Miss. Code Ann. 8 99-11-27. In my view, it suffices for purposes of this case,
that the crime of kidnaping is not the same offense as that of capital murder and, therefore, the
statute does not apply here.

LEE, C.J.,, AND SULLIVAN, P.J., JOIN THIS OPINION.
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1. At the time of trial, Sherry Lynn Vincent had married and taken the surname of Wilson.

2. Initia appearances are now government by Uniform Circuit and County Court Rule 6.03. Rule
6.03 requires that "[e]very person in custody shall be taken, without unnecessary delay and within 48
hours of arrest, before ajudicia officer . . . for an initial appearance.”

3. Evans renewed motion for change of venue from Adams County was made orally during voir dire
proceedings and was not supported by affidavits as required by Miss. Code § 99-15-35. The tridl
court, therefore could have properly denied the motion based on non-compliance with this statute.

4. On May 1, 1995 the Uniform Rules of Circuit and County Court Practice were adopted. In the
current rules, mistrials are controlled by Rule 3.12. Evans, however, was tried during 1993.

5. This portion of voir dire remains under seal by the tria court.

6. Evans called Drs. Steven Hayne and LeRoy Riddick, not Dr. Zimmerman to testify as to autopsy
results.

7. Defendant Price is Joe Price, Sheriff of Harrison County.

8. The original indictment returned by the grand jury on October 15, 1991 listed Count | as Capital
Murder; Section 97-3-19 (2)(e), Miss Code of 1972, as amended; as a Habitual Offender, Section 99-
19-81, Miss. Code of 1972, as amended. The indictment contained the following language:

"did then and there wilfully, unlawfully, felonioudy, and without any design to effect death, kill and
murder Beatrice Louise Routh, a human being, while in the commission of the crime and felony of
kidnapping, as defined by Section 97-3-53, Miss. Code of 1972, as amended, contrary to the form of
the statute in such cases made and provided, and against the peace and dignity of the State of
Mississippi.” (emphasis added).

9. Without the amendment, the jury could have found (1) that Evans actually killed the victim; or (2)
that Evans contemplated lethal force. Miss. Code Ann. § 99-19-101(7).

10. At the time of this conviction, Evans alias was Jason Michael McGowan.

11. Maggio was instructed by the trial judge to omit any reference to the fact that he was appointed
in conjunction with federal proceedings.

12. The Texas capital sentencing scheme required that a jury affirmatively find three questions on
which the State had the burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt. One of the three critical issuesis
"whether there is a probability that the defendant would commit criminal acts of violence that would
constitute a continuing threat to society." Estelle, 451 U.S. at 458.

13. Formerly known as the Uniform Criminal Rules of Circuit Court Practice, the rules are now



designated as the Uniform Rules of Circuit and County Court Practice. Rule 5.03 is now Rule 3.07.
14. The total cost reflected in the Application contains an addition error and has been corrected.

15. Thetrial court took judicial notice that the actua overhead expenses of practicing law in
Mississippi has increased since 1987. Using the Consumer Price Index, the trial judge "updated” 1987
dollars to 1993 dollars and thus utilized a per hour overhead presumption of $ 32.10.

16. Throughout voir dire, Evans raised numerous other objections before the trial court.



